
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Notice of Council 
 

Date:  Thursday, 22 July 2021 

Time:  6.00 pm 

Venue:  Main Room - The Cambridge Corn Exchange, 2 Wheeler Street, 
Cambridge, CB2 3QB 

Contact:  democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Dear Councillor,  
 
A meeting of Cambridge City Council will be held in the Main Room - The 
Cambridge Corn Exchange, 2 Wheeler Street, Cambridge, CB2 3QB on 
Thursday, 22 July 2021 at 6.00 pm and I hereby summon you to attend. 
 
Dated 14 July 2021 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

Robert Pollock 
 

Chief Executive 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Minutes (Pages 13 - 50) 

2    Mayor's announcements  

3    Public questions time  

4    To consider the recommendations of the Executive 
for adoption  

4a    2020/21 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry 
Forwards and Significant Variances – Housing 
Revenue Account (Executive Councillor for Strategy 
and External Partnerships)  (Pages 51 - 74) 

4b    Annual Treasury Management (Outturn) Report 
2020/21 (Executive Councillor for Finance & 
Resources)  (Pages 75 - 98) 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

4c    2020/21 General Fund Revenue and Capital 
Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant Variances 
(Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources)  

(Pages 99 - 
154) 

5    To deal with oral questions  

6    To consider the following notices of motion, notice of 
which has been given by:  

6a    Councillor Collis: The Glasgow Food and Climate 
Declaration   

 The UN Environment Programme Food Waste Index Report (2021) 
highlighted the extent and environmental impacts of food waste, 
noting that if food waste were a country it would be the third biggest 
source of greenhouse gas emissions. This makes it a major factor in 
‘the three planetary crises of climate change, nature and biodiversity 
loss, and pollution and waste’ (p.4). It is also behind UN Sustainable 
Development Goal 12.3, which aims to halve food waste and reduce 
food loss by 2030. 
 
With the next major climate negotiations, COP26, due to begin in 
Glasgow later this year and with food waste still nowhere on the 
agenda, we have – collectively – a unique opportunity to put pressure 
on governments to address this issue. Without tackling food waste at 
international, national, regional and local levels, we won’t be able to 
meet key climate goals. 
 
In the UK, initiatives such as WRAP’s Courtauld Commitment 2025, 
which is a voluntary commitment between participating retailers, 
farmers and growers, food manufacturers and hospitality businesses, 
across ten years to meet three targets; 

- a 20% per person reduction in food and drink waste associated 
with production and consumption of food and drink in the UK, 
post farm gate 

- a reduction in impact associated with water use and water stress 
in the supply chain 

- a 20% per person reduction in the greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions associated with production and consumption of food 
and drink in the UK 

 
While initiatives such as the Courtauld Commitment aim to make 
positive changes, we also urgently need coordinated action at national 
government level.  
 
Launched in December 2020, the Glasgow Food and Climate 

https://www.unep.org/resources/report/unep-food-waste-index-report-2021
https://wrap.org.uk/taking-action/food-drink/initiatives/courtauld-commitment
https://2ae0ff20-d9c8-4e34-a427-95229c7e180c.filesusr.com/ugd/31f564_844a2e58e94a439cab38beb97fe114fd.pdf


 

 
iii 

Declaration brings together ‘all types and sizes of local authorities – 
from small and medium sized towns to mega-cities, districts and 
regions, territories, federal states and provinces – to speak with a 
unified voice in renewing their commitments to develop sustainable 
food policies, promote mechanisms for joined-up action and call on 
national governments to put food and farming at the heart of the 
global response to the climate emergency.’. It is only by speaking with 
this ‘unified voice’ that we can put pressure on global decision makers 
to act now, before it is too late.     
 
Council therefore recognises; 

- the connection between environmental and social justice 
- the environmental devastation caused by the current food 

system, that results in one-third of all food that is produced 
globally being wasted before it even reaches the table. 

- that we have already taken a number of measures locally to 
address the issue of food waste including the adoption of a 
sustainable food policy (2018), our ongoing work with 
Cambridge Sustainable Food including the city’s recent award of 
Silver Sustainable Food Place status, including a specific 
objective on sustainable food in our new climate change 
strategy and trialling food waste collections in parts of the city. 

- that, as a district council, our capacity to ‘to assess GHG 
emissions reduction targets from food systems’ and directly 
achieve those reductions (Glasgow Declaration points 14 and 
15) is inevitably limited. 

- the importance and potential of a working with other authorities, 
including the Combined Authority and County Council, to 
address food waste and sustainability at a local level.  

 
Council resolves to; 

- reaffirm our commitment to developing and implementing our 
own sustainable food policy, and to explore potential ways in 
which we can work with neighbouring authorities 

- add the voices of the people of Cambridge to these calls for 
action by writing to Alok Sharma MP, president of the COP26 
summit, calling for food waste and food systems to be put on the 
agenda. 

- make Cambridge the first district council in the UK to sign up to 
the principles in the Glasgow Food and Climate Declaration and 
put pressure on national government to  

o address the environmental impact of food waste 
o recognise the fragility of our food systems, that has been 

highlighted under COVID-19 and shown, for example, by 

https://2ae0ff20-d9c8-4e34-a427-95229c7e180c.filesusr.com/ugd/31f564_844a2e58e94a439cab38beb97fe114fd.pdf


 

 
iv 

the demand on the city’s food hubs. 
o implement a food systems approach to accelerate climate 

action (and also to promote biodiversity and access to 
healthy and sustainable diets for all, among other co-
benefits). 

6b    Councillor Healy: Motion on Policing Bill   

 This council notes: 

 The right to peaceful assembly and protest is a fundamental human 
right and a crucial part of our democratic society. The Police, 
Crime, Sentencing and Courts Bill (hereinafter “PCSC bill”) 
undermines that right and represents a significant impingement on 
civil liberties. Additionally, the PCSC bill specifically targets Gypsy 
and Traveller communities, effectively criminalising their way of life. 

 The provisions in part 3, concerning the right to protest and 
assemble, represent an unprecedented extension of policing 
powers which would effectively give both police and Government 
ministers the powers to ban or impose undue restrictions on 
peaceful protests, which interferes with the right to peaceful 
assembly, enshrined in international law. Many measures are 
neither proportionate nor necessary. The Bill also sets out to 
crackdown on explicitly nonviolent dissent - a form of protest which 
is clearly protected by the rights to freedom of expression and 
peaceful assembly. There is a huge risk of abuse of powers under 
the bill as it gives the Home Secretary unfettered power, to define 
“serious disruption” without parliamentary approval.  

 The current version of the bill would also allow police to restrict 
static assemblies and vigils, rather than just moving 
demonstrations. A picket line outside a workplace, a sit-down 
protest or a solidarity vigil (like so many peaceful vigils held in 
Parker’s Piece) could all be limited or banned if they are deemed to 
have an undue “impact” upon people. The whole point of 
demonstrations is to have an impact. If we think of some of the key 
moments in civil rights history, where change happened, it was 
through protests such as the civil rights movement in the US, the 
suffragette’s movement in the UK or the women’s strike in 
Dagenham factories which led to the equal pay act for women in 
the UK. 

 The change in criminal threshold significantly lowers the standard 
to find someone guilty of a serious offence and the provisions are 
open to such wide-ranging and discretionary interpretation that they 
would almost certainly give rise to even more arbitrary and 
discriminatory approaches to how protests are managed. This may 
disproportionately impact on ethnic minority groups, who already 



 

 
v 

experience disproportionality in the criminal justice system. The 
PCSC Bill also includes greater police powers to enhance stop and 
search– a tactic already used disproportionately against people of 
colour. The structural inequalities in the criminal justice system 
need to be addressed first, not exacerbated. 

 It is a really serious criminal offence which includes fine up to 
£10,000 and 10 years in prison for causing “serious annoyance” for 
taking part in a noisy protest. There will be a huge deterrent effect 
in terms of participating in protests or vigils as a result of the 
potential to be imprisoned for lengthy periods of time. Amnesty 
International has warned about the possibility of this leading to 
prisoners of conscience in this country, as a result of the bill, with 
people locked up for years for engaging in peaceful protests. The 
sort of thing we see in dictator regimes in other parts of the world. 

 Part 4 of the Bill contains measures specifically targeting Gypsy 
and Traveller communities, who are some of the most 
discriminated against and marginalised minority ethnic 
communities in UK society. Yet the new PCSCB Bill further targets 
them by criminalising trespass to land. These measures will further 
exacerbate inequalities and discrimination, pushing these groups 
into the criminal justice system as Gypsies and Travellers unable to 
pay a fine (£2500) could be imprisoned (three months).  

 No family willingly stops somewhere they are not welcome, with no 
running water, waste disposal or electricity, and the way to resolve 
this is not by criminalising GRT families or by introducing anti-
encampment landscaping in open spaces.,. The existence of 
encampments needs to be understood not only in terms of the age-
old cultural traditions of Gypsies and Travellers, but in terms of the 
historic failure of government to properly meet their 
accommodation needs. The proposals are being put forward 
despite the existence of a range of other eviction powers for 
encampments, and despite alternative solutions such as negotiated 
stopping agreements.  

 The new provisions also allow authorities to seize property and 
caravans, which effectively amounts to seizing their homes and all 
their worldly possessions. The measure is clearly discriminatory 
and disproportionate. The consequences of these measures will be 
devastating for Gypsy and Traveller families – suddenly without a 
home or possessions and with the lead family member thrown into 
the criminal justice system. This will also have implications for 
Gypsy and Traveller families with children in Cambridgeshire, who 
may be at risk of entering the care system. 

 
This Council resolves to: 



 

 
vi 

 

 Express strong concerns about the provisions in Part 3 and Part 4 
of the PCSCB Bill, which will have a significant impact on the UK 
Government’s adherence to its international and domestic human 
rights obligations and which will also affect relations and trust in 
Cambridge with Gypsy and Traveller communities. 

 Stand in solidarity with Traveller and Gypsy communities in 
Cambridge and continue to build trust and good relations with 
them. 

 Write to the Home Secretary to express strong concerns about the 
provisions in the PCSCB bill which impact on civil liberties including 
the right to protest and peaceful assembly and in relation to the 
provisions targeting Gypsy and Traveller communities. 

 Continue to work with neighbouring local authorities in 
Cambridgeshire to find solutions where it is found that there is a 
lack of legal sites and stopping places for GRT communities. 

 Identify opportunities to work with the police to find best practice 
solutions to supporting Gypsy and Traveller communities when no 
legal site places are available and to enable them to move to safe 
stopping places. 

6c    Councillor Porrer: Pesticide-free Motion   

 Council notes: 
 
That it unanimously voted in favour of declaring a Biodiversity 
Emergency on 18th July 2019; 
 
That this included reducing and removing the need to use pesticides 
on highway footpaths and verges, and to find viable and effective 
alternatives; 
 
That the recent Biodiversity strategy focusses on open spaces but 
excludes roads, pavements and infrastructure which are still being 
treated with pesticides by council staff; 
 
That with the changed control of the County Council, there is real 
opportunity to stop day to day pesticide use for weed management 
across our city within the next year. 
 
Council resolves: 
 
To commit to making two wards completely pesticide-free from now on 
as a trial, and making the relevant ward residents aware of this trial; 
 



 

 
vii 

In order to do this, to commit to purchasing or hiring brush cleaning 
equipment to use in the pesticide free wards (and others where 
possible) with active involvement of Pesticide Free Cambridge 
representatives and frontline council staff to select the product, prior to 
the next planned round of treatments in 2021;   
 
To report back to the Environment and Community Scrutiny 
Committee on the differences between the pesticide-free wards and 
those wards that are not pesticide-free, and on the use of the brush 
equipment before the start of the 2022 cycle of treatments. This would 
include information about operative time and savings or costs made, 
feedback from residents and operatives, and the level of any 
complaints or compliments; 
 

To commit to publishing the planned dates of pesticide treatments by 
road/ward for the remainder of 2021 and thereafter on the council’s 
website, allowing residents to find out when a treatment is planned.  
This is because it can take several days before it is clear that a 
pesticide treatment has been applied and residents need to be 
informed so that they can choose to avoid the area and to keep 
children and animals in particular away from the treatment sites; 
 

To commit, in addition to the online listings, to displaying signage in 
situ on the relevant roads and pavements with dates of any herbicide 
treatments from 2022 onwards. 
 
To commit to publishing the amount of pesticide used each month and 
the cost to the council; 
 
To commit officer time to working with community groups who may 
wish to volunteer to clear their street spaces to avoid pesticide use; 
 
To commit to making Cambridge City Council pesticide free by the end 
of 2022. 
 

To publish a regular six monthly update to the Environment and 
Community Scrutiny Committee on any exceptional usage of pesticide 
(for example for Japanese Knotweed) and to establish a clear protocol 
for any such usage, ensuring that the least harmful options are 
selected, including sign off by a senior manager before any use is 
permitted. 
 

To commit to sharing the data on our trials with other councils 
considering similar trials and allowing an exchange of information (and 



 

 
viii 

visits if possible) for council staff  to showcase and share Cambridge 
City Council’s learning. 

6d    Councillor Bick: Winter Opening of Jesus Green Lido   

 Noting the increased participation in outdoor swimming which has 
accelerated during the pandemic, and its recognised beneficial impact 
on wellbeing and mental health, council calls on the Executive 
Councillor for Communities to bring forward options for winter opening 
of Jesus Green Lido in consultation with GLL and the Friends of the 
Lido. 

6e    Councillor Copley: Climate Change Task Force   

 This Council resolves to:  
 

 Add our voice to calls for a joint local & national government 
Task Force to plan action to reach ‘net zero’ emissions.  

 Write to Alok Sharma MP, President for COP26, the Prime 
Minister and the Leadership Board of the LGA informing them of 
our support for a joint Local/National Government Climate 
Change Partnership Taskforce and asking for one to be 
established as soon as possible.  

 
Notes on the motion 
 
1 Cambridge City Council’s Climate Change Strategy has an 

ambitious vision for Cambridge to achieve net zero carbon 
status by 2030. 

2 This requires the co-operation of our national government, 
industry and regulators. 

3 In 2018, at COP24, our national government made a 
commitment to having ‘domestic institutional arrangements, 
public participation and engagement with local communities’ so 
localities can play their part in delivering the UKs ‘Nationally 
Determined Contributions’ in the Paris Climate Agreement. 

4 In May 2021 Alok Sharma MP, President of COP26 re-iterated 
this commitment; 
 

"Governments, business and civil society (sometimes called 
‘non-state actors’ and including local government) need to 
work together to transform the ways we power our homes 
and businesses, grow our food, develop infrastructure and 
move ourselves and goods around"  

 



 

 
ix 

5 The Local Government Association, the Association of Directors 
of Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport and other 
organisations have called for a joint local & national government 
Task Force to plan action to reach net zero emissions 

6 Despite these agreements and statements, no action has been 
taken to set up any formal structure for such a partnership 
between local and national government. 

7 Such a partnership can set appropriate regulations, benchmarks 
and targets and create robust long-term funding mechanisms.  
This is essential if local communities and economies are 
to decarbonise whilst remaining resilient and sustainable.  

8 The Covid-19 pandemic has showed how important local action 
is and how rapidly local authorities can respond to major 
challenges, provided that they are fully supported by our 
national government. 

9 Without such support, this council’s vision to achieve net zero 
carbon by 2030 is unlikely to be achieved. 

6f    Councillor Flaubert: A 'Developers' Charter'   

 Council awaits the government’s response to the recent consultation 
on its white paper “Planning for the Future” and notes the widespread 
objections amongst communities locally and nationally about the 
direction of the proposals, including through our own detailed Greater 
Cambridge representation. 
 
We share concerns about the pace of national delivery of new homes, 
but we do not believe the solution lies in robbing local government of 
its role in shaping development in its area with input from local 
residents, both through local plan-making and the ongoing 
management of planning applications. In this Cambridge has 
demonstrated considerable success over many years. 
 
We see the proposed removal of the democratically accountable and 
transparent process for approving planning applications, in favour of 
new zoning plans granting automatic permission, as a ‘developer’s 
charter’. We regard this as seriously harming the chances of achieving 
local support for development and of integrating new homes and 
communities successfully. In particular we call for the protection of 
residents’ rights to have their objections to individual planning 
applications properly considered before decisions are made. 
 
The potential changes come on top of the government’s recent 
expansion of ‘permitted development’ which this council has 
separately opposed, which enables significant changes of use of 



 

 
x 

existing buildings without planning approval, irrespective of plans and 
prevailing standards for their wider areas.  
 
Council calls on the government to pull back from its White Paper 
proposals and focus instead on refreshing powers of responsible local 
democratic decision-making and exploring ways of encouraging timely 
completion of projects for which developers have already gained 
consent.  We request the Chief Executive to communicate this motion 
to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government and to 
the MPs who represent the Greater Cambridge area, calling on them 
for their support.               

7    Written questions  

 No discussion will take place on this item. Members will be asked to 
note the written questions and answers document as circulated 
around the Chamber. 
  

 



 

 
xi 

 
 

Information for the public 

The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public.  

For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 

 
Public health and well-being for meeting arrangements 

 
Whilst the situation with COVID-19 is on-going, the Council will be following 
the latest Government guidance in organising and holding its meetings. 
 
We would encourage you to maintain social distancing and to wear your face 
covering unless you are exempt or when speaking at the meeting.  Hand 
sanitiser will be available on entry to the meeting. 
 
If members of the public wish to address the committee please contact 
Democratic Services democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two 
working days before the meeting. 
 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Council Cnl/1 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

1 

COUNCIL 27 May 2021 
 11.00 am - 2.00 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Ashton, D. Baigent, S. Baigent, Bennett, Bick, Bird, 
Bond, Collis, Copley, Cox, Dalzell, Davey, H. Davies, S. Davies, Dryden, 
Flaubert, Wood, Gehring, Gilderdale, Hauk, Healy, Herbert, Lee, McPherson, 
Moore, Nethsingha, O'Reilly, Page-Croft, Porrer, Pounds, Robertson, Scutt, 
Sheil, Smart, S. Smith, Sweeney and Thornburrow 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

21/12/CNL To elect a Mayor for the Municipal Year 2021/22 
 
Councillor Thornburrow proposed and Councillor Porrer seconded the 
nomination of Councillor Russ McPherson as Mayor for the Municipal Year 
2021/22. 
 
Resolved (unanimously) that: 
 
Councillor Russ McPherson be elected for the Municipal Year 2021/22. 
 
Councillor Russ McPherson then made the statutory declaration of acceptance 
for the Office of Mayor. 

21/13/CNL To elect a Deputy Mayor for the Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

Councillor Herbert proposed and Councillor Page-Croft seconded the 

nomination of Councillor Mark Ashton as Deputy Mayor for the Municipal Year 

2021/22. 

  

Resolved (unanimously) that:  

 

Councillor Mark Ashton be elected Deputy Mayor for the Municipal Year 

2021/22. 

  

Councillor Mark Ashton then made the statutory declaration of acceptance for 

the Office of Deputy Mayor. 

Public Document Pack

Page 13

Agenda Item 1



Council Cnl/2 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

2 

21/14/CNL To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 25 February and 1 March 2021 
 
The minutes of 25 February and 1 March 2021 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Mayor. 

21/15/CNL To note the Returning Officer's Report that the following have 
been elected to the office of Councillor 
 
It was noted the following had been elected to the Office of Councillor: 
 
Abbey 
• Naomi Bennett 
• Hannah Copley 
• Haf Davies 
 
Arbury 
• Carina O’Reilly 
• Patrick Sheil 
• Mike Todd-Jones 
 
Castle 
• Sarah Baigent 
• Cheney Payne 
• Simon Smith 
 
Cherry Hinton 
• Mark Ashton 
• Robert Dryden 
• Russ McPherson 
 
Coleridge 
• Lewis Herbert 
• Rosy Moore 
• Anna Smith 
 
East Chesterton 
• Gerri Bird 
• Michael Bond 
• Carla McQueen 
 
King’s Hedges 

Page 14



Council Cnl/3 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

3 

• Alex Collis 
• Jenny Gawthrope Wood 
• Martin Smart 
 
Market 
• Tim Bick 
• Alice Gilderdale 
• Katie Porrer 
 
Newnham 
• Markus Gehring 
• Lucy Nethsingha 
• Niamh Sweeney 
 
Petersfield 
• Mike Davey 
• Richard Robertson 
• Katie Thornburrow 
 
Queen Edith’s 
• Sam Davies 
• Daniel Lee 
• Jennifer Page-Croft 
 
Romsey 
• Dave Baigent 
• Mairéad Healy 
• Dinah Pounds 
 
Trumpington 
• Alan Cox 
• Ingrid Flaubert 
• Olaf Hauk 
 
West Chesterton 
• Jamie Dalzell 
• Mike Sargeant 
• Jocelynne Scutt 

21/16/CNL Mayor's announcements 
 

Page 15



Council Cnl/4 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

4 

Apologies were received from Councillors A. Smith, McQueen, Payne, Todd-
Jones and Sargeant. 
 
The Council noted the appointment of Karin Voth Harman from St Andrews 
Church, Cherry Hinton as the Mayor’s Chaplain for the Municipal Year 
2021/22. 
 
The Council noted the appointment of Corporal Georgia Pescod, Corporal Matt 
Sayers & Marine Cadet, Max Loubell as the Mayors’s Cadets for the Municipal 
Year 2021/22. 

21/17/CNL To elect from among the Members of the Council four bailiffs 
of the City for the Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

Resolved (unanimously) to: 

  

Appoint Councillors Dryden, Pounds, Gehring and Page-Croft Bailiffs of the 

City for the Municipal Year 2021/22. 
 

21/18/CNL To consider the recommendations of the Executive for 
adoption 

7o Council Appointments to the Conservators of the River Cam (Executive 
Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community Wellbeing) 

Resolved (unanimously) to: 

  

Appoint Councillors Thornburrow and Cox to the Conservators of the River 

Cam and to note the continuation of the appointment of Councillor Sargeant. 

21/19/CNL To elect a Leader 
 

On the nomination of Councillor Thornburrow and seconded by Councillor 

Smart it was 

 

Resolved to: 

  

Elect Councillor Lewis Herbert as Leader of Cambridge City Council.  

21/20/CNL To consider the recommendations of Committees for 
adoption 

Page 16



Council Cnl/5 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

5 

9a Civic Affairs: Nominations for Committees for the Municipal Year 2021/22 
Resolved (unanimously) to: 
 
To agree the number and size of committees and to note the nominations 
listed below (as updated in the Information Pack): 
 
Ordinary Committees 
 
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee   
(6 Labour + 3 Lib Dem + 1 Green and Independent) 
 
H. Davies, Healy, S. Baigent, Sweeney, O’Reilly, Sheil 
 
Payne, Hauk, Porrer 
 
Copley 
 
Alternates – Ashton, Gilderdale, Bond, S.Davies 
 
Planning and Transport Scrutiny Committee   
(6 Labour + 3 Lib Dem + 1 Green and Independent) 
 
D. Baigent, S. Smith, Scutt, Gawthrope Wood, Pounds, Sargeant 
 
Bick, Bond, Page-Croft 
 
S. Davies 
 
Alternates – Bird, O’Reilly, Porrer, Bennett 
 
Housing Scrutiny Committee   
(6 Labour + 2 Lib Dem + 1 Green and Independent) 
 
Bird, Sheil, Gawthrope Wood, Robertson, Gilderdale, Pounds  
 
Dalzell, Lee 
 
Bennett 
 
Alternates – Sweeney, Sargeant, Page-Croft, Copley 
 
Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee   

Page 17



Council Cnl/6 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

6 

(4 Labour + 2 Lib Dem) 
 
Robertson, H. Davies, Healy, S. Smith 
 
Bick, Dalzell 
 
Alternates – O’Reilly, Scutt, Payne 
 
Civic Affairs Committee  
(4 Labour + 2 Lib Dem) 
 
Sargeant, Davey, O’Reilly, Dryden 
 
Gehring, Flaubert 
 
Alternate – Moore, Dalzell 
 
Employment (Senior Officer) Committee   
(4 Labour +2 Lib Dem)  
 
Herbert, Moore, A.Smith, Collis 
 
Bick, Porrer 
 
Alternates: S.Baigent 
 
Licensing Committee   
6 Labour + 3 Lib Dem + 1 Green and Independent) 
 
Bird, McPherson, McQueen, Dryden, Moore, Collis 
 
Bond, Cox, Page-Croft 
 
Bennett 
 
Alternates – Scutt, Flaubert 
 
Planning Committee  
(5 Labour+ 2 Lib Dem) 
 
Smart, D. Baigent, Thornburrow, Gawthrope Wood, Dryden 
 

Page 18



Council Cnl/7 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

7 

Porrer, Flaubert 
 
Alternates – Herbert, McQueen, Page-Croft 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority  
 
Herbert 
 
Alternate - Smart 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  
 
Davey, D. Baigent 
 
Alternates – Moore 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Audit and Governance Committee  
 
Sargeant 
 
Alternate – Moore 
 
Greater Cambridge Partnership Joint Assembly   
(2 Labour + 1 Lib Dem) 
 
S. Smith, Moore  
 
Bick 
 
Joint Development Control Committee - Cambridge Fringes  
(4 Labour+ 2 Lib Dem)  
 
Smart, D. Baigent, S. Smith, Thornburrow 
 
Porrer, Page-Croft 
 
Alternates – Scutt, Gawthrope Wood, Flaubert, Bond 
 
 
 

9b Civic Affairs: Nominations for Chairs and Vice-Chairs Municipal 2021/22 

Page 19



Council Cnl/8 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

8 

Resolved (unanimously) to: 
 
Approve the nominations for Chairs and Vice Chairs as below: 
 
Environment and Community Services 
Chair – H. Davies 
Vice-Chair – Healy 
 
Planning and Transport 
Chair – D. Baigent 
Vice-Chair – S.Smith 
 
Housing 
Chair – Bird 
Vice-Chair Sheil (nb. Tenant/Leaseholder is Chair of Part 1 of the meeting) 
 
Strategy and Resources  
Chair – Robertson 
Vice-Chair H. Davies  
 
Civic Affairs 
Chair – Sargeant 
Vice-Chair – Davey 
 
Licensing 
Chair – Bird 
Vice-Chair – McPherson 
 
Planning 
Chair – Smart 
Vice-Chair – D. Baigent 
 
Joint Development Control Committee 
Vice-Chair – Smart (South Cambridgeshire District Council has the Chair this 
year 

21/21/CNL Annual Statements 
 
Councillor Herbert gave an oral Annual Statement on the Labour Group’s 
priorities for the forthcoming Municipal Year. 
 

Page 20



Council Cnl/9 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

9 

Councillor Bick gave an oral Annual Statement on the Liberal Democrat 
Group’s priorities for the forthcoming Municipal Year. 
 
Councillor Bennett gave an oral Annual Statement on the Green and 
Independent Group’s priorities for the forthcoming Municipal Year, their Annual 
Statement was also appended to the Information Pack. 

21/22/CNL Public questions time 
 
Question 1 
 
The new Mayor proposes to scrap CAM and call for a review of CSET. A 
report published in March 2021 by expert consultants i-Transport, 
commissioned by Stapleford and Gt Shelford Parish Councils and supported 
by local crowdfunding, affirms this strategy. It produced significant evidence of 
CSET's poor value-for-money compared with an alternative route along the 
existing railway corridor, which would connect our communities rather than 
bypass them and avoid destroying a swathe of our local greenbelt. Moreover, 
a tarmac road is carbon-intensive, as is the 2,000-space carpark needed at 
Babraham to support CSET. The latter will undermine local bus services by 
attracting people into their cars.  

Given Cambridge City Council’s stated support for doubling nature and 
preserving green spaces as part of its sustainability strategy for climate 
change, and the recent Cambridge Nature Network with its emphasis on the 
Magog hills, what conditions will need to be met for it to support a review of 
CSET in its role on the Executive Board of the GCP?’ 

Response 

The Executive Councillor noted that the same question had been asked at 
South Cambridgeshire District Council’s Annual Meeting. They had a keen 
interest in sustainable transport and had looked at the values of the reasons 
for an off-road routes to the south east of the City. Noted resident’s felt there 
was a route which could go through the centre of Great Shelford however felt 
that there was no easy solution. Felt that the route proposed from Biomedical 
Campus to Babraham was the right route. 

Question 2 

The Council should be applauded for investing in the fabric and infrastructure 
of Cambridge's Central Market Square.  But the process so far has failed to 
involve meaningfully either Market Traders or the shoppers at the Market – on 
whom the Traders' livelihoods depend.  

Page 21



Council Cnl/10 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

10 

The content and wording of the online survey questions reveal flawed, closed 
and narrow thinking. Public views on the proposals cannot be fairly 
ascertained when basic principles of good survey design are breached again 
and again. This skewed survey: 

 - contains errors (Q8 & Q9); 

 - fails to offer a balanced or sensible range of responses (Q10, Q15, Q16);  

 - uses shamefully leading / biased wording (Q11); 

 - offers inadequate space/scope for a sensible reply (Q14, Q18); 

 - states the Project’s pre-existing "aim" and "intention" (intro & Q17). 

The result is not to consult but to insult the public.  

QUESTION PART A): How can this be a meaningful consultation if the 
Project’s aim & intention has already been established?  

QUESTION PART B): What rights/privileges has the Council allowed versus 
restrictions imposed on US-owned ‘Survey Monkey’ regarding Survey 
Monkey’s use of data harvested from the sensitive demographic Qs 19-32 (on 
mental & physical health, ethnicity, religion, sexuality, disabilities etc.)?  

QUESTION PART C): At the 25/3/21 Environment & Community Scrutiny 
Committee, in response to questions from both the CMTA and a Market Ward 
Councillor, the responsible  Executive Councillor indicated unambiguously that 
the crucially important prototype ‘demountable' stalls "will be available during 
the consultation" on the Market Square. Cllr Porrer noted this as "a critical 
issue”. Where are they?  

QUESTION PART D): Will the Council agree that this badly written and badly 
timed survey must now be withdrawn, rewritten, and reissued only once the 
crucial ‘prototype stalls’ are available to be fairly assessed by Traders and the 
public on the Market Square? 

Response 

The Executive Councillor responded that the Council was seeking public views 
on a proposed Vision and Concept Design, approved for public consultation at 
the Council’s Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee on 25th March 
2021.   
 
The public consultation was designed to be open, meaningful and based on 
the resolution passed at the March Committee. Had committed to present the 
results, including any recommended changes to the proposed Vision and 

Page 22



Council Cnl/11 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

11 

Concept Design, back to Scrutiny Committee in October 2021.  Based on the 
March Committee resolution, had committed not to start on the next stage of 
the project (ie. detailed design) until the results of the consultation had been 
considered by Committee and a resolution to proceed was passed. 
 
The consultation questionnaire used closed questions to aid effective analysis 
of responses, whilst also providing open question opportunities, through the 
inclusion of ‘other comments’ response options for participants to be able to 
add their own views, in their own words.  Closed questions required 
participants to respond to specific pre-set response answer options, thereby 
enabling the collection and analysis of quantitative data; while open questions 
enabled the collection and analysis of qualitative data.  The Executive 
Councillor felt the questionnaire provided a reasonable and fair balance 
between open and closed questions and associated quantitative and 
qualitative data analysis.   
 
The Council used the free online survey service provided by Survey Monkey 
as a highly effective stakeholder consultation and engagement tool.   
 
The questionnaire survey had been designed so that the respondent’s identity 
was anonymised.   
 
The inclusion of the demographic data questions was to enable the Council to 
assess how representative the response profile was of the wider community 
and to ensure the Council fulfilled its public sector Equality Duty. 
 
The Council was in the process of developing a demountable market stall trial 
specification, market trader input would be sought before issuing to the stall 
supplier market to respond to.  The selected stall design options would be 
based on the results of the market testing.   
 
Had reviewed progressing the trial of the two prototype design options, 
included in the proposed Concept Design report. Had decided it would be 
prudent to first ‘test’ the available supplier market; and then subject to the 
outcome, to proceed with commissioning the prototypes.  Clearly the prototype 
option involved a design which was undeveloped, untested and therefore 
significantly more risky and costly, than going with an existing stall design 
product.   
 
Market traders would be involved in the stall selection and associated two 
stage trial process.  The first stage in the proves would be done at Cowley 
Road Depot, with the aim of using the results to identify a preferred design (or 

Page 23



Council Cnl/12 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

12 

designs if no clear ‘winner’) which would then be trialled in a ‘live’ market 
situation on the market square. 
 
Although the stall design trial was not likely to commence until after the 6 week 
online public consultation period had ended, they had committed to including 
the results of the trial, with the wider public consultation results to Scrutiny 
Committee in October 2021.   

Question 3 

How are the public supposed to reasonably respond to the Council’s current 
consultation on the future of the market when the actual design for the market 
stalls has yet to be agreed? Understood the Council was now seeking further 
prototype designs from new (multiple) designers although this was not 
referenced in their own document. 

Should the Council not delay the consultation until the stall design has been 
agreed in order that people can comment in a fully informed way? And, if the 
answer to this is “no” then why? 

Response 

The Executive Councillor responded that the Council was committed to 
continuing with the 6 weeks public consultation using the online survey as 
planned; and to running a separate stall design options trial engagement and 
consultation process, focused on market traders but also involving the wider 
public over the remainder of the summer and through the winter of 2021.   
 
The aim was to report back on the results of the summer stall design trial, 
along with the responses to the 6 weeks public consultation survey; and any 
recommended changes arising to the proposed Vision and Concept Design to 
the October 2021 Scrutiny Committee.  
 
At this stage the consultation was being undertaken to obtain public views on 
proposed high level, concept design principles and proposals; and not detailed 
design or operational management considerations.  The aim of the current 
consultation was to establish whether or not there was public support for the 
proposed multi-functional use of the space and associated infrastructure 
design improvements including improved market layout, restoration of the 
granite setts and unified surfacing treatment, increased outdoor seating space, 
new underground market waste management system.   
 
Should the consultation results show there was insufficient support for evening 
and night-time use of the space or there were no viable suitable demountable 

Page 24



Council Cnl/13 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

13 

market stall options available, they remained committed to delivering on the 
other remaining aspects of the proposed Vision and Concept Design. 
 
The market and market square needed investment. The flooring, bins, 
electrics, lighting, toilets for traders and market infrastructure. Felt the works 
would make the market and more pleasant and attractive place to shop and 
spend time, which is what the project sought to achieve.  

Question 4 

Why was the Council consulting on a vision “to secure multi-million pound 
capital investment to transform the market square into a multi-functional 
outdoor space” when its own consultants Quarterbridge have said that there is 
no commercial case for borrowing the initial capital of between £4.47 and 
£4.96 million?  Why isn’t the Council being open and honest with the public 
about the financial realities of a project which looks more and more like a pipe 
dream?  

A pipe dream for which nearly £500,000 has already been spent or allocated, 
without even establishing the most basic aspect of feasibility: whether the 
demountable stalls on which the whole vision depends are sufficiently robust to 
meet the needs of the traders, and to withstand the weather conditions in the 
market square.  Have any prototype stalls been commissioned yet? What was 
the brief to the designers? 

Why was Council tax payers’ money and citizens’ time being wasted on the 
current consultation which, in the absence of prototype stalls, is totally 
premature as well as being biased and misleading?   

Why wasn’t refurbishment of the market as existing even mentioned in the 
consultation questionnaire?  

Why was there nothing in or around the Market Square to tell people that the 
consultation is even happening? 

How could the Council claim to support the 7-day-a-week traditional market 
when its draft Vision is clearly focused on hot food stalls and open-air eating, 
to the detriment of the current mix, and most particularly the non-hot food 
traders who have to cope with not only smells but residues of fat and grease?   

Quarterbridge suggest that to fund any vision the Council will have to apply for 
Lottery or other heritage grants. How long would it take, and how much more 
money and time would be wasted, before the Council finally realised that the 
existing traditional market was not merely a financial asset? That it had 
powerful health and wellbeing benefits, as well as providing incredible social 

Page 25



Council Cnl/14 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

14 

value and living heritage? All these should be at the heart of any Vision for our 
central civic space and market square. 

Response 

The Executive Councillor responded that they felt the Council was being open 
and honest with the public about the financial realities of the project and the 
Quarterbridge report had recently been published as part of the proposed 
consultation.   

The published Quarterbridge report was formally noted by Committee and 
included an outline business case and investment appraisal for the project. 
The investment appraisal showed the proposed project was a strong candidate 
for Grant Funding due to its delivering a range of economic and social benefits, 
including job creation, reduced anti-social behaviour and increased footfall.  
Although the Quarterbridge report demonstrated there was no viable business 
case for capital borrowing of the full project cost, it did confirm a commercial 
case for borrowing up to £2.5-3M.   

The Executive Councillor responded that the Council was in the process of 
developing a demountable market stall trial brief and market trader input would 
be sought before issuing to the stall supplier market to respond to.  The brief 
would set out the stall design requirements, including size, durability, wind-
loading, weather protection, trader operational requirements and 
demountability.    

Although the stall design trial was not likely to commence until after the 6 week 
online public consultation period had ended, they were committed to reporting 
the results of the trial to Scrutiny Committee in October 2021.   

The Executive Councillor did not believe the Council was wasting tax payers 
money or that the consultation was premature, biased or misleading. 

Refurbishment of the market, as existing, was not mentioned in the 
questionnaire because the Executive Councillor believed that it would 
represent a missed opportunity to address the needs and opportunities of the 
square.  They felt the current consultation on a proposed Vision and Concept 
Design met the needs of the community, including market traders and other 
city centre businesses, shoppers, residents and visitors. 

Felt the creation of the open area in the centre around the fountain with 
additional tables and seating, reduction of the visual impact of the highway and 
the underground bin system would improve the square and the market.  

Page 26



Council Cnl/15 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

15 

As part of the consultation, posters would be placed in and around the square 
publicising the consultation from Tuesday 1 June. Consultation post-cards 
would be distributed from Thursday 27 May. These outlined the proposed 
project and consultation opportunity and could be collected from trader stalls. 

Stated that the public consultation was the public’s opportunity to provide 
feedback on the proposals.  

Question 5 

The City Council has declared a Biodiversity Emergency.  It was not the only 
crisis threatening us; there are climate, soil, water, air, ocean and many other 
crises.  A flawed and perverse economic algorithm that puts growth above any 
consequent cost drives all these.  The scientific evidence clearly shows that 
when you are in a crisis, fast action can prevent it getting out of control.  A 
culture, evolved when conditions were stable, often prevents fast action, and 
decisions put out to consultation create further delay.  The evidence showed 
that culture is still driving actions in Cambridge: the Council was still using 
herbicide, trees were being planted in meadows, biodiverse sites are being 
destroyed for building projects, etc.  What immediate actions will the Council 
take to ensure that there is no further loss of biodiversity across the City? 
 
Response 
 
The Executive Councillor responded that the declaration of the biodiversity 
emergency was one of the most significant actions that had been taken as a 
Council. The current and future threat to biodiversity was not being 
underestimated. In proposing the motion Councillor Thornburrow called on the 
Council not just to offer a statement of intent but a plan of action. How 
biodiversity could be protected was embedded in all areas of council policy. 
The Council had stopped using herbicides on parks and had a ‘right tree in the 
right place’ policy. There were a number of strategic actions which would be 
taken in the year ahead. 
 
The Council would be: 

 Working on a new biodiversity strategy, which subject to Committee 
approval, would be out for public consultation this summer. 

 Continuing with the EU funded canopy project which aimed to 
significantly increase the tree canopy in Cambridge from 17% to 19%.  

 Publishing a baseline site audit of all our Local Nature Reserves, 
Commons and larger green spaces 

 Developing a Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document for 
consultation this summer.  

 

Page 27



Council Cnl/16 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

16 

In addition to these longer term, more strategic actions, the following are 
examples of some of the more local, operational actions we will take in the 
coming year: 
 

 To continue to significantly increase the area of our parks and open 
spaces managed as long grass and wildflower meadow 

 

 To continue with enhancement schemes on Cherry Hinton Brook and 
Vicar’s Brook through New Bit with local volunteers and the Friends 
Group, as part of wider Chalk Stream Project. 

 

 To continue to work with local charity, Action for Swifts, to ensure new 
nest box provision is included during our Council City Homes council 
housing renovations. 

 
Question 6 
 
For the process of this Cambridge Market Square Project to be honourable, 
fair and honest towards the hundreds and thousands of people who love and 
use out 1000 plus year old market certain basic levels of decent human 
interaction need to be in place. We know that at least 7300 people love the 
market because they readily supported it in the Jan 2021 petition. 
 
With the risk of sounding a bit like good old honest Frank Skinner here, this 
cheating survey the project have released onto their web site is as far from 
human decency than we Friends of Cambridge Market have ever seen in a 
public consultation people are saying. 
If I can draw an analogy to highlight the lack of fairness,   
If you had an orange, an apple and a banana and needed a room full of people 
to 'choose' one , say the banana, you would get the result you needed if you 
put the apple and pear on the shelf out the way and held up the banana saying 
'which one do you choose?'..... 
 
This is what is happening in this survey.  
 
We think there should be 3 options for market users to be able to choose from 
. 
 
a. The Concept design proposals for a flexi space of the entire SQ. 
b. A renovation of the existing fixed stall market with substantial improvements 
as set in some points in the  concept design plan. 
plan. 

Page 28



Council Cnl/17 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

17 

c. A third middle way between the two with half the stalls remaining fixed for 
those businesses that need this for their business continuity. 
 
Please see our market traders evidence of this in our archive on  
lifeoncambridgemarket.com , A Day in the Life of a Market Trader. 
 
The market square proposals stated that one of the key design proposals is for 
new demountable stalls and this is the only option cited in the survey. 
 
The traders are saying they need durable market stalls, which meet their 
needs. The traders are trying to say this to the Project: that no type of 
demountable market stall would be suitable for their businesses, and would not 
meet their needs.  
 
Could the Executive Councillor clarify with the Project developers and explain 
to the Market Community how this can be a key design proposal if the market 
traders are not in agreement with the use of demountable stalls as they are 
incompatible with their businesses? Could the Executive Councillor also 
confirm with that if a trial period is undertaken, and the market traders find that 
the stalls trialled are not suitable for their business, that the 
renovations/refurbishments would proceed with non-demountable stalls so that 
the traders affected can continue their businesses? 
 
Please withdraw this deeply flawed survey, amend it and re-issue for the 
decent people in this great city to be able to partake in with the sense of dignity 
they deserve.  

How can the results of the stall trial be included in the public consultation if the 
trial isn't due to finish until after next winter? 

Response 

The Executive Councillor responded that the central feature of the proposed 
Vision and Concept Design was the continuation of a successful and vibrant 
daily outdoor market. This meant that the market stall design needed to be 
durable and meet trader needs.  To make the most of the space the Council 
was proposing a flexible design, which allowed stalls to be easily taken down 
and set up to allow the central civic space to fulfil other community needs and 
wants when it wasn’t being used as a market.  This meant that the stalls 
needed to meet the needs of traders and be demountable.  The Council was 
committed to trialling available ‘off the peg’ and, if necessary, prototype, 
demountable stall designs with traders against an agreed specification, to see 
if there were any designs that were suitable which met both the needs of the 
market traders and the wider project.   

Page 29

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/HNb0Cr2yUDZMNyt7Sxgo?domain=lifeoncambridgemarket.com


Council Cnl/18 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

18 

 
It was therefore considered premature for demountable stalls to be discounted 
at this stage, prior to the results of the planned trials.  
 
Should the Council be unable to find a suitable demountable stall design, it 
was still committed to progressing the other elements of the proposed Vision 
and Concept Design. Demountable stalls were only one element of the project 
to revamp and improve the market square and the market. 
 
The Executive Councillor did not consider the survey to be deeply flawed and 
did not feel the need to withdraw it. 
    
The stall trial was scheduled to start this summer and run on into the winter.  
The Council was currently committed to bringing the results of the public 
consultation and initial stall trials to the October 2021 Scrutiny Committee.  An 
assessment would be made, prior to that Committee date, to determine 
whether there was sufficient reportable results from the initial summer stall trial 
period to enable an informed discussion at Committee around any required 
changes. 

Question 7 

Residents expressed concerns about the environmental impact of the Big 
Wheel erected on Parker’s Piece. This public open space is enjoyed by 
thousands of city residents many of whom have very limited access to other 
green space in the city. This is common land yet a large section has now been 
commercialised and the public have to pay to access it as an event location. 

We would like to know: 

a) Why has Cambridge city council failed to register planning application 
21/01392/FUL within 14 days of receipt as required by law under article 40 of 
the DMPO 2015? 

b) Whether city council has sold off Parker’s Piece or is entertaining 
application 21/01392/FUL despite being prohibited from doing so by section 65 
and section 327A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Either A or B 
must be true. 

c)  Who was consulted about this? Does this relate to the Wider Cambridge 
Consortium’s plans for the city centre as an event location? 

Response 

Page 30



Council Cnl/19 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

19 

The Executive Councillor responded that the application was received on the 
25 March and following checks was validated on the 29 April. This was after 
the 14 day period set out in Article 40 due to a backlog of work in the Planning 
service. 

The planning application was accompanied by a certificate serving notice on 
the city council as landowners. The wrong ownership box was ticked on the 
application.  The Council had not sold Parkers Piece. Legal advice had been 
sought and it was considered that the current application was not invalid, 
however a new certificate had been asked to be provided. A further 21-day 
consultation would be carried out when this was submitted. The application 
would be determined by the Planning Committee after the consultation period 
had been undertaken. Planning application consultation details were available 
online and included internal and external consultees.  

The structure had been erected under permitted development provisions, 
which allowed it to be there for 56 days. The wheel would be operational for 3 
and a half months as originally consulted with the Ward Councillors. It was 
expected to only be present until around the 19 September.  

Question 8 

Further to the Cambridge Labour Party manifesto commitment to 'Champion 
the elimination of herbicides on public land, including grass verges, and work 
towards being a herbicide-free city' (1), The Making Cambridge a Pesticide 
Free City motion in July 2019 (2) and the City Council Biodiversity Emergency 
Declaration in 2019 can the City Council give us your assurance that this 
spring will be the last time herbicides are applied to road verges, footways and 
street infrastructure on both City Council land and that managed by the City on 
behalf of the County Council?  
 
The 2019 motion (2) gives a date of 'end of 2022' to phase out pesticide use 
but, two years on, the Biodiversity Emergency worsens, and alternatives have 
been in use for some years now (3). Can we not end city council herbicide use 
now, as have many other towns (4)?  
 
(1) page 11 of https://www.cambridgelabour.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/117/2021/04/Manifesto-2021-web-site-1.pdf 
(2) 
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=36
00&Ver=4 
(3) https://www.pan-uk.org/information-for-local-authorities/ 
(4) https://www.pan-uk.org/make-my-town-pesticide-free/ 

Page 31

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/F1mICZ8qSogvlJHzP_vP?domain=cambridgelabour.org.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/F1mICZ8qSogvlJHzP_vP?domain=cambridgelabour.org.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/pu1EC16xtEGg3VHG6BQf?domain=democracy.cambridge.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/pu1EC16xtEGg3VHG6BQf?domain=democracy.cambridge.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/3uMOC28zSE3r1MHB3cVr?domain=pan-uk.org/
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8QZIC36BtRK3qncDuaHS?domain=pan-uk.org/


Council Cnl/20 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

20 

Response  
 

The Executive Councillor responded that the council remained fully committed 
to a herbicide free city. Since 2018/19 there had been a 24.5% reduction in the 
volume of herbicide used in the city but was aware there was still much more 
to do.  
 
The Council recognised that the city’s parks, open spaces and road verges 
provide significant opportunities for habitat enhancement to help buffer and 
connect the existing network of natural green spaces, already designated and 
managed for their biodiversity value. 
 
Herbicides were no longer used in maintenance regimes on the Council’s 
parks and open spaces as part of the biodiversity emergency motion.  
 
Recent investment in new IT and software afforded us the opportunity, for the 
first time, to be able to produce digital plans and maps of our parks and open 
space sites and their associated physical infrastructure (eg. paths, benches, 
bins) and natural assets.  Using these asset plans, we can define designated 
zones/ areas for different types of management treatment, including long 
grass, close mown amenity grass and wildflower meadow.  This functionality is 
currently being developed for operational adoption from late 2021. 
 
A Parks Biodiversity Toolkit had been produced to support residents and 
community groups to enhance the biodiversity in their gardens and 
neighbourhoods. 
 
Other parts of the city were more of a challenge. This included council 
properties and County Council highway assets untreated ‘weeds’ in hard 
surfaces (including roads, pavements and cycle paths) presented a health and 
safety risk (including slips, trips and falls). Would continue to work hard to 
explore effective alternatives to chemical herbicides in those areas. The 
council was undertaking a review of street furniture and public realm to design 
out areas that require herbicide treatment. 
 
Committed that any new environmental improvement schemes and adopted 
open spaces would not need herbicide maintenance and to adopt the Plantlife 
guidance on changes to verge maintenance. Reduce the need for the use of 
herbicides by adopting other viable alternatives and integrated weed control 
management system.  Develop best practice and offer advice and 
maintenance services to others. 

Question 9 

Page 32



Council Cnl/21 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

21 

Regarding the City Council trialling the new 'cut and collect' mowing regime 
can the council please tell us  

1) precisely which verges have been put into the 'cut and collect' trial ? 

2) Believed Barnwell verge was part of this trial yet large areas of flowers have 
been mown very recently (since 17th May). Was that a mistake or just the first 
phase of lowering the verge's soil fertility? If the latter then surely this has been 
done far too late this spring? 

Many residents were deeply concerned when swathes of flowers were cut 
down like this. They knew the council is committed to mowing less and 
creating pollinator corridors, but the situation on Barnwell verge makes for a 
mixed message.   

Response 

The Executive Councillor stated that there were some areas where the grass 
needed to be kept shorter this included sight lines at road junctions, there were 
clear safety reasons for continuing to mow there. Sport pitches which would be 
coming into use over the summer. Mowing was no longer the default option. 
Recognised how the council approached and planned cutting regimes had the 
potential to contribute to enhancing the city’s biodiversity. Since declaring the 
biodiversity in May 2019, lots of areas had been identified which could be left 
uncut until the autumn. A map of these areas was available of the council’s 
website. Money had been set aside to trial a cut and collect cutting machine. 
Which would help reduce nutrient build up from the cut vegetation and would 
improve conditions for flower plants. Were using the Plantlife good verge 
advice to review methods of cutting and the need to cut at all and this would be 
trialled in a couple of locations in the city.  Council Officers were investigating 
why the verge at Barnwell Road was cut so that it did not occur in the future. 

21/23/CNL To deal with oral questions from Councillors 
 
Question 1 
 
To:  Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment & City Centre 
From:  Cllr Lucy Nethsingha 
 
Please could the Leader let me know how long the Covid Marshals will be 
working in the City? 
 

The Executive Councillor responded that the current Covid Marshal 
commitment was to the 20th June 2021, with a review date of the 14th June, 

Page 33



Council Cnl/22 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

22 

when the Government was expected to announce its ‘road map’ progress and 
associated final step 4 decision.   
 
The 20th June target date was subject to a Government decision to proceed 
with its Step 4 lifting of all remaining Covid security measures from 21st June 
2021. 
 
The use of marshals had evolved in Cambridge. The current deployment plan 
(up to 20th June) was 4 x Covid Marshals operating Thursday to Sunday, 4pm 
to midnight to support COVID safe evening and night time economy queue 
management in the city centre. The Covid Marhsals in the evening had been 
doing a good job and were popular with the city centre businesses.  
 
As part of the 14th June review the council would engage with the city centre 
management partners, including Cambridge BID and Police, to identify 
whether there was an ongoing need for an evening and night-time Marshal 
scheme to run along taxi marshalls which had been in operation for a number 
of years.  
 
Question 2 
 
To:  Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community 
Wellbeing 
From:  Cllr Markus Gehring 
 
Given that our open spaces have become more important over the last year 
and given that we are facing a climate emergency does the Executive 
Councillor agree that public water sources are an indispensable public 
infrastructure? 
 
The Executive Councillor responded that access to public water sources was 
an important part of the council’s infrastructure. Use of single use packaging 
materials, including coffee cups and plastic bottles was a contributor to the 
climate emergency and anything the council can do to encourage re-use and 
to reduce their use should be encouraged.  
 
Was aware of the importance of open spaces over the last year and making 
available public water sources in open spaces was an excellent way to achieve 
the reduction in use of single use packaging. The Council had made budget 
commitments to delivering where it can, more water refill points, using funds 
from its Environmental Improvement Programme. 
 

Page 34



Council Cnl/23 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

23 

There were a range of new and planned public water sources across the city, 
and, of course, when combined with the Refill app, residents and visitors can 
easily navigate the city and find accessible public water source locations. 
 
Question 3 
 
To:  Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment & City Centre 
From:  Cllr Olaf Hauk 
 
Could the Executive Councillor please explain why the market square 
consultation has opened with questions relating to the demountable stalls, 
when it appears that no example of this has been provided for members of the 
public and traders to test on site. 
 

The Executive Councillor responded that the market square consultation plan 
included a range of engagement opportunities over the summer period, 
including the recently launched 6-week public consultation using the 
questionnaire survey response form and targeted ‘outreach’ engagement 
opportunities with different sections of the community, including market traders 
and young people.   
 
At this stage of the project, the aim of the consultation was to obtain public 
views on proposed high level, concept design principles and proposals for the 
market square.  The Executive Councillor did not feel that the absence of 
physical demountable stalls to test on site, during the initial 6-week 
consultation period would undermine peoples’ ability to engage in and make 
meaningful and informed responses to the consultation proposals.   
 
As part of the consultation plan trials of demountable stall design options 
would be undertaken in a two-stage assessment process involving market 
traders.  For the first stage there would be an initial assessment by markets 
traders of selected stall design options, erected at our Cowley Road Depot.  
The results would then be used to identify a preferred stall design option (or 
options, if no clear ‘winner’), which would form the basis of the second stage, 
where the preferred option(s) would be trialled in a ‘live’ market situation on the 
market square. 
 
Question 4 
 
To:  Leader of the Council 
From:  Cllr Haf Davies 
 

Page 35

https://www.refill.org.uk/


Council Cnl/24 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

24 

Has the Leader had a reply to his letter about the EU settlement scheme? 
 
The Leader responded that there was a high number of residents who were 
born outside of the UK and the June deadline to apply to the EU settlement 
scheme was grossly unfair. A number of EU nationals and Cambridge 
residents were not currently residing in Cambridge and had not had access to 
citizenship advice. This deadline would cause a lot of damage and their rights 
would not be observed.  
 
Question 5 
 
To:  Executive Councillor for Communities 
From:  Cllr Martin Smart 
 
What are the plans for the future of the food hubs post-pandemic? 
 
Councillor Davies responded on behalf of the Executive Councillor that 
promoting food justice was one of the council’s top priorities. No-one should be 
struggling to put food on the table and the council wanted to do everything that 
it could do to address that. Even before the pandemic funding was in place for 
a central food distribution hub to help tackle food poverty and reduce food 
waste. Was currently working with Cambridge Sustainable Food to find a 
permanent base. During the pandemic there was an amazing effort to support 
those in need, 266 tonnes of food was distributed via staff and volunteers. 
There were over 36,000 food hub visits and over 15,000 cooked meals 
prepared. Thanked Cambridge Sustainable Food for their lead on food hubs. 
Needed to consider how the food hubs would work in the future. Food hubs 
were being trialled in Abbey, Trumpington and Cherry Hinton not only looking 
at food poverty but also looking at how these could meet other needs of those 
in the community. The Council was part of the Food Poverty Alliance and with 
the Council’s own Anti-Poverty Strategy were central to promoting food justice 
across the city.  
 
Question 6 
 
To:  Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community 
Wellbeing 
From:  Cllr Michael Bond 
 
Following the recent successful bid to the council for developer funding to 
provide a wildflower meadow in the Five Trees open space in East Chesterton 
(which I have actively campaigned for), can the Executive Councillor provide 

Page 36



Council Cnl/25 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

25 

news of the nature of scheme that is now proposed, any local consultation that 
is envisaged and the potential timing of implementation? 
 
The Executive Councillor responded that the funding award of £5000 for the 
Five Trees project was agreed at the Planning and Transport Committee on 
the 20th September 2020 following cross party working between Councillor Bird 
and Councillor Porrer.  
 
Since October 2020, staff from Streets and Open Spaces, including the Tree 
Officer and the Biodiversity Officer, had developed plans for the site. 
 
The proposed plans included tree planting, floral meadows, bee banks and 
other biodiversity enhancements, as requested and detailed in the funding 
application that was made. 
 
A consultation would take place on the proposed plans, within the next six 
weeks and the works were proposed to be completed in the Autumn/ Winter of 
this year, reflective of the feedback from the consultation. Asked residents to 
respond to the consultation.  
 
Question 7 
 
To:  Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment & City Centre 
From:  Cllr Carina O'Reilly 
 
What has been achieved in 2021 to date in assisting city centre and Market 
food and drink businesses to increase operations and space for customers 
outdoors? 
 
The Executive Councillor responded that the power to licence outdoor tables 
and chairs was given by Central Government to District Councils last summer 
and was due to return back to the County Council in September 2021.  The 
Licensing Team were doing their best to issue licences for outdoor tables and 
chairs where it was practicably possible.  With the £720,000 support grant from 
the Combined Authority, 17 picnic tables had just been placed around the 
market square and there were plans for another 13 to be placed around the 
city in the next few weeks. As part of the same project new lighting was going 
up around the city centre. 
 
As part of the work on the new litter strategy and bin review, solar compactor 
bins were being trialled around the city centre. New ones had been put in 
around the market square. It was hoped this would keep the area around the 

Page 37



Council Cnl/26 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

26 

new picnic tables clean and litter free.  The work undertaken by the Streets 
and Open Spaces Team was essential to keep the city centre tidy and clean.  
 
The County Council continued to licence businesses who already had licences 
for outdoor tables and chairs before the pandemic.  
 
Thanked the Environment Health Team for all their work during the pandemic.  
 
The following oral questions were tabled but owing to the expiry of the period 
of time permitted, were not covered during the meeting. The Mayor asked 
Executive Councillors if a written response could be provided to those 
questions that had not been covered. 
 
Question 8 
To:  Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community 
Wellbeing 
From:  Cllr Alan Cox 
 
Given that Hobson's Park in Trumpington has finally been legally transferred to  
the City Council, can the Executive Councillor explain how it will be managed? 
 
The Executive Councillor confirmed that the land ownership transfer relating to 
the Hobson’s Park and the allotments happened on the 12th May 2021 and the 
Council is now the leaseholder for the site. 
 
The Park was secured through the planning process and a S106 agreement 
and a management plan had been agreed, linked to a maintenance 
contribution received from the developer.  The site would be managed by the 
Council’s Streets and Open Spaces services in accordance with the agreed 
management plan. 
 
Staff within the Council’s Streets and Open Spaces service are currently 
managing the allocation of allotment licences and were liaising with 
Countryside, the developer on a range of works that required rectification.   
 
Streets and Open Spaces team members also continued to support the build 
out of other open spaces on the development, including community gardens 
and open spaces negotiated and secured during the planning stage of this 
development. 
 
The Council was now the point of contact for matters relating to the Hobson’s 
Park. 

Page 38



Council Cnl/27 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

27 

 
Question 9 
To:  Executive Councillor for Planning & Transport 
From:  Cllr David Baigent 
 
How have the City Council’s transport plans changed as result of the election 
of a Labour mayor of the combined authority and the change of control at 
Cambridgeshire County Council? 
 
Question 10 
To:  Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community 
Wellbeing 
From:  Cllr Katie Porrer 
 
Could the Executive Councillor for Open Spaces explain whether Cambridge 
City Council has taken part in No Mow May this year? 
 
The Executive Councillor confirmed that the City Council was aware of the No 
Mow May campaign promoted by the organisation Plantlife, but the Council did 
not take part this year. 
  
No Mow May was a campaign to persuade individuals and organisations to 
stop mowing during the peak flowering period of May, when many pollinating 
insects emerge from hibernation to raise the next generation. 
  
With such a large and diverse parks and open space estate to manage, there 
were some locations where the Council had to mow, for example sightlines at 
road junctions, sports pitches, paths through grassland cemeteries and areas 
used for recreation.   
  
The cutting regimes of the council’s parks and open spaces and highway 
verges had the potential to significantly enhance the city’s biodiversity and 
additional areas had been identified in 2021 to be left, uncut, until the autumn.  
The Council was trailing a new cut and collect machine this year to help 
reduce nutrient build up from cut vegetation being left on site and improve 
conditions for flower plants.   
  
Officers were also continuing to work with County Highway officer colleagues 
to review, trial and adopt new methods of highway verge management, in 
accordance with the Plantlife Good Verge Guide advice. 
 
Question 11 

Page 39



Council Cnl/28 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

28 

To:  Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community 
Wellbeing 
From:  Cllr Jennifer Page-Croft 
 
Does the Executive Councillor still agree with the July 2nd 2019 motion 
unanimously passed at full council, regarding reducing herbicides use across 
the city. 
 
Question 12 
To:  Leader of the Council 
From:  Cllr Richard Robertson 
 
What does the leader see as the biggest opportunities for Cambridge following 
the election of a labour mayor, and a change of administration at the county 
council? 
 
Question 13 
To:  Executive Councillor for Planning & Transport 
From:  Cllr Jamie Dalzell 
 
Would the Executive Councillor recommend that residents pay for the pre-
application service when seeking planning permission for house extensions? 
 
Question 14 
To:  Executive Cllr Climate Change, Environment and City Centre 
From:  Cllr Hannah Copley 
 
With respect to the market square proposals that opened to public consultation 
recently, it has been stated that one of the key design proposals is for new 
demountable, yet durable, market stalls, which meet the needs of traders, 
while being easy to take down/ put up. I understand from some market traders 
that they believe that no type of demountable market stall would be suitable for 
their businesses, and thus would not meet their needs. Could the executive 
therefore clarify how this can be a key design proposal if the market traders 
are not in agreement that demountable stalls are compatible with their 
businesses? Could the executive also confirm that if a trial period is 
undertaken, and the market traders find that the stalls trialled are not suitable 
for their business, that the renovations will proceed with non-demountable 
stalls so that the traders affected can continue their businesses? 
 
Question 15 
To:  Executive Councillor for Communities 

Page 40



Council Cnl/29 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

29 

From:  Cllr Simon Smith 
 
What support is being provided for those facing digital poverty? 
 
Question 16 
To:  Executive Councillor for Housing 
From:  Cllr Ingrid Flaubert 
 
Is there any way the city council can help residents of new housing in 
Trumpington who are suffering consistently poor internet connectivity, either by 
taking action itself or by advocating urgent attention by other organisations? 
 
Question 17 
To:  Executive Councillor for Housing 
From:  Cllr Gerri Bird 
 
What progress is being made with the building of Passivhaus council homes? 
 
Question 18 
To:  Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community 
Wellbeing 
From:  Cllr Tim Bick 
 
Could the Executive Councillor explain why the opportunity for public 
consultation, requested by ward councillors and agreed to by officers, over the 
proposed Observation Wheel on Parker’s Piece did not take place before the 
Wheel was erected and started operating this week? 
 
Question 19 
To:  Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and Community 
Wellbeing 
From:  Cllr Daniel Lee 
 
Could the Executive Councillor please provide some insight into why the 
pavilion in Nightingale Avenue Park, which was approved and scheduled for 
demolition in April 2019 by the previous council, is still standing after its most 
recent demolition date in April this year? 
 
The Pavilion on Nightingale Recreation Ground is due for demolition during 
June 2021.  
 

Page 41



Council Cnl/30 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

30 

This has been delayed due to the small team of three in the Recreation team 
(two of which are part time) having been deployed on other Covid related 
matters over the previous year, and sign off of pre-commencement planning 
conditions and utility disconnections have held up the demolition start date this 
year. 
 
The utility companies took months to come to site to decommission the energy 
services ready for demolition, and there is also a pre-commencement planning 
condition that was submitted at the start of the year, on traffic management 
and site management of the demolition, and awaited sign off since, to be able 
to commence on site.  
 
Only in the last month have the County Highways team comments been fed 
back, who noted to refuse releasing the Condition as the mini tarmac ramp 
proposed from the road level to the top of the path kerb height may cause a 
localised flooding issue as it blocked the surface water drainage run offs to the 
highway road drains. 
 
New updated plans have been submitted with a new method of working that 
will allow rain water flow underneath it. 
 
The demolition contractor is to mobilise for demolition and complete the works 
and clear the site during June, and will be onsite for a week (5days) to 
demolish and clear the pavilion. 
 
Officers will attend during the demolition, when then pavilion is levelled to the 
foundations to make a decision on the condition of the foundations and if they 
are to stay and be added to for the new extended pavilion footprint, or are to 
be fully removed. If they are to be removed the demolition contractor will 
continue into a second week to remove the concrete foundations from site, but 
all work is expected to be completed in June. 

21/24/CNL To consider the following notices of motion, notice of which 
has been given by: 

13a Councillor Copley: Support the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill 
Councillor Copley proposed and Councillor Bennett seconded the following 
motion: 
 
Humans have already caused irreversible climate change, the impacts of 
which are being felt in the UK and around the world. Global temperatures have 
increased by 1 degree Celsius from pre-industrial levels. Atmospheric CO2 

Page 42



Council Cnl/31 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

31 

levels are above 400 parts per million (ppm) and continue to rise. This far 
exceeds the 350 ppm deemed to be a safe level for humanity. 
 
Without more significant and sustained action, the world is set to exceed the 
Paris Agreement’s 1.5°C limit between 2030 and 2040.  
The increase in harm caused by a rise of 2°C rather than 1.5°C is significant. 
This is described by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s Special 
Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C published in October 2018. According to 
the IPCC, limiting heating to 1.5°C may still be possible with ambitious action 
from national and sub-national authorities, civil society, the private sector and 
local communities. The costs of failing to address this crisis will far outstrip the 
investments required to prevent it.  
 
According to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Commission 
on Climate Change, our area is at high risk from the effects of climate change 
and face a future of flooding, heatwaves and water shortages, and our region 
has such high emissions we will have “exhausted all of our ‘allowed’ share of 
emissions to 2050” in just six years unless drastic action is taken now. 
Investing now will bring many benefits in the form of good jobs, breathable 
cities and thriving communities.  
 
Council states that: 

(i) All governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to do 
everything in their power to minimise and prevent Climate and 
Ecological breakdown. In keeping with this, the council has declared a 
climate emergency in February 2019 and a biodiversity emergency in 
May 2019.  

 
(ii) The council has set out a strategy for the council to reach net zero from 

its direct emissions by 2030 which represent 1.1% of carbon 
emissions in Cambridge, and in declaring a Climate Emergency in 
February 2019 called on government to make the investment and 
changes needed for Cambridge and the UK to reach net zero carbon. 
 

(iii) There is a Bill before Parliament—the Climate and Ecological 
Emergency Bill (published as the “Climate and Ecology Bill”) which 
deserves the support of the Government, as it reassesses the 
urgency of the twin climate and ecological emergencies. According to 
the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill the Government must 
develop an emergency strategy that: 
(a) requires that the UK plays its fair and proper role in reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions consistent with limiting global 

Page 43



Council Cnl/32 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

32 

temperature increase to 1.5 degrees C above pre-industrial 
temperatures; 

(b) ensures that all the UK’s consumption emissions are accounted 
for; 

(c) includes emissions from aviation and shipping; 
(d) protects and restores biodiverse habitats along overseas supply 

chains; 
(e) restores and regenerates the UK’s depleted soils, wildlife habitats 

and species populations to healthy and robust states, maximising 
their capacity to absorb CO2 and their resistance to climate 
heating; 

(f) sets up an independent Citizens’ Assembly, representative of the 
UK’s population, to engage with Parliament and Government and 
help develop the emergency strategy. 

 
Council therefore resolves to: 

(i) Register our support the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill  
(ii) Inform the local media of this decision; 
(iii) Write to our local MPs (Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire), 

urging them to support the Bill; and 
(iv) Write to the CEE Bill Alliance, the organisers of the campaign for the 

Bill, expressing its support (campaign@ceebill.uk). 
 
Councillor Moore proposed and Councillor Gawthrope Wood seconded the 
following amendment to motion (deleted text struck through and additional text 
underlined).  
 
Humans have already caused irreversible climate change, the impacts of 
which are being felt in the UK and around the world. Global temperatures have 
increased by 1 degree Celsius from pre-industrial levels. Atmospheric 
CO2 levels are above 400 parts per million (ppm) and continue to rise. This far 
exceeds the 350 ppm deemed to be a safe level for humanity. 
 
Without more significant and sustained action, the world is set to exceed the 
Paris Agreement’s 1.5°C limit between 2030 and 2040. 
The increase in harm caused by a rise of 2°C rather than 1.5°C is significant. 
This is described by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s Special 
Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C published in October 2018. According to 
the IPCC, limiting heating to 1.5°C may still be possible with ambitious action 
from national and sub-national authorities, civil society, the private sector and 
local communities. The costs of failing to address this crisis will far outstrip the 
investments required to prevent it. 

Page 44

http://www.ceebill.uk/
mailto:campaign@ceebill.uk


Council Cnl/33 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

33 

 
According to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Commission 
on Climate Change, our area is at high risk from the effects of climate change 
and face a future of flooding, heatwaves and water shortages, and our region 
has such high emissions we will have “exhausted all of our ‘allowed’ share of 
emissions to 2050” in just six years unless drastic action is taken now. 
Investing now will bring many benefits in the form of good jobs, breathable 
cities and thriving communities. 
 
Council states notes that: 
(i)  All governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to do everything 
in their power to minimise and prevent Climate and Ecological breakdown. In 
keeping with this, the council has declared a climate emergency in February 
2019 and a biodiversity emergency in May 2019.  
(ii)  The council has set out a strategy for the council to reach net zero from its 
own direct emissions by 2030 which represent 1.1% of carbon emissions in 
Cambridge, and in declaring a Climate Emergency in February 2019 called on 
government to make the investment and changes needed for Cambridge and 
the UK to reach net zero carbon. 
iii) The Environment Bill which is currently at the report stage in the House of 
Commons and could embed environmental accountability in UK law, is now 
long overdue in replacing the environmental legislation lost due to the UK 
leaving the European Union. 
iv) The Environment Bill does not go nearly far enough to protect biodiversity 
or to achieve the government’s own net zero carbon ambitions and yet it is 
essential to have this new legislation passed into law.  
v) The government missed several opportunities to strengthen the 
Environment Bill by: 

a) Rejecting Labour Party amendments such as on setting a minimum 
standard of protection on the production and use of chemical 
substances, maintaining the ban on bee-killing pesticides, ensuring the 
independence of the proposed environmental watchdog and enforcing 
World Health Organisation targets on air quality by 2030. 

b) Rejecting two amendments from a cross party alliance which aimed to 
outline a clear objective for the Environment Bill to achieve and maintain 
a healthy, resilient and biodiverse natural environment that supports 
human health and to emphasise the sustainable use of resources. The 
second would have required the Secretary of State within six months of 
the Bill becoming law to report on the adequacy of current environmental 
law and policy in meeting the climate and ecological challenges the UK 
faces. 

Page 45



Council Cnl/34 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

34 

vi) The report stage of the bill gives another opportunity to set clear objectives 
with a proposed amendment which restates that anyone exercising 
responsibilities in relation to the Environment Bill must comply with broader 
commitments, including any that come about from the vital UN biodiversity and 
climate change conferences, COP15 and COP26, this year. 
vii) (iii)  There is also a Presentation Bill before Parliament—the Climate and 
Ecological Emergency Bill (published as the “Climate and Ecology Bill”). A 
Presentation Bill does not involve a debate or a vote in Parliament but is a way 
of drawing attention to an issue which requires a real change in the law. 
 which deserves the support of the Government, as it reassesses the urgency 
of the twin climate and ecological emergencies. According to the Climate and 
Ecological Emergency Bill the Government must develop an emergency 
strategy that: 
(a)requires that the UK plays its fair and proper role in reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions consistent with limiting global temperature increase to 1.5 
degrees C above pre-industrial temperatures; 
(b)ensures that all the UK’s consumption emissions are accounted for; 
(c)includes emissions from aviation and shipping; 
(d)protects and restores biodiverse habitats along overseas supply chains; 
(e)restores and regenerates the UK’s depleted soils, wildlife habitats and 
species populations to healthy and robust states, maximising their capacity to 
absorb CO2 and their resistance to climate heating; 
(f)  sets up an independent Citizens’ Assembly, representative of the UK’s 
population, to engage with Parliament and Government and help develop the 
emergency strategy. 
Despite not being able to be enacted into law the CEE Bill has ambitious aims 
and principles however 
(a) the bill states that the UK must only use “natural climate solutions” to 
achieve net zero, excluding many of the technical solutions that are being 
developed, but in this climate emergency we need to use all solutions available 
to us to prevent further global warming. 
(b) it seeks to sets up a Citizens’ Assembly which would bypass normal 
parliamentary processes and remove input from groups like affected workers 
and trade unions, therefore removing the likelihood of a just and equal 
transition that benefits all. 
Council therefore resolves to: 
(i)  Register our support the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill 
(ii)  Inform the local media of this decision; 
(iii)  Write to our local MPs (Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire), urging 
them to support the Bill; and 
(iv)  Write to the CEE Bill Alliance, the organisers of the campaign for the Bill, 
expressing its support (campaign@ceebill.uk). 

Page 46

http://www.ceebill.uk/
mailto:campaign@ceebill.uk


Council Cnl/35 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

35 

This Council therefore wishes to express its strong support for urgent 
climate action and the need for ambitious and comprehensive 
environment legislation and significant new national funding to match 
the scale of the climate emergency and jobs crisis we face by: 
1. publicly expressing its support for the proposed amendments to the 
Environment Bill and the need for the bill to be enacted into law. 
2. welcoming the CEE Bill for raising awareness and sharing ideas 
3. publicly expressing its support for many of the aims of the CEE Bill by 
expressing strong support for proposals, such as Labour’s Green Economic 
Recovery, which accelerate or increase investment in green infrastructure and 
jobs 
4. increasing awareness of the carbon dioxide costs and impacts of everyday 
activities, and the ability and motivation to reduce emissions, on an individual, 
community and organisational basis through Carbon Literacy training for 
council staff, council members and local residents. 
 
On a show of hands the amendment was carried by: 
 
23 votes in favour: Councillors Ashton, D. Baigent, S. Baigent, Bird, Collis, 
Davey, H. Davies, Dryden, Gawthrope Wood, Gilderdale, Healy, Herbert, 
McPherson, Moore, O’Reilly, Pounds, Robertson, Scutt, Sheil, Smart, S. 
Smith, Sweeney, Thornburrow. 
 
14 votes against: Councillors Bennett, Bick, Bond, Copley, Cox, Dalzell, S. 
Davies, Flaubert, Gehring, Hauk, Lee, Nethsingha, Page-Croft, Porrer.  
 
Resolved to approve the motion by: 
23 votes in favour: Councillors Ashton, D. Baigent, S. Baigent, Bird, Collis, 
Davey, H. Davies, Dryden, Gawthrope Wood, Gilderdale, Healy, Herbert, 
McPherson, Moore, O’Reilly, Pounds, Robertson, Scutt, Sheil, Smart, S. 
Smith, Sweeney, Thornburrow. 
 
14 votes abstaining: Councillors Bennett, Bick, Bond, Copley, Cox, Dalzell, S. 
Davies, Flaubert, Gehring, Hauk, Lee, Nethsingha, Page-Croft, Porrer.  
 
Humans have already caused irreversible climate change, the impacts of 
which are being felt in the UK and around the world. Global temperatures have 
increased by 1 degree Celsius from pre-industrial levels. Atmospheric 
CO2 levels are above 400 parts per million (ppm) and continue to rise. This far 
exceeds the 350 ppm deemed to be a safe level for humanity. 
 

Page 47



Council Cnl/36 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

36 

Without more significant and sustained action, the world is set to exceed the 
Paris Agreement’s 1.5°C limit between 2030 and 2040. 
The increase in harm caused by a rise of 2°C rather than 1.5°C is significant. 
This is described by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s Special 
Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C published in October 2018. According to 
the IPCC, limiting heating to 1.5°C may still be possible with ambitious action 
from national and sub-national authorities, civil society, the private sector and 
local communities. The costs of failing to address this crisis will far outstrip the 
investments required to prevent it. 
 
According to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Commission 
on Climate Change, our area is at high risk from the effects of climate change 
and face a future of flooding, heatwaves and water shortages, and our region 
has such high emissions we will have “exhausted all of our ‘allowed’ share of 
emissions to 2050” in just six years unless drastic action is taken now. 
Investing now will bring many benefits in the form of good jobs, breathable 
cities and thriving communities. 
 
Council notes that: 
(i)  All governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to do everything 
in their power to minimise and prevent Climate and Ecological breakdown. In 
keeping with this, the council has declared a climate emergency in February 
2019 and a biodiversity emergency in May 2019.  
(ii)  The council has set out a strategy for the council to reach net zero from its 
own direct emissions by 2030 which represent 1.1% of carbon emissions in 
Cambridge, and in declaring a Climate Emergency in February 2019 called on 
government to make the investment and changes needed for Cambridge and 
the UK to reach net zero carbon. 
iii) The Environment Bill which is currently at the report stage in the House of 
Commons and could embed environmental accountability in UK law, is now 
long overdue in replacing the environmental legislation lost due to the UK 
leaving the European Union. 
iv) The Environment Bill does not go nearly far enough to protect biodiversity 
or to achieve the government’s own net zero carbon ambitions and yet it is 
essential to have this new legislation passed into law.  
v) The government missed several opportunities to strengthen the 
Environment Bill by: 

c) Rejecting Labour Party amendments such as on setting a minimum 
standard of protection on the production and use of chemical 
substances, maintaining the ban on bee-killing pesticides, ensuring the 
independence of the proposed environmental watchdog and enforcing 
World Health Organisation targets on air quality by 2030. 

Page 48



Council Cnl/37 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

37 

d) Rejecting two amendments from a cross party alliance which aimed to 
outline a clear objective for the Environment Bill to achieve and maintain 
a healthy, resilient and biodiverse natural environment that supports 
human health and to emphasise the sustainable use of resources. The 
second would have required the Secretary of State within six months of 
the Bill becoming law to report on the adequacy of current environmental 
law and policy in meeting the climate and ecological challenges the UK 
faces. 

vi) The report stage of the bill gives another opportunity to set clear objectives 
with a proposed amendment which restates that anyone exercising 
responsibilities in relation to the Environment Bill must comply with broader 
commitments, including any that come about from the vital UN biodiversity and 
climate change conferences, COP15 and COP26, this year. 
vii) There is also a Presentation Bill before Parliament—the Climate and 
Ecological Emergency Bill (published as the “Climate and Ecology Bill”). A 
Presentation Bill does not involve a debate or a vote in Parliament but is a way 
of drawing attention to an issue which requires a real change in the law. 
 
Despite not being able to be enacted into law the CEE Bill has ambitious aims 
and principles however 
(a) the bill states that the UK must only use “natural climate solutions” to 
achieve net zero, excluding many of the technical solutions that are being 
developed, but in this climate emergency we need to use all solutions available 
to us to prevent further global warming. 
(b) it seeks to sets up a Citizens’ Assembly which would bypass normal 
parliamentary processes and remove input from groups like affected workers 
and trade unions, therefore removing the likelihood of a just and equal 
transition that benefits all. 
 
Council therefore resolves to: 
This Council therefore wishes to express its strong support for urgent 
climate action and the need for ambitious and comprehensive 
environment legislation and significant new national funding to match 
the scale of the climate emergency and jobs crisis we face by: 
1. publicly expressing its support for the proposed amendments to the 
Environment Bill and the need for the bill to be enacted into law. 
2. welcoming the CEE Bill for raising awareness and sharing ideas 
3. publicly expressing its support for many of the aims of the CEE Bill by 
expressing strong support for proposals, such as Labour’s Green Economic 
Recovery, which accelerate or increase investment in green infrastructure and 
jobs 

Page 49



Council Cnl/38 Thursday, 27 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

38 

4. increasing awareness of the carbon dioxide costs and impacts of everyday 
activities, and the ability and motivation to reduce emissions, on an individual, 
community and organisational basis through Carbon Literacy training for 
council staff, council members and local residents. 

13b Councillor Herbert: Area Committees / Changes to Decision Making 
Councillor Herbert proposed and Councillor Smart seconded the following 
motion: 
 
To agree that Area Committees continue to be run virtually up to 31 December 
2021 initially, with a review by Civic Affairs Committee in the autumn on a 
more permanent change and to request that the Monitoring Officer make the 
necessary immediate amendments to the Council’s Constitution to give affect 
to this change. 
 
Resolved by 35 votes to 1 to approve the motion. 

21/25/CNL Written questions 
 
There were no written questions. 

21/26/CNL Officer Urgent Decision 

15a Officer Urgent Decision: Non-Councillor appointment to Conservators of 
the River Cam 
The decision was noted. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 2.00 pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 50



The Executive Councillor for Housing was unable to attend the meeting and the 
Leader of the Council (portfolio Executive Councillor for Strategy and External 
Partnerships) made the decisions on 22 June 2021.  
 

HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 22 June 2021  

Present:  Councillors Bird, (Chair), Bennett, Dalzell, Gawthrope Wood, 

Gilderdale, Lee, Pounds and Robertson.  Executive Councillor for 

Strategy and External Partnerships: Councillor Herbert 

Tenant/Leaseholder Representatives: Lulu Agate, Christabella 

Amiteye, Diane Best, Mandy Powell-Hardy, Diana Minns and Colin 

Stevens 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

(EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR FOR STRATEGY AND EXTERNAL 

PARTNERSHIPS) see footnote 

 

2020/21 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and 

Significant Variances – Housing Revenue Account 

The report presented a summary of the 2020/21 outturn position (actual 

income and expenditure) for services within the Housing Revenue 

Account, compared to the current budget for the year. 

The Housing Scrutiny Committee considered and approved the 

recommendations by 7 votes to 0 with 2 abstentions. 

Accordingly, Council is recommended to: 

Carry forward requests of £18,610,000 in HRA and General Fund capital 

budgets and associated resources from 2020/21 into 2021/22 and 

beyond to fund re-phased net capital spending, as detailed in appendix 

D of the report and the associated notes to the appendix. 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4a



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report page no. 1 Agenda page no. 

 

Item  

2020/21 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards 

and Significant Variances – Housing Revenue Account  

 

Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 

 

1.1 This report presents, for the Housing Revenue Account : 
 
a) A summary of actual income and expenditure compared to the final 

budget for 2020/21 (outturn position) 
 

b) Revenue and capital budget variances with explanations 
 

c) Specific requests to carry forward funding available from both revenue 
and capital budget underspends into 2021/22. 

 
d) A summary of housing debt which was written off during 2020/21. 
 

2.  Recommendations 

 
Under Part 1 of the Housing Scrutiny Committee Agenda, the Executive 
Councillor, is recommended, following scrutiny and debate at Housing Scrutiny 
Committee: 
 

To:  

Councillor Mike Todd-Jones, Executive Councillor for Housing 

Report by:  

Julia Hovells, Assistant Head of Finance and & Business Manager  

Tel: 01223 - 457248   

Email: julia.hovells@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

Abbey, Arbury, Castle, Cherry Hinton, Coleridge, East Chesterton, King's 

Hedges, Market, Newnham, Petersfield, Queen Edith's, Romsey, 

Trumpington, West Chesterton 

Page 53



 
Report page no. 2 Agenda page no. 

 

 

a) To approve carry forward requests totalling £7,598,300 in revenue 
funding from 2020/21 into 2021/22, as detailed in Appendix C. 
 

Under Part 2 of the Housing Scrutiny Committee Agenda, the Executive 
Councillor for Housing is asked to recommend to Council (following scrutiny 
and debate at Housing Scrutiny Committee): 

 
b) Approval of carry forward requests of £18,610,000 in HRA and 

General Fund Housing capital budgets and associated resources from 
2020/21 into 2021/22 and beyond to fund re-phased net capital 
spending, as detailed in Appendix D and the associated notes to the 
appendix. 

 

3. Background 
 

Revenue Outturn 

 

3.1 The overall revenue budget outturn position for the Housing Revenue 

Account is given in the table below.  

 

2019/20 
£’000 

Housing Revenue Account Summary 2020/21 
£’000 

(1,404) Original Budget (HRA Use of Reserves) 3,998 

  773 Adjustment – Prior Year Carry Forwards  1,431 

 Adjustment – Inflation Saving (282) 

251 Adjustment – Interest Receipts and 
Interest Paid 

22 

(335) Adjustment – Increased Rent and 
Charge Income 

(10) 

8 Adjustment – Increased Bad Debt 
Provision 

1,141 

121 Adjustment – Depreciation (324) 

(343) Adjustment - DRF 0 

650 Other Adjustments  8 

Page 54



 
Report page no. 3 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 

3.1 Appendix A shows original and final budgets for the year (with the 
movements summarised in the above table) and compares the final 
budget with the outturn position for the HRA for 2020/21. The original 
revenue budget for 2020/21 was approved by the Executive Councillor 
for Housing on 15 January 2020. 
 

3.2 Appendix B provides explanations of the main variance.  
 
3.3 Appendix C lists revenue carry forward requests. 

 

3.4 The net underspend across the Housing Revenue Account of £9,338,008 
incorporates a number of key areas of underspending and overspending.  
 

3.5 General HRA Services were £155,403 less than budgeted due in part to 
deferral of some Housing Transformation activity (£48,051), coupled 
with underspending in City Homes (£106,321) due to underspending in 
operational costs as a result of the closure of the area office for 2020/21 
and also in the resource identified to support tenants through the 
transition to Universal Credit. Underspending in HRA Central Provisions 
(£56,633) is due predominantly to the level allowed for in the HRA in 
respect of pay inflation, holiday pay due on overtime worked and 
contributions towards corporate activity. 
 

3.6 Special HRA Services were overspent by a net £32,519, which combined 
underspending at Ditchburn Place (£63,514) and general sheltered 
schemes (£34,955), where the coronavirus pandemic made re-letting 
vacant units difficult or impossible for much of 2020/21, underspending 
in estate management activity (£42,695), with shrub replacement works 

(279) Final Budget 5,984 

(3,392) Outturn (3,354) 

(3,113) (Under) / Overspend for the year (9,338) 

1,431 Carry Forward Requests            7,598 

(1,682) Resulting Variation for the HRA (1,740) 

0 Other variances  0 

(1,682) Variance and (reduced) / increased 
use of HRA Reserves 

(1,740) 

Page 55



 
Report page no. 4 Agenda page no. 

 

 

deferred until early in 2021/22, with overspending in temporary housing 
£44,439), where the costs of council tax and cleaning in voids increased 
as a direct result of the coronavirus pandemic and at Virido, Clay Farm 
(£60,088) where the authority was required to meet additional service 
charge cots for prior years and the cost of unmetered water, the latter of 
which was later recovered from the developer.   
 

3.7 Also displaying in general and special expenditure as overspends, is 
expenditure incurred from Ear-Marked Reserves or Repairs and 
Renewals (R&R) funds for the Tenants Survey and Office investment 
(£32,607) and in Temporary Housing, Ditchburn Place and the General 
Sheltered Schemes (£42,205). These costs are fully funded from ear-
marked reserves set aside for these purposes, but budgets are not set 
for the use of the reserves as the expenditure fluctuates between years. 
The existence of the reserve ensures that the impact of these costs is 
spread out across a period of years, as opposed to tenants experiencing 
huge swings in the level of service charge for their scheme from year to 
year. 
 

3.8 Repairs expenditure reported a significant net underspend of 
£1,383,542, combining underspending in response repairs (£731,324) 
where only emergency or urgent work was carried out for a proportion 
of the year, with underspending in risk and compliance (£249,637), 
planned repairs (£163,110) and cyclical repairs (£93,958), where 
access issues and contractor capacity as a result of the coronavirus 
pandemic impacted delivery programmes. Heat and hot water servicing 
also underspent (£53,924) with a reduction in the number of repairs 
being required as part of the servicing and maintenance contract. The 
Estate Investment revenue funding reported an underspend of 
£118,104, with projects identified and ordered, but not fully delivered by 
March 2021. Conversely, void expenditure was greater than budgeted 
(£64,477) with an increase in activity and also in the level of work 
required in some voids to bring them up to a lettable standard.  
 

3.9 Other HRA expenditure comprises variances in the level of depreciation 
charged for 2020/21, which was £312,588 more than budgeted based 
upon the assets held at 1 April and the need to reduce their remining 
useful lives by a year pending review in 2021/22, and an underspend in 
level of contribution to the bad debt provision anticipated for 2020/21 
(£1,186,619), where additional sums were incorporated in the summer 
of 2020 based upon the arrears trends in the early part of the year, but 
where the trend was not borne out by year end. 
 

Page 56



 
Report page no. 5 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.10 Income received in the HRA was marginally greater than anticipated 
(£30,958), combining a small over-achievement in rent income as a direct 
result of continued temporary use of units at Campkin Road, an under-
achievement in service charge income due to the need to compensate 
customers for a reduced building cleaning service as a result of the 
coronavirus pandemic and a greater than anticipated recharge to capital 
for the costs of administering the right to buy process. 
 

3.11 Interest receipts were higher than anticipated (£254,122) due 
predominantly to a higher level of both revenue and capital balances than 
expected. Underspending in the capital programme also resulted in a 
reduced call on revenue funding for capital purposes (£10,284,190) for 
2020/21 and negated the need to call on an ear-marked reserve to meet 
some of this cost in the year. 
 
Capital Outturn 

 

3.12 The overall capital budget outturn position for the Housing Capital 
Investment Plan (HRA and Housing General Fund) is provided in the 
table below. Appendix D shows the outturn position by programme with 
the associated notes providing explanations of variances. 

 

 

3.13 Spending in the Housing Capital Investment Plan in 2020/21 was below 
that originally anticipated, with reduction in the budget, particularly for 
new build expenditure as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy in 

2019/20 HRA Capital Summary 2020/21 
£’000 

% Final 
Budget 

£’000 Original Budget 60,995 111% 

52,825 Adjustments (Re-phasing -prior year) 6,560 12% 

5,256 Other Adjustments (12,496) (23%) 

(12,310) Final Budget 55,059 100% 

45,774 Outturn 34,451 63% 

38,360 (Under)/Overspend for the year (20,608) (37%) 

(7,414) Re-phasing Requests 18,610 34% 

6,560 (Under ) / Overspend (1,998) (4%) 

Page 57



 
Report page no. 6 Agenda page no. 

 

 

September / October 2020 and the Budget Setting Report in January / 
February 2021. 
 

3.14 At outturn, against the latest capital budget approved, underspending of 
£7,363,000 was evident in new build investment, with slippage of 
£7,170,000 identified. This relates predominantly to delays in respect of 
re-development schemes at Colville Road and Campkin Road, both of 
which are now on site and are moving forward and at Meadows and 
Buchan Street and Clerk Maxwell, where the planning process took 
longer than hoped.   
 

3.15 Investment in the housing stock, in respect of decent homes and other 
capital activity was underspent by £9,220,000, with access issues and 
contractor capacity as a result of the coronavirus pandemic being the key 
cause, with the need to defer £8,367,000 of investment into future years 
having been identified.  
 

3.16 The capital expenditure relating to the acquisition of land and dwellings 
for development purposes was less than anticipated in 2020/21 
(£648,000), with one land acquisition being deferred until 2021/22. 
Resource approved to purchase dwellings for use as rough sleeper 
accommodation (£1,901,000) was not used, and will be carried forward 
into 2021/22, when a second grant bid will be submitted to compliment 
the resource.  
 

3.17 The project to replace the Housing Management Information System will 
span multiple years and the balance of funding to deliver this project will 
require re-phasing into 2021/22, when the project is now expected to 
conclude. 
 

3.18 Permission is sought to re-phase the use of £10,284,000 of DRF (direct 
revenue financing) and £589,000 of Major Repairs Reserve funding into 
2021/22, and £168,000 of Major Repairs Funding into later years, 
where these will be used to finance re-phased capital expenditure 
identified.   
 

3.19 Recognise the early receipt of £16,597,000 of Devolution Grant, which 
was received by the authority in 2020/21, but will not be used to fund 
capital expenditure on new homes until 2021/22 and beyond. 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 
Report page no. 7 Agenda page no. 

 

 

HRA Write Offs 
 

3.20 In line with the revised process for the writing off of HRA debt, 
considered by Housing Scrutiny Committee in March 2015, this report 
also provides an appendix detailing write off of HRA debt during the 
financial year 2020/21. Appendix E includes a summary of debt written 
off by both category of write off and also value banding. 
 

4. Implications 

 (a) Financial Implications  

The variance from the final revenue budget (see above), would result in a 

decreased use of Housing Revenue Account reserves of £9,338,008. After 

carry forward of revenue resource to fund deferred expenditure, the overall 

variance and resulting reduction in the use of Housing Revenue Account 

reserves is £1,739,708. 

 
A decision not to approve a carry forward request may impact on officers’ ability 
to deliver the service or scheme in question and this could have staffing, 
equality and poverty, environmental, procurement, consultation and 
communication and/or community safety implications. 

 (b) Staffing Implications 

There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report. 

(c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

There are no new equality or poverty implications associated with this report. 

 (d) Environmental Implications 

There are no new environmental implications arising from this report. 

 (e) Procurement Implications 

There are no new procurement implications arising from this report. 

 (f) Consultation and Communication 

Consultation with tenant and leaseholder representatives is an integral part of 

the Housing Scrutiny Committee process.  

 
 

Page 59



 
Report page no. 8 Agenda page no. 

 

 

(g) Community Safety 

There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

6. Background Papers 

There were no specific background papers used in the preparation of this 

report. Data directly from the Council’s financial management system was 

used in the report’s preparation. 

7. Appendices 
 

• Appendix A – HRA Revenue Outturn 2020/21 

• Appendix B – HRA Major Revenue Variance Explanations 

• Appendix C – HRA Revenue Carry Forward Requests 

• Appendix D – Housing Capital Investment Plan Outturn 2020/21 

• Appendix D Notes – Notes to the Housing Capital Investment Plan 

• Appendix D Notes (2) – Decent Homes and Other Investment in the 

Housing Stock Variance Explanations 

• Appendix E – HRA Write Offs 2020/21 

8. Inspection of Papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 

contact: 

Julia Hovells, Assistant Head of Finance & Business Manager 

Telephone: 01223 - 457248 or email: julia.hovells@cambridge.gov.uk. 

 

 
 

Page 60

mailto:julia.hovells@cambridge.gov.uk


Appendix A

Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation

Increase/ 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

£'s £’s £’s £’s £'s £’s

INCOME
Dwelling Rents (37,942,600) (38,006,650) (38,029,945) (23,295) 0 (23,295)

Rental Income (Other) (1,292,350) (1,272,130) (1,276,789) (4,659) 0 (4,659)

Service Charges (3,055,160) (3,482,850) (3,453,932) 28,918 0 28,918

Contributions towards Expenditure (654,850) (485,300) (485,078) 222 0 222

Other Income (Incl. RTB Capitalisation) (460,530) (86,960) (119,104) (32,144) 0 (32,144)

Total Income (43,405,490) (43,333,890) (43,364,848) (30,958) 0 (30,958)

EXPENDITURE
Supervision & Management (General) 3,721,290 3,842,560 3,687,157 (155,403) 109,300 (46,103)

Supervision & Management (Special) 3,146,150 3,009,570 2,977,051 (32,519) 21,300 (11,219)

Repairs & Maintenance 7,633,840 8,107,950 6,724,408 (1,383,542) 1,088,500 (295,042)

Depreciation 11,154,140 10,636,970 10,949,528 312,558 0 312,558

Other Expenditure 4,146,510 5,200,810 4,003,066 (1,197,744) 0 (1,197,744)

Total Expenditure 29,801,930 30,797,860 28,341,210 (2,456,650) 1,219,100 (1,237,550)

Net Cost of HRA Services (13,603,560) (12,536,030) (15,023,638) (2,487,608) 1,219,100 (1,268,508)

Interest Receivable (Interest on Balances & Item 8) (451,910) (375,370) (629,492) (254,122) 0 (254,122)

(Surplus) / Deficit on the HRA for the Year (14,055,470) (12,911,400) (15,653,130) (2,741,730) 1,219,100 (1,522,630)

Appropriations / Other Movement in the 

HRA Balance
Loan Interest 7,506,750 7,452,250 7,494,242 41,992 0 41,992

Housing Set-Aside (3,905,000) (3,905,000) 0 3,905,000 (3,905,000) 0

Impairment 0 0 0 0 0 0

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 14,182,120 15,078,520 4,794,330 (10,284,190) 10,284,200 10

Transfer to / from Ear-Marked Reserves 269,380 269,380 10,300 (259,080) 0 (259,080)

(Surplus) / Deficit for year 3,997,780 5,983,750 (3,354,258) (9,338,008) 7,598,300 (1,739,708)

(Surplus) / Deficit b/f (15,065,466) (15,065,466) (15,065,466)

Balance Carried Forward (11,067,686) (9,081,716) (18,419,724) 0 0 0

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy - MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Service Grouping

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Final  Outturn

Page 61



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£

City Homes

City Homes underspent due to reductions in operational costs as a result of the 

offices at 171 Arbury Road being closed during 2020/21 and funding to introduce 

safety measures into the homes of those at risk from domestic violence not being fully 

spent as a result of the coronavirus pandemic, combined with underspending in the 

funds ear-marked to support tenants through the transition to Universal Credit as a 

result of delays in recruiting to an additional post within the team. The postholder is 

now employed on a fixed term contact which will necessitate carry forward of the 

balance of funding into 2021/22 to be able to both fulfil their contract and to meet 

other costs associated with tackling the impact of welfare reforms. A carry forward of 

£61,300 has been identified.

(106,321)

HRA Central 

Provisions

Budgets set aside at strategic level for the HRA when budgets were set before the 

start of 2020/21 were not required in full. Allowances made for pay inflation were 

marginally greater than required, as were provisions for paying holiday pay on 

overtime worked. Contributions towards corporate activity were also lower than 

anticipated. 

(56,633)

Housing 

Transformation

Housing Transformation underspent, by £48,051, with the impact of the coronavirus 

pandemic resulting in holding off on some of the planned transformation activity in 

2020/21, instead focussing on the delivery of existing key services. Carry forward of 

the balance of the funding has been requested to allow continued funding of the 

Asbestos Surveyor who was only recruited in the latter part of 2020/21 on a 12 month 

contract.

(48,051)

R&R Fund nd 

Tenants Survey 

Expenditure

Expenditure on items for communal areas of sheltered schemes, replacement of 

emergency alarms and furniture, fixtures and fittings in temporary housing units. This 

expenditure is not budgeted for in year, but is fully funded from an ear-marked 

reserve set-aside specifically for this purpose.

32,607

Pension Deficit 

Contributions

The recharge to the HRA for it's share of the pension deficit contribution for 2020/21 

was marginally higher than budgeted.
15,512

Other 7,483

Total (155,403)

Ditchburn Place

Underspending is evident at Ditchburn Place due to the authority still carrying vacant 

extra care flats in the scheme. Letting has been taking place again for some time 

following initial inactivity as a result of the coronavirus pandemic, with risk 

assessments being carried out before any new resident is moved into the 

accommodation which has shared communal areas and is designated for older, 

vulnerable residents. Achieving and retaining full occupancy is sadly proving difficult.

(63,514)

Virido, Clay Farm

Overspending is evident in third party management costs for the affordable housing 

scheme at Virido, Clay Farm due predominantly to delayed invoicing by the 

management company in respect of the shared ownership units that proved 

impossible to sell and were converted to affordable rent and the actuals exercise for 

the previous financial year which resulted in additional recharges to the Council. 

Expenditure was also incurred in respect of unmetered water usage at the site 

(£28,032), but this was fully recovered from the developer, with the income to offset 

the expenditure shown elsewhere.

60,088

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

 Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets

Supervision and Management (General)

Supervision and Management (Special)

Page 62



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

 Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets

Estate Management

City Homes Estate Management costs were lower than anticipated, with less general 

estate based activity undertaken in 2020/21 during periods of lockdown and the shrub 

replacement programme being delayed from early spring until after 1st April, with the 

latter necessitating a carry forward of £21,300. 

(42,695)

R&R Fund 

Expenditure

Expenditure on IT and office equipment replacements coupled with the cots of the 

tenant survey conducted during 2020/21. This expenditure is not budgeted for in year, 

but is fully funded from ear-marked reserves set-aside specifically for these purposes.

42,205

Independent Living 

Service

The Independent Living Service underspent, with staff vacancies coupled with 

reductions in alarm expenditure as fewer new installations took place during 2020/21 

and therefore customer numbers and contract monitoring costs were reduced. This 

was partially offset by a loss of income as a result of the reduction in customer 

numbers caused by the coronavirus pandemic, which is shown elsewhere.

(44,938)

Temporary 

Accommodation

Temporary Housing overspent, with increased cleaning and council tax costs, both as 

a direct result of the coronavirus pandemic, with shared units only being able to be 

occupied by one individual or household and enhanced cleaning required at resident 

change over.  

44,439

General Sheltered 

Schemes

Sheltered housing schemes were also underspent in total, with a reduced level of 

general occupancy and associated spending during 2020/21 due to the vulnerable 

nature of the residents.

(34,955)

Other 6,851

Total (32,519)

Response Repairs

Day to day repairs underspent significantly in 2020/21, with less reliance on external 

sub-contractors, coupled with significantly reduced repair activity and some 

furloughed staff during 2020/21 as a result of the coronavirus pandemic with only 

essential repairs being delivered at many stages. Carry forward of £375,000 is 

requested to allow the anticipated backlog to be tackled in 2021/22.

(731,324)

Risk and Compliance

Risk and Compliance underspent, with the full programmes of fire door and electrical 

inspections and asbestos surveys not completed by March 2021, due to contractor 

capacity and access issues. There is a need to carry forward resource to complete 

these programmes. 

(249,637)

Planned Repairs

Planned repairs underspent as a result of reduced expenditure in respect of the PTR 

programme across the city, with delays due to the need to undertake remedial 

structural works in some areas, coupled with limited contractor capacity in others.

(163,110)

Estate Investment

The revenue aspects of the Estate Investment Scheme were underspent at 31 March 

2021, where works had been ordered but not all were completed by year end. The 

underspend is requested as a carry forward to allow the works to be completed in 

2021/22.

(118,104)

Repairs and Maintenance

Page 63



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

 Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets

Voids

Void repairs overspent, with resource that would usually be deployed delivering 

response repairs having been redirected into this area whilst response repair activity 

was limited as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. Increased activity was 

experienced later in the year, with a number of voids requiring significant works 

amongst these. Officers are exploring trends and the work of the new Tenancy 

Auditor should help to mitigate such costs going forward.   

64,477

Citywide Schemes

Cyclical repairs reported an underspend, with the programme of heat detector 

installations having suffered some delays, in part due to the coronavirus pandemic, 

which affected contractor capacity and caused access issues. The underspend in 

heat detectors, is partially offset by overspending in respect of sheltered scheme 

boiler servicing, where more failures were experienced. 

(93,958)

Asset Management 

and Compliance

Asset Management and Compliance reports an underspend for the year, 

predominantly due to vacancies within the team, with new posts created as part of the 

Estates and Facilities Service Review and restructure taking some time to fill and 

consultancy budgets not utilised in full.

(53,924)

Heat and Hot Water 

Servicing

Heat Servicing underspent, due in part to reduced levels of breakdown and failure. 

The authority continues to be compliant from a gas servicing perspective.
(53,646)

Client Repairs

Overspending was predominantly due to the cost of works that would otherwise have 

been met through an insurance claim if the authority didn't carry a 'stop loss' in their 

policy, with the first £250,000 each year being met in-house.

22,249

Other (6,565)

Total (1,383,542)

Page 64



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

 Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets

Depreciation

The level of depreciation charged to the HRA for 2020/21 was higher than anticipated 

based upon the opening value of the HRA asset base, coupled with a reduction of one 

year in the remaining useful life of the assets pending review of the remaining useful 

lives as part of the valuations to be undertaken in 2021/22.

312,558

Contribution to the 

Bad Debt Provision

A significant additional sum (£1,140,930) was added to the contribution to the bad debt 

provision budget as part of the HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy in response to the 

steep increase in rent arrears experienced between April and June 2020 as a result of 

the coronavirus pandemic. The adjustment was made assuming the trend would 

continue in some way for the remainder of the year, but proactive arrears management 

avoided any further increase in arrears by March 2021.   

(1,186,619)

Other (11,125)

Total (885,186)

Rental Income 

(Dwellings)

Dwelling rent income was very marginally higher than budgeted due to a combination of 

fewer right to buy sales in 2020/21 than anticipated, coupled with delays in vacating 

homes identified for demolition and re-development in Colville Road and Campkin 

Road, with those homes vacated in the earlier stages still being utilised for rough 

sleeper housing purposes, thus extending the income received for these properties.

(23,295)

Service Charges

Service charge income was under-achieved due in part to the 50% reduction made in 

building cleaning charges as a result of reduced service delivery by the contractor 

because of restrictions associated with the coronavirus pandemic.

28,918

Other Income
Other income is over-achieved due to the recharge to capital for the administrative costs 

of the right to buy process being greater than budgeted.
(32,144)

Other (4,437)

Total (30,958)

Other HRA Expenditure

HRA Income and Other

Page 65



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

 Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets

Direct Revenue 

Funding of Capital 

Expenditure (DRF)

Revenue financing of capital was considerably lower than anticipated due to overall 

underspending in the Housing Capital Programme. The underspending in the capital 

programme was due in part to the inability to deliver work that was brought about by the 

coronavirus pandemic and the associated restrictions. This funding will now be needed 

in future years.

(10,284,190)

Housing Set-Aside

When budgets were approved, the assumption was included that the HRA would draw 

down funds from the ear-marked reserve for debt repayment or future reinvestment in 

anew homes, to help fund new build schemes in 2020/21. Delays in the capital 

investment in respect of new build homes during 2020/21 mean that this resource will 

not now be drawn down until 2021/22.

3,905,000

Transfer to or from 

Ear-Marked Reserves

A transfer from R&R fund reserves to finance the next phase of costs of the 

replacement Housing Management Information System (£184,268) was combined with 

also drawing from the reserve to fund expenditure at 171 Arbury Road and in communal 

areas of sheltered schemes, emergency alarms and temporary housing. Funding was 

also drawn down form an ear-marked reserve to meet the costs of the tenants survey.  

(259,080)

Interest Received

The interest due to the HRA for 2020/21 was greater than anticipated due to the level of 

average revenue and capital balances which were held in the HRA during the year. 

Underspending in both revenue and capital budgets results in a greater level of 

reserves at year end than anticipated, and balances also included the remainder of the 

Devolution funding which was paid directly to the Council by MHCLG. 

(254,122)

Interest Paid

The budget for interest paid included the Item 8 interest adjustment for interest on 

notional internal borrowing or lending. For 2020/21 it was assumed to be internal lending 

to the General Fund, with the net budget reflecting this. In the accounts, the interest due 

in respect of this ahs been credited to interest received, and the £39,863 is therefore 

included in the figure above.

41,992

Other 0

Total (6,850,400)

(9,338,008)Total for Housing Revenue Account

HRA Interest, Premiums and Appropriations

Page 66



Appendix C

Request to Carry Forward Housing Revenue Account Budgets from 2020/21 into 2021/22 and future years

Item Request

£

Director - S Hemingway

Supervision and Management General

1

Housing Transformation - Housing Transformation activity has slowed or been delayed during 2020/21 as a result of 

the coronavirus pandemic, and the need to focus on the delivery of key services. Resource carried forward will allow 

officers to fulfil a commitment to funding an Asbestos Surveyor for 12 months, recognising that the appointment was 

delayed in 2020. The carry forward value will also allow for completion of the sustainability consultancy work, which 

was also being delivered from the 2020/21 transformation allocation.

48,000

2

City Homes - Project resource to support tenants through the transition from Housing Benefit to Universal Credit, with 

pressure on this resource anticipated as a result of the coronavirus pandemic and as more claimants need to report a 

change in circumstances.

60,100

3

City Homes - Due to the pandemic Government restrictions on works required to tenants’ homes which result in them 

having to be decanted to another property on a temporary basis have been delayed. When restrictions are lifted there 

will be backlog of these works which will result in the need to carry this budget forward to meet historic demand 

alongside arising need.

1,200

Supervision and Management Special

4
Estate Management - Due to Covid restrictions planting / shrub replacement has not been able to take place as 

scheduled. Once restrictions are lifted planting/shrub replacement will take place as planned.
21,300

Repairs and Maintenance

5

Cyclical Maintenance – Heat Detectors - Due to the coronavirus pandemic the start of these heat detector works was 

postponed until 1/8/20 and the contractor has experienced significant difficulties in gaining access to properties. The 

carry forward will allow continued heat detectors to be installed to meet the agreed programme.

122,500

6

Cyclical Maintenance – Smoke Detectors - Due to the coronavirus pandemic the start of these smoke detector works 

was postponed until 1/8/20 and the contractor has experienced significant difficulties in gaining access to properties. 

The carry forward will allow continued smoke detectors to be installed to meet the agreed programme.

16,600

7

Planned Repairs - PTR Programme - PTR works for Molewood / Hazelwood were not ordered as hoped in 2020/21 

and will slip into 2021/22 due to delays with the structural works required on site. Ditton Court was also placed on hold 

due to coronavirus restrictions, and other works were delayed due to contactor capacity. A carry forward is requested 

to meet these commitments in early 2021/22.

197,400

8

Day to Day Repairs - Day to day repairs significantly underspent in 2020/21 as a direct result of the coronavirus 

pandemic, with multiple periods throughout the year where only emergency or urgent jobs were being carried out. Also 

many tenants refused access at other points in the year when work could have been carried out. A backlog of 

response repair work is now being addressed in 2021/22 as restrictions allow. A carry forward request of £375,000 will 

be made to allow the use of sub-contractors or overtime to deliver the estimated backlog. It should be noted that the 

full extent of the pent up demand is not yet fully quantified.

375,000

9

Estate Investment Scheme -  For a number of reasons, including the coronavirus pandemic, estate works anticipated 

to take place in 2020/21 will not be delivered in full until 2021/22. A carry forward of the remaining budget will allow the 

committed expenditure to be delivered across the 5-year programme.

118,100

10

Risk and Compliance - Hardwire Testing - Due to Coronavirus the start of these works was postponed until 1/8/20 and 

the contractor has experienced significant difficulties in gaining access to properties. Carry forward of resource will 

allow the contractor to continue undertaking electrical hard wire tests, and to ensure that the backlog is addressed and 

the authority is compliant with legislation.

62,600

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 67



Appendix C

Request to Carry Forward Housing Revenue Account Budgets from 2020/21 into 2021/22 and future years

Item Request

£

Housing Committee - Housing Revenue Account

Revenue Budget 2020/21 - Carry Forward Requests

11

Risk and Compliance – Asbestos and Fire Door Inspections - The budgets for Asbestos and Fire Door Inspections 

have not been spent as intended due to access issues as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. These statutory 

programmes are intended to continue and instead be delivered / completed in 2021/22.

196,300

Appropriations

12

Underspending in the Housing Capital Programme in 2020/21 resulted in a reduced call upon revenue resources to 

fund capital expenditure. To ensure that any re-phased capital expenditure can be financed in 2021/22, it is requested 

to carry forward the approval to use the balance of revenue funding approved for 2020/21 into the following year. 

10,284,200

13

Underspending in the Housing Capital Programme in 2020/21 resulted in a reduced call upon revenue resources to 

fund capital expenditure as identified above. This in turn meant that the authority did not need to draw some of these 

resources from ear-marked reserves, but will instead need to do this in 2021/22.

(3,905,000)

Total Carry Forward Requests for Housing Revenue Account / Housing Scrutiny Committee 7,598,300

Page 68



APPENDIX D

 Budget

Original 

Budget

Current           

Budget  Outturn Variance

Re-phase 

Spend Notes 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Post 

2023/24 2021/22
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

General Fund Housing Capital Spend

Investment in Non-HRA Affordable Housing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other General Fund Housing 877 1,130 281 (849) 0 1 0 0 0 0 902

Total General Fund Housing Capital Spend 877 1,130 281 (849) 0 0 0 0 0 902

HRA Capital Spend

Decent Homes Programme 14,138 13,140 6,660 (6,480) 5,864 2 4,386 1,310 0 168 22,217

Other Spend on HRA Stock 3,762 4,743 2,003 (2,740) 2,503 3 2,503 0 0 0 5,683

HRA New Build 40,122 30,630 23,267 (7,363) 7,170 4 7,170 0 0 0 52,935

HRA Acquisition 1,500 4,383 1,834 (2,549) 2,549 5 2,549 0 0 0 2,549

Sheltered Housing Capital Investment 0 15 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other HRA Capital Spend 330 752 391 (361) 258 6 238 20 0 0 568

Inflation Allowance 266 266 0 (266) 266 7 266 0 0 0 1,005

Total HRA Capital Spend 60,118 53,929 34,170 (19,759) 18,610 17,112 1,330 0 168 84,957

Total Housing Capital Spend 60,995 55,059 34,451 (20,608) 18,610 17,112 1,330 0 168 85,859

Housing Capital Resources

Right to Buy Receipts (General Use) (478) (405) (468) (63) 0 8 0 0 0 0 (478)

Right to Buy Receipts (Retained for New Build / Acquisition) (10,217) (6,702) (2,446) 4,256 0 8 0 0 0 0 (6,131)

Right to Buy Receipts (Debt Set-Aside) 0 0 (266) (266) 0 8 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital Receipts (Shared Ownership) (300) (300) (68) 232 0 9 0 0 0 0 (300)

Other Capital Receipts (Land and Dwellings) 0 0 (301) (301) 0 9 0 0 0 0 0

MRA / MRR (5,878) (7,860) (7,103) 757 (757) 10 (589) 0 0 (168) (23,220)

Client Contributions 0 0 (271) (271) 0 11 0 0 0 0 0

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital (Including R&R) (14,182) (15,079) (4,794) 10,285 (10,284) 12 (10,284) 0 0 0 (29,417)

Other Capital Resources (Grants / Loan Repayments) (23,468) (17,288) (31,520) (14,232) 16,597 13 16,378 219 0 0 (1,932)

Prudential Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Housing Capital Resources (54,523) (47,634) (47,237) 397 5,556 5,505 219 0 (168) (61,478)

Net (Surplus) / Deficit of Resources 6,472 7,425 (12,786) (20,211) 22,617 1,549 0 0 24,381

Capital Balances b/f (42,323) (42,323) (42,323) (38,080)

Use of / (Contribution to) Balances in Year 6,472 7,425 (12,786) 22,617 1,549 0 0 24,381

Set-aside for future Debt Redemption 9,856 9,856 10,121

Ear-marked for specific Retained Right to Buy Receipts 1-4-1 Investment 10,635 10,635 6,908

Residual capital resources remaining to fund future Housing Investment 

Programme
(15,360) (14,407) (38,080) (13,699)

2020/21 Housing Capital Investment Plan - HRA & General Fund Housing

Re-Phasing Year

P
age 69



Appendix D Notes

Note

1

2

3

4

Notes to the Housing Capital Investment Plan

Reason for Variance

A net underspend of £2,740,000 was evident in 2020/21. Fire prevention works were underspent 

(£629,000), with the need to carry this forward into 2021/22, electrical works to communal areas was 

underspent by £146,000, with the need to carry this resource forward.  Underspending in Disabled 

Adaptations (£420,000) with £200,000 re-phased, lifts (£115,000) all re-phased, communal areas uplift 

(£82,000), all re-phased, asbestos removal (£31,000) all re-phased, hard-surfacing works (£57,000) all re-

phased, fire works (£629,000), all re-phased, communal electrical works (£146,000), all re-phased and 

communal doors (£329,000), all re-phased into 2021/22. Underspending in capitalised officers fees 

(£17,000) does not require re-phasing. Overspending in garage improvements (£14,000) and communal 

area floor coverings (£11,000) are also reported at year end. The capital funding for Estate Investment 

works, was underspent by £783,000 with all of the resource requested as a carry forward to complete the 

5 year programme. Underspending of £156,000 in respect of contractor overheads combines some 

slippage with the impact of underspending in other areas and £131,000 is requested to be re-phased. 

A net underspend of £6,480,000 in decent homes expenditure during 2020/21 is a combination of under 

and overspending against the specific decent homes elements. Overspending in roof structure (£144,000) 

and external doors (£86,000) is more than offset by underspending in bathrooms (£722,000), kitchens 

(£392,000), re-wiring (£147,000), energy and insulation works (£1,542,000), central heating (£506,000), 

sulphate (£102,000), other health and safety (£53,000), roof coverings (£199,000), HHSRS (£196,000), 

capitalised officer fees (£26,000), contractor overheads (£711,000), wall structure (£1,857,000), windows 

(£182,000), other external works (£73,000) and chimneys (£2,000). These variances are before 

accounting for leaseholder income, which is reported separately. Re-phasing of underspending in 2020/21 

into 2021/22 is requested in respect of energy improvements (£1,542,000), roof covering (£54,000), re-

wiring (£81,000), kitchens (£392,000), bathrooms (£279,000), wall structure (£1,050,000), windows 

(£182,000), HHSRS (£196,000), other health and safety works (£53,000), other external works (£73,000) 

and contractor overheads (£484,000). Some re-phasing of budgets is requested into later years in the 

programme, including central heating and boilers (£506,000), re-wiring (£66,000), bathrooms (£443,000), 

wall structure (£200,000), sulphate works (£102,000) and contractor overheads (£161,000) when the 

budget is now expected to be required. 

The net underspend of £7,363,000 in the new build programme in 2020/21 relates predominantly to delays 

in 4 schemes. Securing vacant possession of the sites at both Colville Road and Campkin Road took 

longer than anticipated, with the coronavirus pandemic making this more complex inn 2020/21, causing 

underspending of £1,692,000 and £1,682,000 respectively. Delays have also been experienced in the 

projects at the Meadows and Buchan Street and Clerk Maxwell, where delays in the planning process 

resulted in underspending of £1,072,000 and £586,000 respectively. Net re-phasing of £7,170,000 is 

required. Re-phasing of budget for Colville Road II (£1,692,000), Campkin Road (£1,682,000), Meadows 

and Buchan (£1,072,000), Clerk Maxwell (£586,000), Colville Road III (£539,000), L2 (£398,000), Anstey 

Way (£93,000), Akeman Street (£27,000), Ventress Close (£50,000), Kingsway (£58,000), Mill Road 

(£36,000), Cromwell Road (£57,000), Histon Road (£17,000), Ditton Walk (£60,000), Aragon Close 

(£98,000), Sackville Close (£99,000), Borrowdale (£98,000), POD Homes (£10,000), Queensmeadow 

(£1,000), Colville Road Garages (£1,000), Wulfstan Way (£1,000), Kendal Way (£1,000), Gunhild Way 

(£1,000) and Teddar Way (£1,000), is partially offset by negative re-phasing where spend is ahead of 

profile for Fen Road (£8,000). £500,000 of funding for early costs associated with the new 1,000 home 

programme is also requested as a carry forward into 2021/22 to supplement any land acquisitions. The 

profile of spending on all of these schemes will be reviewed again as part of the HRA Medium Term 

Financial Strategy. 

Disabled Facilities Grants were underspent by £747,000 predominantly due to reduced demand and 

limited access to the homes of potentially vulnerable clients in 2020/21 as a direct result of the coronavirus 

pandemic. No re-phasing has been requested as the funding through the Better Care Fund in 2021/22 is 

anticipated to be sufficient to meet demand. The authority will explore potential uses for the balance of 

funds held, but must ensure these comply with the grant conditions under which the funding was received. 

Private Sector Grants and Loans also reported an underspent (£102,000), where demand has reduced in 

recent years.                             

Page 70



5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

Budget of £2,482,000 was incorporated into the programme for land or property acquisitions to facilitate 

development. Of this £1,834,000 was spent and £648,000 is requested to be re-phased to allow one 

acquisition to complete when combined with the new homes programme funding of £500,000 

above.£1,901,000 of resource was included to allow the authority to acquire homes for rough sleeper 

accommodation, but this was not utilised at 31 March 2021. A number of purchases are now progressing, 

with  a request to carry forward the funds into 2021/22, when a new grant bid has been made to MHCLG 

for supplementary funding.

Devolution Grant received in 2020/21 was significantly greater than anticipated as a direct result of 

MHCLG making the final payment of £15,000,000 to the Council directly, as opposed to paying via the 

Combined Authority and the Combined Authority paying across all unclaimed sums at 31 March 2021 

(£7,785,000). The  grant received in advance of incurring expenditure in 2020/21 (£16,597,000) will be 

used in 2021/22. 

The use of revenue funding for capital purposes was less than anticipated, due to underspending across 

the capital programme. This resource will instead be required in 2021/22 to meet the cost of the re-phased 

capital  expenditure.

Income was recovered from leaseholders in 2020/21 in relation to their share of the cost of major 

improvements undertaken as part of the decent homes programme (£230,000) and was also received 

from private residents in relation to contributions towards DFG's or private sector housing repair grants 

(£41,000). 

16 properties were sold in total during 2020/21. £468,000 of the capital receipt is available for general use 

(after all costs have been deducted from each receipt), while £266,000 of the overall capital receipt is 

identified as set-aside to be offset against the debt associated with the unit no longer owned. A further 

£2,446,000 of right to buy receipts have been retained by the local authority in 2020/21, but must be re-

invested now in financing up to 40% of additional social housing units, provided this is done within a 5 year 

time frame. 

The inflation allowance of £266,000 was not allocated to schemes in 2020/21 due to the level of 

underspending. By re-phasing this into 2021/22 the allowance can be allocated where required once final 

scheme / contract values are known.

The major repairs reserve was used to finance capital expenditure in the housing stock in 2020/21, 

including investment in decent homes work and other investment in the housing stock. Where less of this 

funding was utilised in 2020/21 than anticipated, it will instead be utilised in 2021/22 and beyond.   

With little activity in respect of shared ownership housing in 2020/21, a net sum of £68,000 was retained 

once any sums due to MHCLG had been paid. A net capital receipt was recognised in 2020/21 in relation 

to the sale of an HRA dwelling as part of an agreement to secure vacant possession of a development 

site.

A net underspend of £361,000 in this area of the programme comprises reduced activity in respect of 

shared ownership re-purchase in 2020/21, giving rise to a £103,000 underspend, and underspending due 

to the need to recognise the revised timeframe required to implement the new Housing Management 

Information System (£238,000), with the latter requiring re-phasing into 2021/22. The underspend against 

funding for works to HRA commercial premises (£21,000) results in a request to re-phase £20,000 of 

resource into future years.

Page 71



Variance Explanations - Decent Homes and Other Investment in HRA Stock Appendix D Notes (2)

(£6,889,000)

(£1,478,000)

(£1,108,000)

£255,000 

(£9,220,000)

Decent Homes expenditure

 Value Rephasing  to 

20/21

Rephasing to 

future years

Explanation

Overspending

External doors £86,000 Additional doors were ordered to partially offset forecast  underspends in other parts 

of the programme

Roof structure £144,000 The  extent of structural  roofing repair work at Books Road cost more than the 

allocated budget. This was offset by the  underspend on  roof coverings

Underspending

Bathrooms (£722,000) £279,000 £443,000 Delivery of internal Decent Homes work was severely affected by national lockdowns 

and work did not start until September 2020 . In addition there was a large amount of 

"no access" (119 properties) partly due to Covid 19. There-phasing  is split over this 

year and future years as we do not expect to gain access to all these properties this 

year.

Kitchens (£392,000) £392,000 Delivery of internal Decent Homes work was severely affected by national lockdowns 

and work did not start until September 2020 . In addition there was a large amount of 

"no access" (61 properties) partly due to Covid 19. 

Re-wiring (£147,000) £81,000 £66,000 Delivery of internal Decent Homes work was severely affected by national lockdowns 

and work did not start until September 2020 . In addition there was a large amount of 

"no access" (89 properties) partly due to Covid 19. The slippage is split over this year 

and future years as we do not expect to gain access to all these properties this year.

Energy and insulation works (£1,542,000) £1,542,000 The contract for external wall insulation and PV panels to 80 properties was approved 

by Committee in September 2020 and  started on site in February 2021.  Work is   

due to be completed in July  2021. in addition, of 600 loft insulation jobs issued only 

150 were completed due to surveying delays and access issues as a result of Covid 

19.  

Central heating (£506,000) £506,000 The  underspend is a result  of access issues  to 237 properties.  This partly a result 

of Covid 19

Sulphate attack (£102,000) £102,000 This work is undertaken when a property becomes void - no affected property became 

void in 2020/21 so the budget is requested to be moved to later in the capital 

programme. 

Balconies (Other health and safety) (£53,000) £53,000 This underspend relates to unfinished structural work and associated repairs at 

Sackville Close flats. This work is on site but was delayed starting  due to Covid 19 

Roof coverings (£199,000) £54,000 The underspend is off set by the overspend on roof structure works.

HHSRS (£196,000) £196,000 A large part of the HHRSR programme was completed. External staircase works at 

Shelly Row had to be postponed for access reasons due to Covid 19.  Internal works 

were not programmed to start until  September 2020 due to national lockdowns. There 

was also  large amount of "no access" for internal works  - this work is carried forward 

to 20/21. 

Capitalised officer fees (£26,000) The value of officer time that can be capitalised each year depends upon the nature of 

work that is carried out by each member of the team. Underspends in a range of 

budgets account for this underspend in fees.

Contractor overheads (£711,000) £484,000 £161,000 Underspending in specific decent homes elements results in a corresponding 

underspend in contractor overheads.

Wall Structure (£1,857,000) £1,050,000 £200,000 There was a large underspend on this programme of work. Around £600,000 of this is 

savings as a result of competitive tenders  for work being less that the estimate cost. 

In addition some properties were omitted from works programmes as a result of them 

being added to the Council's redevelopment programme. Works at Hawkins Road and 

Ekin Road had delayed starts due to  national lockdowns.

Windows (£182,000) £182,000 A large part of the window programme was successful completed but Covid 19 

caused delays to the design / surveying process early in the year.  Later in the year 

after work had resumed there were national shortages in materials. 

Other external works (masonry painting) (£73,000) £73,000 2021/21 was the first year of the new masonry painting cycle. The property cycle 

follows the external  repair  and paint programme. So it is possible  this programme 

may have overspends in some years and underspends in others for the first 7-year 

cycle.

Chimneys (£2,000) There was a small budget for this work  and no work was required in 20/21

Total (£6,480,000) £4,386,000 £1,478,000 

Other Investment in the Housing Stock

Value Rephasing  to 

20/21

Rephasing to 

future years

Explanation

Overspending

Garage improvements £14,000 The overspend is  result  of additional works been ordered to compete both blocks of 

garages at Welstead Road at the same time 

Communal area floor coverings £11,000 Additional works were ordered at 38-82 Maitland Avenue so that flooring could be 

done at the same time as other works in this block.

Underspending

Fire prevention works were underspent, with 

the need to carry this forward into 2020/21

(£629,000) £629,000 The fire safety / prevention works programme contained a number of different 

elements in 2020/21.  Some of these were delayed and this is why the request is 

made to carry the budget forward to 2021/22.

Emergency lighting at Maitland Avenue and Albemarle Way  - the survey / design of 

work was delayed by Covid 19 .  Works are now priced and will be on site in summer 

2021. 

Fire escape from maisonettes 4.5m above ground level.  Pilot installations  were  

halted by coronavirus. Work did not resume until September 2020. Works are now 

progressing on site. The money needs to be carried forward to complete the 

programme. 

A net underspend of £6,480,000 in decent homes expenditure during 20/21 is a combination of under and overspending against the specific decent homes elements. 

A net underspend of £2,739,000 in other capital expenditure was evident in 2020/21. 

The capital underspend in respect of decent homes and other investment in the housing stock for 2020/21 can be summarised as follows, with more in depth explanations provided in the 

tables below:

Slippage – works ordered to be delivered in 2021/22

Slippage – works ordered to be delivered in future years 

Savings (from disability adaptations, structural works, contractor overheads, officer fees, roof covering, 

Overspending in doors, roof structure, garages and floor coverings

Page 72



Value Rephasing  to 

20/21

Rephasing to 

future years

Explanation

Fire compartment improvements  in five houses that have been converted into flats. 

There have been delays caused by access and lease issues. The money needs to be 

carried forward to address this risk in  21/22.

Fire alarm installation at Kingsway flats  - this work is in the design/ pricing  stage so 

the budget needs to be carried  forward to 21/22

Electrical works to communal areas (£146,000) £146,000 Work was originally planned at Edgecombe flats. Detailed surveys and design 

suggested the work was not as urgent as first thought. Work was not ordered.  Work 

is now planned for Kingway flats and this project is in the design stage. 

Disability Adaptations (£420,000) £200,000 Internal Decent Homes work was affected by national lockdowns and work did not 

start until September 2020 . In addition there were  access  and shielding issues in 

this client group due to Covid 19.  This work is based on   Occupational Therapist 

referrals - these did not take place in the national lockdowns.

Lifts (£115,000) £115,000 Work on lifts at three sheltered housing schemes could not take place as a result  of 

Covid 19 and the emergency work-only policy  in our sheltered housing schemes. 

Work has now resumed and these will be completed in 21/22

Communal area uplift (£82,000) £82,000 Work has been ordered at Edgecombe flats but the work was not completed by end 

March. This is being carried out in 21/22.

Asbestos removal (£31,000) £31,000 This work to communal areas was postponed until 21/22 due to Covid 19.

Hard-surfacing works (£57,000) £57,000 Most of the hard-surfacing works budget was spent.  A number of smaller trip hazards 

were ordered with our contractor and these had to be individually  surveyed and 

priced before work could start. The work was all ordered but not completed by 

Communal doors (£329,000) £329,000 £107,000 or work was ordered in 20/21 but was not completed by 31/3/21.  The 

remainder of the programme has been issued to our contractor but has not been 

priced. The work is still required and re-phasing  is requested to 21/22.

Capitalised officer fees (£17,000) £0 The value of officer time that can be capitalised each year depends upon the nature of 

work that is carried out by each member of the team. In 2019/20 there was an 

increase in the level of officer time spent on revenue activity, resulting in an 

underspend against the capital allocation.

Estate investment programme (£783,000) £783,000 The slippage relates to a street lamp column replacement  contract. There were delay 

completing survey work due to Covid 19. In addition there have been delays 

completing the procurement of this work.  The work is expected to start in summer 

2021.  

Contractor overheads  - combines some 

slippage with the impact of underspending 

in other areas and £109,000 is requested to 

be re-phased.

(£156,000) £131,000 Underspending in specific investment elements results in a corresponding 

underspend in contractor overheads.

Total (£2,740,000) £2,503,000 £0 

Page 73



Appendix E 

HRA Debts Written Off in 2020/21 

Write Off Cases by Category 

Write Off Category No. of Cases Value Written Off 

Bankruptcy / Insolvency 1 2,130.61 

Debt re-instated 1 (744.85) 

Debt relief order 8 14,244.94 

Debtor deceased 32 21,341.91 

Debtor is residing outside the UK 1 871.47 

Debtor untraceable 8 21,691.59 

Imprisonment 2 5,846.67 

Other special circumstances 3 4,322.11 

Statute barred 14 23,268.97 

Uneconomical to recover 7 541.67 

Recovery Procedures Exhausted 31 49,923.34 

Unable to Substantiate Debt 0 0.00 

Court has refused to make and order 0 0.00 
Balance of debt is small  3 5.43 

Total Written Off (Net) 111 143,443.86 

   
Write Off Value Band No. of Cases Value Written Off 

Less than £100 8 241.66 

£100.00 to £199.99 11 1,230.31 

£200.00 to £299.99 8 1,755.39 

£300.00 to £399.99 3 1,122.39 

£400.00 to £499.99 9 4,085.48 

£500.00 to £749.99 19 11,854.83 

£750.00 to £999.99 8 6,948.45 

£1,000.00 to £1,499.99 8 11,048.19 

£1,500.00 to £1,999.99 9 15,484.08 

£2,000.00 to £2,999.99 14 34,060.56 

£3,000.00 to £3,999.99 6 21,957.33 

£4,000.00 to £4,999.99 5 22,590.37 

Greater than £5,000.00 2 11,809.67 

Debt re-instated 1 (744.85) 

      

Total Written Off (Net) 111 143,443.86 

 

   

Page 74



STRATEGY & RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 12 July 2021 
 5.00 - 6.21 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Robertson (Chair), Bick, H. Davies, Dalzell, Healy 
and S. Smith 
 
Executive Councillor: Davey (Executive Councillor for Finance and 
Resources) 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 
(EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR FOR FINANCE AND RESOURCES - 

COUNCILLOR DAVEY) 

 
Annual Treasury Management (Outturn) Report 2020/21 
 
The Council was required by regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003, to produce an annual treasury report reviewing 
treasury management activities and the actual prudential and treasury 
indicators for each financial year.  
  
This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 (the Code) 
and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
2017 (the Prudential Code) in respect of 2020/21. 
  
During the 2020/21 the minimum requirements were that Council should 
receive:  
- An annual strategy in advance of the year  
- A mid-year treasury update report and;  
- An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy.  
   
In line with the Code of Practice on Treasury Management all treasury 
management reports have been presented to Strategy and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee and to Full Council.  
 
The Strategy and Resource Scrutiny Committee considered and 
approved the recommendations unanimously.  
 
Accordingly, Council is recommended to: 
 
Approve the report with the Council’s actual Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators for 2020/21. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 4b



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Report page no. 1 Agenda page no. 

 

Item  

ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT (OUTTURN) REPORT  

2020/21 

 

 

Key Decision  

1. Executive Summary 

1.1  The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local 

Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing 

treasury management activities and the actual prudential and treasury 

indicators for each financial year.  

 

1.2 This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Treasury 

Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 (the Code) 

and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

2017 (the Prudential Code) in respect of 2020/21. 

 

1.3 During 2020/21 the minimum requirements were that Council should 

receive:- 

• an annual strategy in advance of the year; 

To:  

The Executive Councillor for Finance & Resources: 

Councillor Mike Davey Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 

05/07/2021 

Report by:  

Caroline Ryba Head of Finance (The Council’s Section 151 Officer) Tel: 

01223 458134  Email: caroline.ryba@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All Wards 

Page 77



 

 
Report page no. 2 Agenda page no. 

 

 

• a mid-year treasury update report; and 

• an annual review following the end of the year describing the 

activity compared to the strategy (this report). 

 

1.4 In line with the above Codes of Practice, all treasury management 

reports are presented to both Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 

and to full Council. 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The Executive Councillor is asked to recommend this report to Council, 

which includes the Council’s actual Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

for 2020/21. 

 

3.  Background 

3.1 This report summarises:  

• capital expenditure and financing activity during the year; 

• the impact of capital spending on the Council’s ‘need to borrow’; 

• the Council’s compliance with prudential and treasury indicators; 

• the treasury management position as at 31st March 2021 

(Appendix A); 

• the Council’s treasury management advisors’ view on UK interest 

and investment rates (Appendix B); 

• the actual prudential and treasury indicators (Appendix C); 

• the counterparty List (Appendix D); and 

• a Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations (Appendix E). 

 

4. Capital Expenditure and Financing 2020/21 

4.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets. These 

activities may either be: 

• financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue 

resources (capital receipts, capital grants, developer 

Page 78



 

 
Report page no. 3 Agenda page no. 

 

 

contributions, revenue contributions, reserves etc.), which has no 

resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

• if insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to 

apply other resources, the funding of capital expenditure will give 

rise to a borrowing need. 

 

4.2 Actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential 

indicators. The table below shows actual capital expenditure and how 

this was financed. 

 

 * Per Annual Treasury Management Strategy Report agreed by Council on 25 February  

    2020. 

 

5. Overall borrowing need and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

Statement 

5.1 MRP is the revenue charge that the Council is required to make for the 

repayment of debt, as measured by the underlying need to borrow, 

rather than actual debt. The underlying debt is needed to finance capital 

expenditure which has not been fully financed by revenue or capital 

resources. As capital expenditure is generally expenditure on assets 

which have a life expectancy of over one year it is prudent to charge an 

 
2019/20 

£’000 
Actual 

2020/21 
£’000 

Budget * 

2020/21 
£’000 

Actual 

General Fund capital expenditure 19,914 34,839 16,771 

HRA capital expenditure 37,741 60,118 34,170 

Total capital expenditure 57,655 94,957 50,941 

    

Resourced by:    

• Capital receipts (14,298) (10,695) (11,040) 

• Other contributions (33,554) (52,843) (28,575) 

Total available resources for 
financing capital expenditure 

 
(47,852) 

 
(63,538) 

 
(39,615) 

 
Financed from/(to) cash balances 

 
9,803 

 
31,419 

 
11,326 

Page 79



 

 
Report page no. 4 Agenda page no. 

 

 

amount for the repayment of debt over the life of the asset or some 

similar proxy figure. 

 

5.2 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) regulations 

require local authorities to calculate for the financial year an amount of 

MRP which is considered to be ‘prudent’. 

 

5.3 The Council’s MRP policy for 2020/21 was set out in the Annual 

Treasury Management Strategy agreed by Council on 25 February 

2020. Under this policy, MRP of £306,000 has been charged in respect 

of 2020/21. 

 

5.4 Local authorities are also permitted to make additional Voluntary 

Revenue Provision charges in order to accelerate the financing of 

underlying debt, and reduce annual MRP charges in the future. 

 

5.5 No Voluntary Revenue Provision charges were made during 2020/21. 

As at 31 March 2021, the cumulative total of Voluntary Revenue 

Provision charges made in previous years was £9,545,000. 

 

5.6  During 2020/21, there was no requirement for external borrowing. 
Financing of capital expenditure from cash balances of £11,326,000 
shown in the above table was met using internal borrowing. 

 

6. External Debt as at 31 March 2021 

6.1 The table below shows the Council’s outstanding debt and headroom 
(the amount of additional borrowing that is possible without breaching 
the Authorised Borrowing Limit) as at 31 March 2021: 

 

 

 

Page 80



 

 
Report page no. 5 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 

6.2 At present the only debt held by the authority relates to the twenty loans 
from the PWLB for self-financing the HRA. 

 

7. Treasury Position as at 31 March 2021 

7.1 The Council’s debt and deposit position is managed in order to ensure 

adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 

deposits, and to manage risk in relation to all treasury management 

activities. Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are well 

established both through the application of approved Treasury 

Management Practices and regular reporting to Members.  

 
7.2 All funds are internally managed. 

 
7.3 The tables below provide a comparison of deposit activity and outturn 

for 2020/21 against 2019/20. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Principal (£’000) 

Authorised Borrowing Limit (A) – agreed by Council 
on 17 October 2019 

400,000 

PWLB Borrowing (for HRA Self-Financing, B) 213,572 

Headroom (A minus B) 186,428 

External borrowing in 2012/13 to 2020/21 
 

NIL 

Total current headroom 186,428 

Page 81



 

 
Report page no. 6 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
Actual  
Returns
  

2020/21 2019/20 

Deposit Type 
Average 

Deposits (£m) 
Average Rate of 

Return 
Average Deposits 

(£m) 
Average Rate of 

Return 

Fixed Short-Term        
(<365 days) 

64.26 0.58% 58.42 1.09% 

Call/Overnight 
Accounts 

1.71 0.00% 2.21 0.62% 

Enhanced Cash Funds 15.00 0.81% 13.51 0.94% 

Fixed Long-Term 
(>365 days) 

12.20 1.74% 20.30 1.33% 

Money Market Funds 19.82 0.15% 14.77 0.74% 

CCLA Local 
Authorities’ Property 

Fund 
15.00 4.43% 15.00 4.30% 

Overall Deposit 
Return 

127.99 1.09% 124.21 1.45% 

Benchmark 
Returns
  

2020/21 2019/20 

 
Offer 

(LIBOR) 
Bid 

(LIBID) 
Offer 

(LIBOR) 
Bid 

(LIBID) 

Average 0.14% 0.02% 0.75% 0.63% 

 

Note:  
The ‘Benchmark Return’ figures are based upon Global Rates (national 
interest rate reporting website) average money market LIBOR and 
LIBID rates for periods between 1 night and 1 year as at 31st March 
2021. 

  
7.4 Total interest and dividends of £1,383,000 have been earned on the 

Council’s deposits during 2020/21 (2019/20: £1,839,000) at an average 
rate of 1.09% (1.45% in 2019/20). This has resulted in an overall over-
achievement on the interest and dividends income budget of £93,000. 

 
7.5 The figures at paragraph 7.4 above included interest earned on CCLA 

Local Authorities’ Property Fund deposits of £692,000 (2019/20: 

Page 82



 

 
Report page no. 7 Agenda page no. 

 

 

£679,000), which equated to an annual yield of 4.43% (4.30% in 
2019/20).  
 

7.6 A summary of deposits is shown at Appendix A. 
 
8.  Interest Rate Update  

8.1 Link Asset Services is the Council’s independent treasury advisor. In 
support of effective forecasting the Council needs to be aware of the 
potential influence of market interest and investment rates. Link’s 
opinion is presented at Appendix B, and provides an overview as at 31 
March 2021. 

8.2 The Bank of England’s May 2021 Inflation Report gives additional 
information on growth, inflation and interest rates. The Bank of 
England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) noted that the future 
outlook for growth remains unhealthy following the COVID-19 
Pandemic. The Bank of England’s Base Rate was kept at 0.10% 
(previously 0.25%, with 9 to 0 majority), with quantitative easing kept at 
£895 billion. Noticeable decreases in employment were observed with 
around 8 million employees being ‘furloughed’ using Government 
initiatives, such as the Job Retention Scheme. 

8.3 CPI inflation reduced during March 2021 to around 1.5%. The MPC 
sets monetary policy to meet the 2% inflation target, which helps to 
sustain growth and employment. This is close to the current CPI 
inflation rate. Growth forecasts are also expected to fall significantly. 

 
9.  Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

9.1 During the financial year the Council operated within the ‘authorised’ 
and ‘operational’ borrowing limits contained within the Prudential 
Indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. The outturn for Prudential and Treasury Indicators is shown 
in Appendix C. 

 
 
10. Revisions to the Counterparty List 
 
10.1 Following a review of rating agency methodology changes, Link 

continues to revise its recommendations on counterparties and 

Page 83



 

 
Report page no. 8 Agenda page no. 

 

 

appropriate durations. The Council follows Link’s recommendations as 
reflected in the current Counterparty List at Appendix D. 

 
 
11.  Implications 

(a) Financial Implications 

Interest payable and receivable are reflected in the Council’s existing    
budgets and reviewed appropriately.    

   

(b) Staffing Implications 

None 
 

(c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

None 

 

(d) Environmental Implications 

None 

 

(e) Procurement Implications 

None 

 

(f) Community Safety Implications 

None 

 

12.  Consultation and communication considerations 

      None required 

 

13.  Background papers 

      No background papers were used in the preparation of this report 

Page 84



 

 
Report page no. 9 Agenda page no. 

 

 

14.  Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Treasury Management position as at 31 March 2021 
Appendix B – Link’s opinion on UK interest and investment rates 
Appendix C – Prudential and Treasury Management indicators  
Appendix D – Current Counterparty List 
Appendix E – Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations 
 

15.  Inspection of papers 

 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

 
         Author’s Name: Stephen Bevis 
         Author’s Tel. No.  01223 458153 
         Author’s Email:  stephen.bevis@cambridge.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



 

 
Report page no. 10 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix A 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2021 
 

  CURRENT DEPOSITS 

The Council’s deposits as at 31 March 2021 are shown in the table below: 
 

Counterparty % Rate Duration 
Principal 

(£’000) 

Fixed Term Deposits    

Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 0.10 6 months           6,000  

Plymouth City Council 0.45 9 months         10,000  

Cornwall County Council 0.05 4 months           5,000  

Warrington Borough Council 0.06 3 months         10,000  

South Somerset District Council 0.08 3 months           5,000  

Ashford Borough Council 0.05 6 months           5,000  

Surrey Heath Borough Council 0.05 6 months           2,000  

Guildford Borough Council 0.05 6 months           5,000  

London Borough of Haringey 0.12 6 months           5,000  

Surrey Heath Borough Council 0.12 6 months           2,000  

Mid Suffolk District Council 0.12 6 months           3,000  

Rugby Borough Council 1.60 2 years           5,000  

Rugby Borough Council 1.60 2 years           5,000  

Allia Ltd 2.40 5 years           2,200  

Total Fixed Term Deposits   70,200 

    

Variable Rate Notice Accounts    

Barclays Bank Plc 0.00 Same Day 1,276 

CCLA Local Authorities’ Property Fund 4.42 5 years 15,000 

CCLA - The Public Sector Deposit Fund (Class 4) 0.04 Same Day 13,500 

Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 0.52 4 Day 5,000 

Royal London Cash Plus Fund Y (Gross Inc) 0.37 3 Day 5,000 

JP Morgan Managed Reserves Fund 1.10 2 Day 5,000 

Total Variable Rate Notice Accounts   44,776 

   10 

TOTAL  - - 114,976 

The above deposits include any forward-deals or forward-renewals that have been agreed 
(i.e. where the deposit/renewal will take place at a future date). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 86



 

 
Report page no. 11 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix B 

 
LINK’S OPINION ON UK INTEREST AND INVESTMENT RATES 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2021  
 

UK. The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) kept Bank Rate and quantitative 
easing (QE) unchanged on 4th February. However, it revised its economic forecasts to take 
account of a third national lockdown which started on 5th January, which is obviously going to delay 
economic recovery and do further damage to the economy. Moreover, it had already decided in 
November to undertake a further tranche of quantitative easing (QE) of £150bn, to start in January 
when the previous programme of £300bn of QE, announced in March to June 2020, finished. As 
only about £16bn of the latest £150bn tranche had been used towards the end of January, it felt 
that there was already sufficient provision for QE - which would be made to last to the end of 2021. 
This implied that the current rate of purchases of £4.4bn per week would be slowed during the 
year.  
 
Although its short-term forecasts were cut for 2021, the medium-term forecasts were more 
optimistic than in November, based on an assumption that the current lockdown will be gradually 
eased after Q1 as vaccines are gradually rolled out and life can then start to go back to some sort 
of normality. The Bank’s main assumptions were: 
 

• The economy would start to recover strongly from Q3 2021. 

• £125bn of savings made by consumers during the pandemic will give a significant boost to the 
pace of economic recovery once lockdown restrictions are eased and consumers can resume 
high street shopping, going to pubs and restaurants and taking holidays. 

• The economy would still recover to reach its pre-pandemic level by Q1 2022 despite a long 
lockdown in Q1 2021. 

• Spare capacity in the economy would be eliminated in Q1 2022. 

• The Bank also expects there to be excess demand in the economy by Q4 2022. 

• Unemployment will peak at around 7.5% during late 2021 and then fall to about 4.2% by the 
end of 2022. This forecast implies that 0.5m foreign workers will have been lost from the UK 
workforce by their returning home. 

• CPI inflation was forecast to rise quite sharply towards the 2% target in Q1 2021 due to some 
temporary factors, (e.g. the reduction in VAT for certain services comes to an end) and given 
developments in energy prices. CPI inflation was projected to be close to 2% in 2022 and 
2023. It is currently expected to peak briefly above 2% during 2021 due to one off effects from 
a year ago. 

• The Monetary Policy Report acknowledged that there were downside risks to their forecasts 
e.g. from virus mutations, will vaccines be fully effective, how soon can tweaked vaccines be 
devised and administered to deal with mutations?  There are also issues around achieving 
herd immunity around the world from this virus so that a proliferation of mutations does not 
occur which prolong the time it takes for the global economy to fully recover. 

• The Report also mentioned a potential upside risk as an assumption had been made that 
consumers would only spend £6bn of their savings of £125bn once restrictions were eased. 
However, the risk is that that consumers could spend a lot more and more quickly. 

• The Bank of England also removed negative interest rates as a possibility for at least six 
months as financial institutions were not yet ready to implement them. As in six months’ time 
the economy should be starting to grow strongly, this effectively means that negative rates 
occurring are only a slim possibility in the current downturn. However, financial institutions have 
been requested to prepare for them so that, at a future time, this could be used as a monetary 

Page 87



 

 
Report page no. 12 Agenda page no. 

 

 

policy tool if deemed appropriate. (Gilt yields and PWLB rates jumped upwards after the 
removal of negative rates as a key risk in the short-term.) 

• Prior to 4th February, the MPC’s forward guidance outlined that the sequencing of a 
withdrawal of monetary policy support would be that Bank Rate would be increased first, and 
only once it had reached a certain level, ‘around 1.5%’, before a start would be made on 
winding down the stock of asset purchases made under QE. However, the MPC decided at the 
February meeting that this policy should be reviewed as to whether a start should be made first 
on winding down QE rather than raising Bank Rate. 

• The MPC reiterated its previous guidance that Bank Rate would not rise until inflation was 
sustainably above 2%. This means that it will tolerate inflation running above 2% from time to 
time to balance out periods during which inflation was below 2%. This is termed average 
inflation targeting.  

• The Budget 3rd March. The Chancellor provided more short term support for jobs and the 
economy so this is likely to mean that there is upside risk to the Bank of England’s forecasts in 
its quarterly report in February, for the strength and speed of recovery of the economy during 
2021. The Budget also uses higher taxes from 2023/24 to reverse support quicker which will 
mean that the public deficit will decline almost back to pre-pandemic levels by 2025/26. 

 

The following table shows when Link predict interest rates will rise, together with an estimate of 
other interest rates. Link estimate that the Bank Rate will not rise for the foreseeable future. 

 
 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 

BANK RATE 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 

    

5yr PWLB 1.20% 1.20% 1.20% 1.20% 1.20% 1.20% 1.40% 1.40% 1.40% 1.40% 1.50% 

1Oyr PWLB 1.70% 1.70% 1.70% 1.70% 1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.00% 

25yr PWLB 2.20% 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 

50yr PWLB 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.10% 2.20% 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30% 

 

Link’s Issue Date:- 19 March 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

 
Report page no. 13 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix C 
 
 

PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS  
 

 
Actual 

2019/20 
£’000 

Budget1 
2020/21 
£’000 

Actual 
2020/21 
£’000 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS    

 
   

Capital expenditure  
   

 - General Fund 19,914 34,839 16,771 

 - HRA 37,741 60,118 34,170 

Total 57,655 94,957 50,941 

    

Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR) as at 31 March 

   

 - General Fund 69,596 73,826 77,797 

 - HRA 205,835 214,321 208,654 

Total 275,431 288,147 286,451 

Change in the CFR2 45 12,716 11,020 

    

Deposits at 31 March3  
 

109,646 
 

 
60,600 

 
114,976 

    

External Gross Debt           213,572 223,316 213,572 

    

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream 

   

 
-General Fund 

 
-5.65% 

 
-10.02% 

 
-2.62% 

-HRA 16.64% 16.22% 15.90% 
 
1  Per Annual Treasury Management Strategy Report agreed by Council on 25 February 2020 
2  After accounting for MRP charge of £306,000 (2019/20: £213,000) and Voluntary Revenue 

Provision charge of nil (2019/20: £9,545,000)  
3  As per the Council’s Balance Sheet.  

Page 89



 

 
Report page no. 14 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
Actual 
2019/20 
£’000 

Budget1 
2020/21 
£’000 

Actual 
2020/21 
£’000 

TREASURY INDICATORS    

    

Authorised limit    

for borrowing 400,000 400,000 400,000 

for other long term liabilities 0 2,000 0 

Total 400,000 402,000 400,000 

    

Operational boundary    

for external borrowing 280,431 293,147 291,451 

for other long term liabilities 0 1,699 0 

Total 280,431 294,846 291,451 

 
Upper limit for total principal 
sums deposited for over 364 days 
& up to 5 years 

 
 
 

50,000 

 
 
 

50,000 

 
 
 

50,000 

    

Upper limit for fixed & variable 
interest rate exposure    

Net interest on fixed rate 
borrowing/deposits 5,655 5,075 6,113 

    

Net interest on variable rate 
borrowing/deposits -15 -15 -15 

Maturity structure of new fixed 
rate borrowing  

 Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

10 years and above (PWLB 
borrowing for HRA Reform) 

 
100% 100% 

 
1  Per Annual Treasury Management Strategy Report agreed by Council on 25 February 2020 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



 

 
Report page no. 15 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix D 

Current Counterparty List  

The full listing of approved counterparties is shown below, showing the 
category under which the counterparty has been approved, the appropriate 
deposit limit and current duration limits (*references have now been made to 
RFB & NRFB for UK Banks, with explanations within the Glossary at Appendix 
E).  
 
 

Name 
Council’s 
Current 

Deposit Period 
Category Limit (£) 

Specified Investments:- 

All UK Local 
Authorities 

N/A Local Authority 20m 

All UK Passenger 
Transport Authorities 

N/A 
Passenger 

Transport Authority 
20m 

All UK Police 
Authorities 

N/A Police Authority 20m 

All UK Fire Authorities N/A Fire Authority 20m 

Debt Management 
Account Deposit 
Facility 

N/A DMADF Unlimited 

Barclays Bank Plc – 
NRFB* 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Bank 35m  

HSBC Bank Plc – 
NRFB* 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Bank 20m 

HSBC UK Bank Plc – 
RFB* 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Bank 20m 

Standard Chartered 
Bank 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Bank 20m  

Bank of Scotland Plc 
(BoS) – RFB* 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Bank 20m 

Lloyds Bank Plc – 
RFB* 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Bank 20m 

National Westminster 
Bank Plc (NWB) – 
RFB* 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Nationalised 
Bank 

20m 

Santander UK Plc 
Using Link’s 

Credit Criteria 
UK Bank 5m 

Page 91



 

 
Report page no. 16 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Name 
Council’s 
Current 

Deposit Period 
Category Limit (£) 

The Royal Bank of 
Scotland Plc (RBS) – 
RFB* 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Nationalised 
Bank 

20m 

Other UK Banks 
Using Link’s 

Credit Criteria 
UK Banks 20m 

Members of a Banking 
Group 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

UK Banks and UK 
Nationalised Banks 

30m 

Svenska 
Handelsbanken 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

Non-UK Bank 5m 

Enhanced Cash Funds 
(Standard & Poor’s: 
AAAf/S1, Fitch: 
AAA/S1) 

Over 3 months 
and up to 1 year  

Financial 
Instrument 

10m  
(per single 

counterparty)  

Enhanced Money 
Market Funds (not 
below AAf) - VNAV 

Over 3 months 
and up to 1 year 

Financial 
Instrument 

5m (per fund) 

Money Market Funds 
(AAAf) – CNAV, VNAV 
& LVNAV  

Liquid Rolling 
Balance 

Financial 
Instrument 

15m (per fund) With 
no maximum limit 

overall 

Custodian of Funds 

Requirement for 
Undertaking 

Financial 
Instruments 

Fund Managers 
Up to 15m  
(per single 

counterparty) 

UK Government 
Treasury Bills  

Up to 6 months 
Financial 

Instrument 
15m 

 Other Specified Investments - UK Building Societies:- 

Name 
Council’s 
Current 

Deposit Period 

Society Asset 
Value (£’m) – as at 

16 April 2021 
Limit (£) 

Nationwide Building 
Society 

1 month or in 
line with Link’s 

Credit Criteria, if 
longer 

245,732 
 

Assets greater than 
£100,000m  

- £20m 
 

Assets between 
£50,000m and 

£99,999m 
- £5m 

 

Yorkshire Building 
Society 

57,786 

Coventry Building 
Society 

50,781 

Skipton Building 
Society 

26,658 

Leeds Building Society 20,725 

Principality Building 
Society 

10,912 

Page 92



 

 
Report page no. 17 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Name 
Council’s 
Current 

Deposit Period 
Category Limit (£) 

West Bromwich 
Building Society 

5,565 
Assets between 

£5,000m and 
£49,999m  - £2m 

Non-Specified Investments:- 

Name 
Council’s 
Current 

Deposit Period 
Category Limit (£) 

All UK Local 
Authorities – longer 
term limit 

Over 1 year and 
up to 5 years 

Local Authority Up to 35m (in total) 

Cambridge City 
Council Housing 
Working Capital Loan 
Facility* 

Up to 1 year Loan 

 
200,000 

CCHC Investment*  Rolling Balance 
Loan (Asset 

Security) 
7,500,000 

Cambridge Investment 
Partnership (Mill 
Road)* 

Rolling Balance 
Loan (Asset 

Security) 
17,800,000 

Cambridge Investment 
Partnership (Cromwell 
Road)* 

Rolling Balance 
Loan (Asset 

Security) 
48,300,000 

CCLA Local 
Authorities’ Property 
Fund 

Minimum of 5 
years 

Pooled UK 
Property Fund 

 
Up to 15m 

Certificates of Deposit 
(with UK Banking 
Institutions) 

Liquid Rolling 
Balance 

Financial 
Instrument 

15m  
(per single 

counterparty)  

Certificates of Deposit 
(with UK Building 
Societies) 

Liquid Rolling 
Balance 

Financial 
Instrument 

2m  
(per single 

counterparty)  

Certificates of Deposit 
(with Foreign Banking 
Institutions) 

Liquid Rolling 
Balance 

Financial 
Instrument 

2m  
(per single 

counterparty)  

Commercial Property 
Investments funded 
from cash balances 

Over 1 year 
Commercial 

Property 
25m (in total) 

Municipal Bonds 
Agency 

N/A 
Pooled Financial 

Instrument Facility 
50,000 

Page 93



 

 
Report page no. 18 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Name 
Council’s 
Current 

Deposit Period 
Category Limit (£) 

Secured Local Bond in 
Local Businesses – 
Using Allia Limited 

N/A 
Local Business 

Bond 
Up to £5m in total 

Enhanced Cash Funds 
(Standard & Poor’s: 
AAAf/S1, Fitch: 
AAA/S1) 

Over 1 year and 
up to 5 years 

Financial 
Instrument 

10m  
(per single 

counterparty)  

Enhanced Money 
Market Funds (not 
below AAf) - VNAV 

Over 1 year and 
up to 5 years 

Financial 
Instrument 

5m (per fund) 

Municipal Bonds 
Agency 

N/A 
Pooled Financial 

Instrument Facility 
50,000 

Secured Local Bond in 
Local Businesses – 
Using Allia Limited 

N/A 
Local Business 

Bond 
Up to £5m in total 

Supranational Bonds – 
AAA 

Using Link’s 
Credit Criteria 

Multi-lateral 
Development Bank 

Bond 
15m 

UK Government Gilts 
Over 1 year & 
up to 30 Years 

Financial 
Instrument 

15m  

 
Note: In addition to the limits above, the total non-specified items over 1 year (excluding 
balances with related parties) will not exceed £50m. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



 

 
Report page no. 19 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix E 

Treasury Management – Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations 

Term Definition 

Authorised Limit for 
External Borrowing 

Represents a control on the maximum level of 
borrowing 

Capital Expenditure 

Expenditure capitalised in accordance with 
regulations i.e. material expenditure either by 
Government Directive or on capital assets, 
such as land and buildings, owned by the 
Council (as opposed to revenue expenditure 
which is on day to day items including 
employees’ pay, premises costs and supplies 
and services) 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

A measure of the Council’s underlying 
borrowing need, i.e. it represents the total 
historical outstanding capital expenditure 
which has not been paid for from either 
revenue or capital resources 

Certificates of Deposit 
(CDs) 

Low risk certificates issued by banks which 
offer a higher rate of return 

CIP Cambridge Investment Partnership 

CIPFA   
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy 

Corporate Bonds Financial instruments issued by corporations 

Counterparties 
Financial institutions with which funds may be 
placed 

Credit Risk 
Risk of borrower defaulting on any type of debt 
by failing to make payments which it is 
obligated to do 

Enhanced Cash Funds 
Higher yielding funds typically for investments 
exceeding 3 months 

Eurocurrency 
Currency deposited by national governments 
or corporations in banks outside of their home 
market 

External Gross Debt 
Long-term liabilities including Private Finance 
Initiatives and Finance Leases 

Government CNAV 
Highly liquid sovereign stock based on a 
Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV) 

Page 95



 

 
Report page no. 20 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Term Definition 

HRA  
Housing Revenue Account - a ringfenced 
account for local authority housing account 
where a council acts as landlord 

HRA Self-Financing 
A new funding regime for the HRA introduced 
in place of the previous annual subsidy system 

London Interbank Offered 
Rate (LIBOR) 

A benchmark rate that some of the leading 
banks charge each other for short-term loans 

London Interbank Bid 
Rate (LIBID) 

The average interest rate at which major 
London banks borrow Eurocurrency deposits 
from other banks 

Liquidity 
A measure of how readily available a deposit 
is 

Low Volatility Net asset 
Value (LVNAV) 

Highly liquid sovereign stock based on a 
Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV) 

MHCLG  

Ministry for Housing, Department for 
Communities & Local Government (formerly 
the Department for Communities & Local 
Government, DCLG) 

MPC  
Monetary Policy Committee - The Bank of 
England Committee responsible for setting the 
UK’s bank base rate 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) 

Revenue charge to finance the repayment of 
debt 

NHBC National House Building Council 

Non Ring Fenced Bank 
(NRFB) 

Government and Bank of England rules will 
apply to all UK Banks which have to split their 
business into ‘core’ retail and investment units 
known as Ring and Non Ring Fenced Banks 
for the 1st January 2019 deadline 

Non-Specified 
Investments 

These are investments that do not meet the 
conditions laid down for Specified Investments 
and potentially carry additional risk, e.g. 
lending for periods beyond 1 year 

Operational Boundary 
Limit which external borrowing is not normally 
expected to exceed 

Page 96



 

 
Report page no. 21 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Term Definition 

PWLB   

Public Works Loans Board  - an Executive 
Government Agency of HM Treasury from 
which local authorities and other prescribed 
bodies may borrow at favourable interest rates 

Quantitative Easing (QE) 

A financial mechanism whereby the Central 
Bank creates money to buy bonds from 
financial institutions, which reduces interest 
rates, leaving businesses and individuals to 
borrow more. This is intended to lead to an 
increase in spending, creating more jobs and 
boosting the economy 

Ring Fenced Bank (RFB) 

Government & Bank of England rules will 
apply to all UK Banks which have to split their 
business into ‘core’ retail and investment units 
known as Ring and Non Ring Fenced Banks 
for the 1st January 2019 deadline 

Security 
A measure of the creditworthiness of a 
counter-party 

Specified Investments 

Those investments identified as offering high 
security and liquidity. They are also sterling 
denominated, with maturities up to a maximum 
of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ credit 
rating criteria where applicable 

Supranational Bonds Multi-lateral Development Bank Bond 

UK Government Gilts 
Longer term Government securities with 
maturities over 6 months and up to 30 years 

UK Government Treasury 
Bills 

Short term securities with a maximum maturity 
of 6 months issued by HM Treasury 

Variable Net Asset Value 
MMF values based on daily market 
fluctuations to 2 decimal places known as 
mark-to-market prices 

Weighted Average Life 
(WAL) 

Weighted average length of time of unpaid 
principal 

Weighted Average 
Maturity (WAM) 

Weighted average amount of time to maturity 

Yield Interest, or rate of return, on an investment 
  
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGY & RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 12 July 2021 
 5.00 - 6.21 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Robertson (Chair), Bick, H. Davies, Dalzell, Healy 
and S. Smith 
 
Executive Councillor: Davey (Executive Councillor for Finance and 
Resources) 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL  

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR FOR FINANCE AND RESOURCES - 
COUNCILLOR DAVEY 

2020/21 General Fund Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards 
and Significant Variances  
 
The outturn report presented reflects the Executive Portfolios for which 
budgets were originally approved (which may have changed since, for 
example for any changes in Portfolio responsibilities). Therefore, 
members of all committees were asked to consider proposals to carry 
forward budgets and make their views known to the Executive Councillor 
for Finance and Resources, for consideration at Strategy and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee prior to recommendations to Council. 
 
Livestream/hybrid meetings - Council Chamber and Committee 

Rooms (£85,000 capital budget) 

During the pandemic the council’s decision making meetings were virtual 

and had been live-streamed, work is being brought forward to enable 

live-streaming to continue and for remote attendance/participation. 

The project will install screens and cameras in the Council Chamber and 

cameras in Committee Room 1.  Most of the equipment will be re-

deployable (the same applies to the microphones purchased in 2019). 

Subject to no requirement for listed building consent, work could be 

completed by the end of September, otherwise it will by the end of the 

calendar year. 

Rather than take an Urgent Decision out of cycle after the Council 

meeting, it was felt more appropriate to present the proposal to 

Members at Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee for 

recommendation to the Council.  Additionally, as the rooms are regularly 

used, there are limited time periods for the work to be undertaken hence 

the proposal coming for decision now.  The Head of Finance was 

Page 99

Agenda Item 4c



consulted and the budget proposal would be funded by capital 

receipts/borrowing in line with current policy. 

Additional recommendation (c): 

The Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources is requested to 

recommend to Council the addition of £85,000 capital funding in 2021/22 

to undertaken works to the Council Chamber/Committee Rooms to 

stream meetings/enable hybrid meetings. 

The Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee resolved by 4 votes to 
0 to endorse the following recommendations. 
 
i) Approve carry forward requests totalling £658,670 of revenue funding 
from 2020/21 to 2021/22, as detailed in Appendix C of the officer’s report.  
 
ii) Approve carry forward requests of £49,211,000 of capital resources 
from 2020/21 to 2021/22 to fund rephased net capital spending, as 
detailed in Appendix D of the officer’s report.  
 
The Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee resolved unanimously 
to endorse the following recommendation. 
 
iii) Approve the addition of £85,000 capital funding in 2021/22 to 
undertaken works to the Council Chamber/Committee Rooms to stream 
meetings/enable hybrid meetings. 
 
Accordingly, Council is recommended to: 
 
i) Approve carry forward requests totalling £658,670 of revenue funding 
from 2020/21 to 2021/22, as detailed in Appendix C of the officer’s report.  
 
ii) Approve carry forward requests of £49,211,000 of capital resources 
from 2020/21 to 2021/22 to fund rephased net capital spending, as 
detailed in Appendix D of the officer’s report.  
 
iii) Approve the addition of £85,000 capital funding in 2021/22 to 
undertaken works to the Council Chamber/Committee Rooms to stream 
meetings/enable hybrid meetings. 
 

Page 100



 

 

Item  

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 

2020/21 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards 

and Significant Variances – Overview 

Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report presents, for all Portfolios: 

 
a) A summary of actual income and expenditure compared to the final 

budget for 2020/21 (outturn position) 
 

b) Revenue and capital budget variances with explanations  
 

c) Specific requests to carry forward funding available from budget 
underspends into 2021/22. 

 
1.2 The outturn report presented reflects the Executive Portfolios for which 

budgets were originally approved (which may have changed since, for 
example for any changes in Portfolio responsibilities). Therefore, 
members of all committees are asked to consider proposals to carry 
forward budgets and make their views known to the Executive Councillor 
for Finance and Resources, for consideration at Strategy and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee prior to recommendations to Council.   

To:  

Councillor Davey, Executive Councillor for Finance & Resources 

Report by:  

Chief Executive, Strategic Directors, Head of Finance  

Date: 

5 July 2021 

Wards affected:  

(All) Abbey, Arbury, Castle, Cherry Hinton, Coleridge, East Chesterton, 

King's Hedges, Market, Newnham, Petersfield, Queen Edith's, Romsey, 

Trumpington, West Chesterton 

Page 101



 

2.  Recommendations 

 
The Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources recommends to 
Council: 
 

a) To carry forward requests totalling £658,670 of revenue funding from 
2020/21 to 2021/22, as detailed in Appendix C. 
 

b) To carry forward requests of £49,211,000 of capital resources from 
2020/21 to 2021/22 to fund rephased net capital spending, as detailed in 
Appendix D. 

3.  Background 

Revenue Outturn 

 
3.1 The overall revenue budget outturn position for all Portfolios is given in 

the table below. Detail, by service grouping, is presented in Appendix A. 
 

2019/20 
£’000 

General Fund Revenue Summary 2020/21 
£’000 

% Final 
Budget 

19,651 Original Budget – Portfolios 20,690 66.1 

923   Adjustment – Prior Year Carry 
Forwards 

1,055 3.4 

1,263 Adjustment – Earmarked Reserves 13 0.0 

388 Adjustment – Capital Charges 250 0.8 
 

(649) Adjustment – Central & Support 
reallocations 

250 0.8 

0 Adjustment – Interim MTFS 8,313 26.5 

0 Adjustment – BSR 486 1.6 

(209) Other Adjustments 255 0.8 

21,367 Final Budget – Portfolios 31,312 (100.0) 

20,375 Outturn – Portfolios 32,525 103.9 

(992) (Under) / Overspend for the year – 
Portfolios 

1,213 3.9 

Page 102



 

 

 
* The adverse variance of £4.4m has been driven by the provision of 
£6.9m for Covid-related business rates appeals, which is likely to be 
reversed in the current year. The government has announced its 
intention to legislate to rule out these business rates appeals however 
the council will not release the provision to the General Fund until the 
legislation has been passed.  

 
3.2 Appendix A shows original and final budgets for the year (with the 

movements summarised in the above table) and compares the final 
budget with the outturn position for all Portfolios for 2020/21. The original 
revenue budget for 2020/21 was approved by the Council on 25 February 
2020. 
 

3.3 Appendix B provides explanations of the main variances.  
 
3.4 Appendix C lists revenue carry forward requests. 

 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 
£’000 

General Fund Revenue Summary 
– Continued 

2020/21 
£’000 

% Final 
Budget 

(992) (Under) / Overspend for the year – 
Portfolios 

1,213 3.9 

990 Carry Forward Requests – Portfolios 572 1.8 

(2) Net Variance on Portfolios 1,785 5.7 

80 Carry Forward Request – Feasibility 
Fund 

84 0.3 

 Non-portfolio variances:   

(609) Capital Expenditure Financed from 
Revenue 

1,137 3.6 

(997) Other Non-Portfolio Variances 1,345 4.3 

(1,528) Variance and (decreased) 
/increased use of General Fund 
Reserves * 

4,351 13.9 

Page 103



 

Impact of Covid-19 
 

3.5 The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact upon the council’s 
finances during 2020/21. 
 

3.6 In July 2020, an interim update to the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
was published which forecast additional portfolio net expenditure related 
to Covid-19 of £9.8m. At the same time, mitigating measures of £1.5m 
were agreed, so that the net impact on portfolio budgets was £8.3m. 
 

3.7 In the event, the pandemic has lasted considerably longer than originally 
anticipated, and the actual impact on portfolio net expenditure (before 
additional government support) was £18.5m. This has been mitigated to 
some extent by additional grant income totalling £11.3m, as set out in the 
table below. However, the additional grant income received only covers 
61.3% of additional net expenditure incurred. 

  

Grant Type £’000 

Specific Grants – Credited to General Fund Portfolios  

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 1,071 

Support for specific Council services 805 

Job Retention Scheme 494 

Outbreak Management 462 

Support for Vulnerable People 313 

Total Specific Grants – General Fund 3,145 

  

Other Covid-19 Grants from Central Government  

Compensation for loss of sales, fees and charges income 5,947 

General support for Council services 2,256 

Total Other Covid-19 Grants from Central Government 8,203 

  

Total Covid-19 Related Grants to Support Portfolio 
Expenditure 

11,348 

Additional Net Portfolio Expenditure due to Covid-19 18,500 

% of Additional Net Expenditure Covered by Grants 61.3% 

 
3.8 The Council has also seen its share of income from Council tax fall by 

£0.4m as a result of Covid-19 (after accounting for compensatory 
government grants). The total impact on the General Fund of the 
pandemic in 2020/21 is therefore £7.6m. 
 

3.9 In addition to the above impact on the Council’s finances, local authorities 
have also been called upon by central government to act as distributary 
agents for a number of Covid-19 support grants for businesses and 

Page 104



 

individuals. The amounts received and paid out in respect of these 
schemes is set out in the table below: 
 

Scheme Type Received 
from 

Government 
£’000 

Distributed to 
Businesses 

or Individuals 
£’000 

Amount 
Remaining 

£’000 

Support for businesses 70,809 (64,328) 6,481 

Support for individuals 993 (892) 101 

Total 71,802 (65,220) (6,582) 

 
3.10 Support for businesses consists primarily of cash grants to businesses 

affected by lockdown restrictions, plus the Council’s share of business 
rates income foregone through the expanded retail rates relief and 
nursery relief schemes. 
 

3.11 Support for individuals consists of Council tax reductions offered through 
the Covid-19 Hardship Fund, along with self-isolation payments to 
eligible individuals through the Test and Trace Support Scheme. 
 

3.12 Amounts remaining at year-end will either be retained for distribution in 
2021/22, or returned to central government, depending upon the rules of 
the relevant scheme. Note that in the majority of cases, grant eligibility 
criteria are set by central government, and the Council has no discretion 
to distribute grants outside of these criteria. 
 
General Fund Reserves 
 

3.13 The table below sets out the movement on the General Fund reserve for 
2020/21: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
* The Interim MTFS adjustment incorporates the £8.3m adjustment to net 
portfolio expenditure set out at paragraph 3.6, less mitigating actions 
(including a reduction in planned capital spend to be financed from the 
General Fund) totaling £6.2m. 
 
Capital Outturn 
 

3.14 The overall capital budget outturn position for all Portfolios is given in the 
table below. Appendix D shows the outturn position by scheme and 
programme with explanations of variances. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 2020/21 
£’000 

Original Budget – Contribution to General Fund (5,776) 

Adjustment – Prior Year Carry Forwards 1,055 

Adjustment – Interim MTFS* 2,051 

Other Adjustments (24) 

Final Budget – Contribution to General Fund (2,694) 

Net Variance for the Year 4,351 

Add Back Carry Forwards (to be recognised in 
2021/22) 

(656) 

Total Use of General Fund Reserves – 
Appendix A 

1,001 

Accounting Adjustments Relating to Prior Years (332) 

Total Use of General Fund Reserves – Draft 
Statement of Accounts 

669 

General Fund Balance at 1 April 2020 (17,263) 

General Fund Balance at 31 March 2021 (16,594) 

Page 106



 

 

*See paragraph 3.6 below 

 
* The Cromwell Road adjustment is a technical accounting adjustment 
due to the reallocation of resources between the HRA and the General 
Fund. Resources to fund the General Fund contribution are set aside 
within the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 
£’000 

General Fund Portfolio Capital 
Summary 

2020/21 
£’000 

% Final 
Budget 

44,357 Final Budget 62,181 100.0 

18,833 Outturn 15,610 25.1 

(25,524) Variation - (Under)/Overspend for 
the year 

(46,571) (74.9) 

(2,142) Less Cromwell Road Adjustment* (2,820) (4.5) 

(27,666) Variance (49,391) (79.4) 

27,634 Rephasing Requests 49,211 79.1 

(32) Net variance (180) (0.3) 

2019/20 
£’000 

HRA Capital Summary 2020/21 
£’000 

% Final 
Budget 

52,825 Original Budget 60,995 110.8 

5,256 Adjustments (Re-phasing -prior year) 6,560 11.9 

(12,310) Other Adjustments (12,496) (22.7) 

45,774 Final Budget 55,059 100.0 

38,360 Outturn 34,451 62.6 

(7,414) (Under)/Overspend for the year (20,608) (37.4) 

6,560 Re-phasing Requests 18,610 33.8 

(854) (Under) / Overspend (1,998) (3.6) 

Page 107



 

General Fund 
 

3.15 Total underspend for the year (after technical adjustments) is 
£49,391,000. This is mainly due to delays in capital projects due to 
Covid-19, and rephasing to future years has been requested for almost 
all of this amount.  
 

3.16 The main requests for rephasing of budgets are as follows: 

• Climate Change, Environment and City Centre Portfolio – Electric 
Vehicle Charging points (£356,000) due to delays in completion of 
the installations due to Covid and delays in the completion of the 
purchase and the installation of the Shared Waste IT system . 
 

• Communities Portfolio – Delays in the progression of pre planning 
of the Café and Car Park at the Crematorium (£643,000), 
extension to Cherry Hinton Library (£764,000) delayed due to 
Covid-19, decarbonisation work at the City’s pools (£1,707,000). 

 

• Housing General Fund - Meadows Community Hub and Buchan 
St retail outlet delay (£2,460,000). 

 

• Planning Policy and Open Spaces Portfolio – City Centre 
recovery project underspend (£690,000). 

 

• Transport and Community Safety Portfolio – The structural 
holding repairs for the City’s car parks remaining budget 
(£199,000). 

 

• Finance & Resources Portfolio – Mill road and Cromwell road 
development and equity loan projects (£20,165,000) due to the 
slower progress on site, Lion Yard shopping centre investment 
(£6,000,000) due to delays in progress, Local Investment Bond 
(£2,800,000) which is expected to be drawn down in 2021/22, 
plus £9,179,000 for the Park Street car park development. 

 
3.17 The major reasons for the end of year capital outturn is a technical 

accounting adjustment due to the reallocation of resources between the 
HRA and the GF of the Cromwell Road Redevelopment. This has 
resulted in an adjustment of £2,820k. 
 
Housing 
 

3.18 Spending in the Housing Capital Investment Plan in 2020/21 was below 
that originally anticipated, with reduction in the budget, particularly for 

Page 108



 

new build expenditure as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy in 
September / October 2020 and the Budget Setting Report in January / 
February 2021. 
 

3.19 At outturn, against the latest capital budget approved, underspending of 
£7,363,000 was evident in new build investment, with slippage of 
£7,170,000 identified. This relates predominantly to delays in respect of 
re-development schemes at Colville Road and Campkin Road, both of 
which are now on site and are moving forward and at Meadows and 
Buchan Street and Clerk Maxwell, where the planning process took 
longer than hoped.   
 

3.20 Investment in the housing stock, in respect of decent homes and other 
capital activity was underspent by £9,220,000, with access issues and 
contractor capacity as a result of the coronavirus pandemic being the key 
cause, with the need to defer £8,367,000 of investment into future years 
having been identified.  
 

3.21 The capital expenditure relating to the acquisition of land and dwellings 
for development purposes was less than anticipated in 2020/21 
(£648,000), with one land acquisition being deferred until 2021/22. 
Resource approved to purchase dwellings for use as rough sleeper 
accommodation (£1,901,000) was not used, and will be carried forward 
into 2021/22, when a second grant bid will be submitted to compliment 
the resource.  
 

3.22 The project to replace the Housing Management Information System will 
span multiple years and the balance of funding to deliver this project will 
require re-phasing into 2021/22, when the project is now expected to 
conclude. 
 

3.23 Permission was sought at Housing Scrutiny committee to re-phase the 
use of £10,284,000 of DRF (direct revenue financing) and £589,000 of 
Major Repairs Reserve funding into 2021/22, and £168,000 of Major 
Repairs Funding into later years, where these will be used to finance re-
phased capital expenditure identified.   
 

3.24 Housing Scrutiny Committee was also asked to recognise the early 
receipt of £16,597,000 of Devolution Grant, which was received by the 
authority in 2020/21, but will not be used to fund capital expenditure on 
new homes until 2021/22 and beyond. 
 
 

Page 109



 

4. Implications 

 
4.1 The net variance from the final budget (see above) on committees would 

result an increased use of General Fund reserves of £1,213,000.  After 
revenue carry forwards of £572,000 for committees this is £1,785,000. 
Following other central budget adjustments, the overall variance and 
increased use of General Fund Reserves is £4,351,000. 

 
4.2 A decision not to approve a carry forward request may impact on officers’ 

ability to deliver the service or scheme in question and this could have 
financial, staffing, equality and poverty, environmental, procurement or 
community safety implications. 

 

(a) Financial Implications 

Any financial implications are included in the Appendices. 

 

 (b) Staffing Implications 

 
Any staffing implications are included in the Appendices. 

 

 (c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

  
Any equality and poverty implications are included in the Appendices. 

 

(d) Environmental Implications 

 
Any environmental implications are included in the Appendices. 

 

 (e) Procurement Implications 

 
Any procurement implications are included in the Appendices. 

 

 (f) Community Safety Implications 

 
Any community safety Implications are included in the Appendices. 

5. Consultation and communication considerations 

 
Public consultations are undertaken throughout the year and can be 
seen at: 

Page 110



 

 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/consultations 
 

 

6. Background papers 

 
These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
 

• Closedown Working Files 2020/21 

• Directors’ Variance Explanations – March 2021 

• Budgetary Control Reports to 31 March 2021 

• Capital Monitoring Reports – March 2021 
 

7. Appendices 

 
The following items, where applicable, are included for discussion: 
 

Appendix 
 

Included 

A General Fund Revenue Summary plus 
individual portfolio summaries  



B General Fund Revenue Major Variances for 
all portfolios 

 

C General Fund Carry Forward Requests for 
all portfolios 

 

D Capital Summary plus individual portfolio 
summaries 



 

 

8. Inspection of papers 

 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact: 
 
Authors’ Names: Karen Whyatt 
Authors’ Phone 
Numbers:  

01223 - 458145 

Authors’ Emails:  
karen.whyatt@cambridge.gov.uk 
 

  

O:\accounts\Committee Reports & Papers\Strategy & Resources from July 2007\2021 July\FINAL\01 

Committee Report 20-21 Overview FINAL.docx 

Page 111

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/consultations
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/consultations
mailto:karen.whyatt@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:karen.whyatt@cambridge.gov.uk


Appendix A

Committee / Portfolio

Original 

Budget 

20/21    

£000

Final 

Budget 

20/21    

£000

Outturn 

20/21    

£000

Variation 

Increase / 

(Decrease) 

£000

Carry Forward 

Requests - See 

Appendix C 

£000

Net Variance 

£000

Environment & Community Committee

Climate Change, Environment and City Centre Portfolio 5,758 7,024 8,321 1,297 66 1,363

Communities Portfolio 7,257 7,299 8,042 743 154 897

Total Environment & Community Committee 13,015 14,323 16,363 2,040 220 2,260

Housing Committee

Housing (GF) Portfolio 3,404 3,127 4,321 1,194 24 1,218

Total Housing Committee 3,404 3,127 4,321 1,194 24 1,218

Planning & Transport Committee

Planning Policy and Open Spaces Portfolio 4,464 7,056 7,666 610 67 677

Transport and Community Safety Portfolio 263 (2,905) 4,148 7,053 47 7,100

Total Planning & Transport Committee 4,727 4,151 11,814 7,663 114 7,777

Strategy & Resources Committee

Finance & Resources Portfolio (5,413) (5,629) (5,754) (125) 101 (24)

Strategy and External Partnerships Portfolio 4,957 15,340 5,781 (9,559) 113 (9,446)

Total Strategy & Resources Committee (456) 9,711 27 (9,684) 214 (9,470)

Total Portfolios / Committees 20,690 31,312 32,525 1,213 572 1,785

Capital Accounting Adjustments (6,352) (7,180) (7,124) 56 0 56

Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue 2,091 (185) 952 1,137 84 1,221

Contributions to Earmarked Funds 2,870 28,877 35,852 6,975 0 6,975

Contributions to/(from) Reserves 5,776 2,694 (1,001) (3,695) (656) (4,351)

4,385 24,206 28,679 4,473 (572) 3,901

Net Spending Requirement 25,075 55,518 61,204 5,686 0 5,686

Financed By:

Settlement Funding Assessment (10,129) (28,932) (34,791) (5,859) 0 (5,859)

New Homes Bonus (4,913) (4,913) (4,913) 0 0 0

Other Grants from Central Government (178) (8,574) (8,403) 171 0 171

Appropriations from Earmarked Reserves (824) (4,068) (4,066) 2 0 2

Council Tax (9,031) (9,031) (9,031) 0 0 0

Total Financing (25,075) (55,518) (61,204) (5,686) 0 (5,686)

Net Total 0 0 0 0 0 0

General Fund Overview Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 112



Appendix A

Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

Corporate Strategy

Climate Change Proposals 45,000 0 0 0 0 0

45,000 0 0 0 0 0

Environmental Health

Control of Disease 123,530 127,200 127,545 345 0 345

Out of Hours 170,150 113,990 104,238 (9,752) 0 (9,752)

Scientific Team 569,180 525,950 508,351 (17,599) 0 (17,599)

Food and Occupational Safety 436,890 409,940 408,112 (1,828) 0 (1,828)

Enforcement 196,630 185,630 182,395 (3,235) 0 (3,235)

Residential Statutory Nuisance 142,170 136,800 138,492 1,692 0 1,692

Environmental Health Operational Support 377,280 361,720 355,764 (5,956) 0 (5,956)

Environmental Health Salaries 0 83,150 6,150 (77,000) 0 (77,000)

Tascomi - Env Health Software 0 137,100 71,340 (65,760) 65,760 0

2,015,830 2,081,480 1,902,387 (179,093) 65,760 (113,333)

Garage Services

Fleet Management - Operational 0 0 168,126 168,126 0 168,126

Garage- External Work 9,130 5,880 150,816 144,936 0 144,936

9,130 5,880 318,942 313,062 0 313,062

Licensing

0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0

Market Square Project

Market Square Project 30,000 91,220 112,673 21,453 0 21,453

30,000 91,220 112,673 21,453 0 21,453

Markets and Street Trading

Markets (378,530) (383,910) 206,752 590,662 0 590,662

Control of Street Trading 0 0 0 0 0 0

(378,530) (383,910) 206,752 590,662 0 590,662

Open Space Management

COVID-19 Self Isolation for GRT Community 0 0 6,723 6,723 0 6,723

0 0 6,723 6,723 0 6,723

S&OS Development (excluding Project Delivery)

Bill Posting & Distribution (49,040) 16,790 109,236 92,446 0 92,446

Public Toilets 618,170 733,300 832,074 98,774 0 98,774

569,130 750,090 941,310 191,220 0 191,220

S&OS Operations (excluding Markets and Street Trading)

Streets & Open Spaces (Operations) - Indirect Costs 0 0 (1,731) (1,731) 0 (1,731)

Public Realm Enforcement 72,060 539,250 548,658 9,408 0 9,408

S&OS Community Engagement 164,670 364,150 382,081 17,931 0 17,931

236,730 903,400 929,008 25,608 0 25,608

Sustainable City

Sustainable City 42,320 114,880 127,329 12,449 0 12,449

Sustainability Grants 31,550 31,010 11,010 (20,000) 0 (20,000)

73,870 145,890 138,339 (7,551) 0 (7,551)

Tourism

Tourism 350,380 371,740 487,273 115,533 0 115,533

350,380 371,740 487,273 115,533 0 115,533

Waste & Recycling

Waste Collection 3,740,570 3,861,500 3,184,692 (676,808) 0 (676,808)

Waste Policy (213,470) (199,340) 52,692 252,032 0 252,032

Commercial Waste (720,270) (604,180) 40,901 645,081 0 645,081

2,806,830 3,057,980 3,278,285 220,305 0 220,305

Total Net Budget 5,758,370 7,023,770 8,321,692 1,297,922 65,760 1,363,682

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Climate Change, Environment and City Centre Portfolio / Environment & Community Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 113



Appendix A

Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

Bereavement Services

City Cambridge Cemeteries (115,790) (94,880) (177,168) (82,288) 0 (82,288)

Cambridge Crematorium (1,141,200) (1,125,980) (1,213,371) (87,391) 0 (87,391)

Bereavement Services - Burials & Grounds 267,680 246,950 218,850 (28,100) 0 (28,100)

Bereavement Services Central Costs 818,020 817,970 786,030 (31,940) 0 (31,940)

Commemoration (116,280) (116,770) (133,420) (16,650) 0 (16,650)

Bereavement Services 14,260 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer to earmarked reserves 0 0 246,369 246,369 0 246,369

(273,310) (272,710) (272,710) 0 0 0

Children and Youth

Children & Young People's Service 528,710 523,650 530,164 6,514 0 6,514

528,710 523,650 530,164 6,514 0 6,514

Community Centres

Community Facilities (formerly St Lukes Community School) 74,270 88,220 83,025 (5,195) 0 (5,195)

Lawrence Way Community Facility 15,410 15,410 15,410 0 0 0

Buchan Street Community Facility 200,190 201,580 204,740 3,160 0 3,160

The Meadows Community Centre 423,030 438,900 461,671 22,771 0 22,771

Akeman Street Community House 34,450 34,310 42,750 8,440 0 8,440

Brown's Field Youth and Community Centre 88,590 76,180 103,503 27,323 0 27,323

Clay Farm Community Centre (9,440) (50,300) 176,412 226,712 0 226,712

Storey's Field Community Centre 0 370 2,217 1,847 0 1,847

826,500 804,670 1,089,728 285,058 0 285,058

Community Development

Community Development - Admin 533,040 539,360 513,471 (25,889) 0 (25,889)

Community Resilience 0 (175,640) (204,003) (28,363) 0 (28,363)

533,040 363,720 309,468 (54,252) 0 (54,252)

Culture & Community

Cultural Facilities Administration 287,080 304,990 300,007 (4,983) 0 (4,983)

Culture and Community 230,870 198,600 153,227 (45,373) 25,450 (19,923)

Cambridge Junction 339,430 404,160 394,930 (9,230) 0 (9,230)

Corn Exchange and Guildhalls (267,290) (276,900) 489,651 766,551 0 766,551

City Events 230,940 226,770 45,386 (181,384) 0 (181,384)

Folk Festival (128,500) (151,000) 43,614 194,614 0 194,614

Cambridge Live - Central 308,210 307,620 194,003 (113,617) 0 (113,617)

1,000,740 1,014,240 1,620,818 606,578 25,450 632,028

Neighbourhood Community

North Cambridge Community (ex Kings Hedges Nhd) Partnership 81,740 81,740 81,740 0 0 0

Neighbourhood Community Development 303,920 285,560 234,267 (51,293) 44,000 (7,293)

NW Cambridge Quadrant (S106) 0 100 0 (100) 0 (100)

Darwin Green post funded from Developers Contributions 0 50 0 (50) 0 (50)

Mill Road Depot CDO 0 5,670 5,674 4 0 4

385,660 373,120 321,681 (51,439) 44,000 (7,439)

Sport & Recreation

Sport & Recreation Administration 569,270 524,300 506,716 (17,584) 0 (17,584)

Leisure Contract Management Fees 585,250 572,920 792,048 219,128 0 219,128

Leisure Contract Client Costs 1,552,780 1,868,240 1,727,680 (140,560) 75,000 (65,560)

Active Lifestyles - Communities (ex Sports Development) 29,800 22,260 2,703 (19,557) 10,000 (9,557)

Sport - Ex Ref 37,170 41,920 27,495 (14,425) 0 (14,425)

Sport - Street Games 0 (1,490) (3,643) (2,153) 0 (2,153)

Active Lifestyles - Projects 8,310 8,180 2,219 (5,961) 0 (5,961)

2,782,580 3,036,330 3,055,218 18,888 85,000 103,888

Voluntary Sector

Community Development Voluntary Support 1,473,010 1,455,630 1,387,400 (68,230) 0 (68,230)

1,473,010 1,455,630 1,387,400 (68,230) 0 (68,230)

Total Net Budget 7,256,930 7,298,650 8,041,767 743,117 154,450 897,567

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Communities Portfolio / Environment & Community Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 114



Appendix A

Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

Contributions to/from reserves

Contributions to/from HRA 396,670 396,670 374,138 (22,532) 0 (22,532)

396,670 396,670 374,138 (22,532) 0 (22,532)

Environmental Health

Housing Standards 563,800 508,740 479,150 (29,590) 0 (29,590)

Energy Officer 157,320 143,010 118,526 (24,484) 24,480 (4)

Housing Standards - Income Generation 0 0 0 0 0 0

721,120 651,750 597,676 (54,074) 24,480 (29,594)

Home Improvement Agency

Recharges - Strategic Housing Services (GF) (19,430) (19,430) (19,430) 0 0 0

(19,430) (19,430) (19,430) 0 0 0

Homelessness

Homelessness Costs 200,130 195,170 296,268 101,098 0 101,098

Grants to Housing Agencies 765,410 764,230 723,983 (40,247) 0 (40,247)

125 / 451 Newmarket Road - Revenue Costs (21,470) (21,500) (24,687) (3,187) 0 (3,187)

CLG Supplementary Homelessness Grants 0 480 0 (480) 0 (480)

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (213,090) (40) 419 459 0 459

COVID-19 Rough Sleepers Services 0 (25,000) 1,233,342 1,258,342 0 1,258,342

730,980 913,340 2,229,325 1,315,985 0 1,315,985

Housing Advice

CCC Choice Based Lettings (Revenue) 23,880 20,110 27,225 7,115 0 7,115

Housing Advice Service 1,153,300 979,050 938,469 (40,581) 0 (40,581)

1,177,180 999,160 965,694 (33,466) 0 (33,466)

Housing Development

Housing Development Agency 0 (1,260) 0 1,260 0 1,260

0 (1,260) 0 1,260 0 1,260

Housing Improvement Grants

Home Improvement Grants 34,720 34,760 43,848 9,088 0 9,088

34,720 34,760 43,848 9,088 0 9,088

Housing Strategy

Bermuda Road Garages (6,400) (6,400) (6,637) (237) 0 (237)

Housing Strategy 147,480 147,560 109,482 (38,078) 0 (38,078)

Growth - Community Services 69,660 69,790 69,759 (31) 0 (31)

Sub-Regional Housing Strategy Co-ordinator 0 (180) 0 180 0 180

210,740 210,770 172,604 (38,166) 0 (38,166)

Licensing

Miscellaneous Licensing - Housing Portfolio 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0

Syrian Resettlement

Syrian Resettlement 0 (168,520) (168,523) (3) 0 (3)

0 (168,520) (168,523) (3) 0 (3)

Town Hall Lettings

Town Hall Lettings 151,780 110,160 125,209 15,049 0 15,049

151,780 110,160 125,209 15,049 0 15,049

Total Net Budget 3,403,760 3,127,400 4,320,541 1,193,141 24,480 1,217,621

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Housing (GF) Portfolio / Housing Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 115



Appendix A

Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

CCTV

CCTV (99,530) 41,980 (78,085) (120,065) 0 (120,065)

(99,530) 41,980 (78,085) (120,065) 0 (120,065)

Community Safety

Community Safety 422,490 341,240 301,594 (39,646) 11,250 (28,396)

Street Aid 0 (330) (327) 3 0 3

422,490 340,910 301,267 (39,643) 11,250 (28,393)

Parking Services

Grand Arcade Car Park (1,763,270) (1,848,650) 1,514,286 3,362,936 0 3,362,936

Park Street Car Park (566,010) (575,000) 506,927 1,081,927 0 1,081,927

Grafton Centre West Car Park (527,420) (444,150) 194,616 638,766 0 638,766

Grafton Centre East Car Park (806,050) (675,760) 570,306 1,246,066 0 1,246,066

Queen Anne Terrace Car Park (588,760) (412,030) 504,294 916,324 0 916,324

Adam & Eve Street Car Park 6,100 (58,280) 38,156 96,436 0 96,436

Castle Hill Car Park 31,950 (111,000) 69,882 180,882 0 180,882

Gwydir Street Car Park 75,660 (9,970) 10,937 20,907 0 20,907

Riverside Car Park 3,120 3,100 484 (2,616) 0 (2,616)

Other Car Parks 37,460 37,360 26,990 (10,370) 0 (10,370)

Parking Administration 0 0 (110,234) (110,234) 0 (110,234)

Shopmobility-Grand Arcade 76,720 72,710 65,163 (7,547) 0 (7,547)

Shopmobility-Grafton 26,950 26,840 17,548 (9,292) 0 (9,292)

Electric Vehicle Charging - Car Parks 0 52,000 15,756 (36,244) 36,240 (4)

(3,993,550) (3,942,830) 3,425,111 7,367,941 36,240 7,404,181

S&OS Operations (excluding Markets and Street Trading)

Highway Schemes General 104,710 104,660 101,618 (3,042) 0 (3,042)

Operations Salaries 3,510,250 237,060 193,467 (43,593) 0 (43,593)

3,614,960 341,720 295,085 (46,635) 0 (46,635)

Transport Services

Public Transport Subsidy 144,020 141,690 128,820 (12,870) 0 (12,870)

Taxicard Service 126,490 124,450 32,251 (92,199) 0 (92,199)

Transport Initiatives for Disabled 47,790 47,010 43,954 (3,056) 0 (3,056)

318,300 313,150 205,025 (108,125) 0 (108,125)

Total Net Budget 262,670 (2,905,070) 4,148,403 7,053,473 47,490 7,100,963

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Transport and Community Safety Portfolio / Planning & Transport Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 116



Appendix A

Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

Building Control

Building Control Other 202,340 188,340 139,916 (48,424) 0 (48,424)

3C Building Control 0 (940) 0 940 0 940

202,340 187,400 139,916 (47,484) 0 (47,484)

Head of Environmental Services

Head of Environmental Services 0 0 (17,379) (17,379) 0 (17,379)

0 0 (17,379) (17,379) 0 (17,379)

Planning

City Development 634,640 634,640 634,640 0 0 0

Right to Bid/Assets of Community Value 10,430 10,250 0 (10,250) 0 (10,250)

Planning Policy 322,280 163,090 163,091 1 0 1

Shared Director of Planning and Economic Development 0 0 166 166 0 166

Urban Design & Conservation 201,300 195,630 195,630 0 0 0

Greater Cambridge Planning Service 304,440 498,040 1,250,657 752,617 0 752,617

Development Plan fund held by City 0 139,000 138,458 (542) 0 (542)

1,473,090 1,640,650 2,382,642 741,992 0 741,992

S&OS Development (excluding Project Delivery)

Refreshment Kiosks (54,610) (49,700) (74,540) (24,840) 0 (24,840)

Open Space Asset Management 802,230 826,600 895,466 68,866 0 68,866

Seasonal Bedding (19,820) 0 0 0 0 0

Closed Churchyards 35,820 47,350 36,797 (10,553) 0 (10,553)

Lettings & Events on Open Spaces (98,300) (64,630) (16,675) 47,955 0 47,955

Open Space Asset Maintenance 191,310 261,040 292,531 31,491 0 31,491

Grazing Management (7,840) 890 (15,370) (16,260) 0 (16,260)

Play Maintenance 167,340 186,360 201,069 14,709 0 14,709

Cherry Hinton Hall (100,810) (100,880) (90,301) 10,579 0 10,579

Allotments 13,570 26,260 30,867 4,607 0 4,607

Histon Road Cemetery 0 0 (128) (128) 0 (128)

Arboriculture 213,310 421,240 361,266 (59,974) 59,970 (4)

Local Nature Reserves 56,960 85,220 77,803 (7,417) 7,420 3

Flood Risk Management 155,110 262,900 213,062 (49,838) 0 (49,838)

Open Space Mgt Salaries 1,239,170 66,020 (57,629) (123,649) 0 (123,649)

Chalk Stream Project 0 5,000 10,000 5,000 0 5,000

2,593,440 1,973,670 1,864,218 (109,452) 67,390 (42,062)

S&OS Operations (excluding Markets and Street Trading)

Grounds Maintenance & Street Cleaning 41,370 2,621,700 2,622,684 984 0 984

41,370 2,621,700 2,622,684 984 0 984

S&OS Project Delivery

Project Delivery (Salaried) now 1877 171,780 0 0 0 0 0

Project Delivery (Cost Recovered)and( salaried) (109,910) 540,880 582,975 42,095 0 42,095

61,870 540,880 582,975 42,095 0 42,095

Urban Growth Project Manager

Urban Growth Project Management 91,620 91,780 91,265 (515) 0 (515)

91,620 91,780 91,265 (515) 0 (515)

Total Net Budget 4,463,730 7,056,080 7,666,321 610,241 67,390 677,631

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Planning Policy and Open Spaces Portfolio / Planning & Transport Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 117



Appendix A

Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

Accountancy & Support Services

Accountancy and Support Services 0 0 (173,022) (173,022) 0 (173,022)

0 0 (173,022) (173,022) 0 (173,022)

Admin Buildings

Depot Management - Indirect 0 2,070 2,066 (4) 0 (4)

Guildhall 361,560 403,620 520,674 117,054 0 117,054

Mandela House 923,070 973,620 903,691 (69,929) 0 (69,929)

Admin Building Allocation (1,667,170) (1,845,210) (1,848,706) (3,496) 0 (3,496)

Parsons Court 15,150 15,070 23,182 8,112 0 8,112

130 Cowley Road 185,650 273,530 233,104 (40,426) 0 (40,426)

Cowley Road Compound 181,740 179,370 208,840 29,470 0 29,470

0 2,070 42,851 40,781 0 40,781

Corporate Business

Corporate Business Support 0 0 (76,571) (76,571) 0 (76,571)

Business Support - Centralised Overheads 0 0 (6,861) (6,861) 0 (6,861)

0 0 (83,432) (83,432) 0 (83,432)

Customer Service Centre

Customer Access Strategy - Customer Service Centre 0 0 (141,491) (141,491) 60,000 (81,491)

Cashiers 0 0 3,291 3,291 0 3,291

0 0 (138,200) (138,200) 60,000 (78,200)

Facilities & Other Management

Quality/Health & Safety Management - Indirect 0 0 5,366 5,366 0 5,366

Commercial Property Additional Maintenance 9,160 125,670 28,578 (97,092) 26,400 (70,692)

Facilities Management 0 0 (36,273) (36,273) 0 (36,273)

Corporate Energy 0 37,500 17,962 (19,538) 0 (19,538)

9,160 163,170 15,633 (147,537) 26,400 (121,137)

Finance General

Finance General Recharges 0 0 50,370 50,370 0 50,370

Finance General (856,230) (1,215,830) (1,069,190) 146,640 0 146,640

(856,230) (1,215,830) (1,018,820) 197,010 0 197,010

Head of Finance - Holding/Suspense Accounts

Shared Payroll Service 0 0 (27,953) (27,953) 0 (27,953)

Pensions Costs Recharged 0 0 (70,906) (70,906) 0 (70,906)

0 0 (98,859) (98,859) 0 (98,859)

Human Resources

Employee Travel Plan 0 0 (5,258) (5,258) 0 (5,258)

Salary Sacrifice Schemes 0 0 (5,849) (5,849) 0 (5,849)

GMB 0 0 (4,651) (4,651) 0 (4,651)

Unison 0 0 (116) (116) 0 (116)

Human Resources - Business Support 0 0 7,853 7,853 0 7,853

Human Resources Operations (Staff-General) 0 0 1,830 1,830 0 1,830

Human Resources - Recruitment 0 0 (2,715) (2,715) 0 (2,715)

Human Resources - Organisational Development 0 0 (35,642) (35,642) 15,000 (20,642)

0 0 (44,548) (44,548) 15,000 (29,548)

Internal Audit

Audit 0 0 (132,915) (132,915) 0 (132,915)

0 0 (132,915) (132,915) 0 (132,915)

IT Contract Management

IT Contract Costs 0 0 (299,732) (299,732) 0 (299,732)

0 0 (299,732) (299,732) 0 (299,732)

Land Charges

Land Charges and Searches 116,140 116,140 116,140 0 0 0

116,140 116,140 116,140 0 0 0

Legal Services

Legal 0 0 (28,783) (28,783) 0 (28,783)

0 0 (28,783) (28,783) 0 (28,783)

Procurement

Procurement 0 0 (10,029) (10,029) 0 (10,029)

0 0 (10,029) (10,029) 0 (10,029)

Finance & Resources Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 118



Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

Property Services

Dales Brewery (132,200) (132,650) (134,291) (1,641) 0 (1,641)

The Lion Yard (1,110,340) (1,065,340) (919,590) 145,750 0 145,750

Barnwell House Offices (67,500) (60,920) (47,971) 12,949 0 12,949

Lion Yard - South End (208,710) (208,710) (157,343) 51,367 0 51,367

Buchan Street Shops (19,030) (21,020) (20,138) 882 0 882

Jedburgh Court (ex K H Depot) (39,760) (39,850) (43,633) (3,783) 0 (3,783)

Other Commercial Properties (1,042,290) (1,038,340) (850,400) 187,940 0 187,940

Gwydir St Workshops/Offices (80,040) (80,470) (97,295) (16,825) 0 (16,825)

Robert Davies Court (132,130) (132,350) (134,547) (2,197) 0 (2,197)

Ronald Rolph Court (175,330) (191,190) (197,693) (6,503) 0 (6,503)

Barnwell Drive-excl Barnwell House (220,330) (237,470) (238,071) (601) 0 (601)

Cheddars Lane (29,180) (29,230) (29,244) (14) 0 (14)

Ditton Lane Shops (58,760) (58,770) (63,874) (5,104) 0 (5,104)

Cowley Road Enterprise Plots (72,530) (72,530) (68,057) 4,473 0 4,473

Orwell House Offices-Internal (105,290) (84,710) (66,783) 17,927 0 17,927

Orwell Furlong (113,680) (109,590) (100,056) 9,534 0 9,534

Other Industrial Properties (1,859,680) (1,918,800) (1,904,047) 14,753 0 14,753

St Anthony/Eligius Almshouse 690 680 380 (300) 0 (300)

Other Domestic Properties (10,850) (10,850) (11,298) (448) 0 (448)

Hooper Street Garages (6,020) (6,030) (6,317) (287) 0 (287)

Other - Land (151,120) (151,180) (139,184) 11,996 0 11,996

Orchard Park Local Centre (157,470) (157,580) (160,332) (2,752) 0 (2,752)

Cambridge Road Retail Park, Haverhill (458,860) (459,300) (467,860) (8,560) 0 (8,560)

Henderson House, 4 Lancaster Way, Huntingdon (325,000) (325,000) (326,713) (1,713) 0 (1,713)

4 Cyrus Way, Cygnet Park, Peterborough (148,500) (148,500) (149,337) (837) 0 (837)

11, 13 & 17 York Way, Royston (450,000) (450,000) (452,472) (2,472) 0 (2,472)

The Global Centre, Swanns Road, Cambridge (69,350) (51,680) (38,179) 13,501 0 13,501

(7,243,260) (7,241,380) (6,824,345) 417,035 0 417,035

Property Services - Other

Property Services 0 0 48,055 48,055 0 48,055

0 0 48,055 48,055 0 48,055

Revenues and Benefits

Rent Allowances & Rent Rebates (307,980) (307,110) (151,447) 155,663 0 155,663

Local Taxation 876,340 918,180 1,032,221 114,041 0 114,041

Housing Benefits 1,406,700 1,369,900 1,298,025 (71,875) 0 (71,875)

Revenue Overheads 0 0 96,236 96,236 0 96,236

1,975,060 1,980,970 2,275,035 294,065 0 294,065

S&OS Development (excluding Project Delivery)

River Frontage Management (9,260) 17,410 (6,474) (23,884) 0 (23,884)

(9,260) 17,410 (6,474) (23,884) 0 (23,884)

Strategic Director 1

Strategic Director#1 0 0 39,577 39,577 0 39,577

0 0 39,577 39,577 0 39,577

Transformation Programme

Programme Office 595,650 548,270 567,299 19,029 0 19,029

595,650 548,270 567,299 19,029 0 19,029

Total Net Budget (5,412,740) (5,629,180) (5,754,569) (125,389) 101,400 (23,989)

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Page 119



Appendix A

Service Grouping / Cost Centre Original Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation - 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Carry Forward 

Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance

20/21 20/21 20/21

£ £ £ £ £ £

Central Costs

Central Provisions to be Allocated 380,400 10,785,690 986,510 (9,799,180) 0 (9,799,180)

Support Services Trading Balances (474,590) (722,630) (500,351) 222,279 0 222,279

Pensions - Early retirements and Past Deficit 2,122,980 2,122,980 2,289,688 166,708 0 166,708

2,028,790 12,186,040 2,775,847 (9,410,193) 0 (9,410,193)

Chief Executives

Corporate Management 0 0 105,726 105,726 0 105,726

0 0 105,726 105,726 0 105,726

Corporate & Democratic Core

Corporate & Democratic Core - Corporate Management 1,907,650 1,917,120 1,917,050 (70) 0 (70)

Corporate & Democratic Core - Democratic Representation & 275,950 275,950 275,960 10 0 10

2,183,600 2,193,070 2,193,010 (60) 0 (60)

Corporate Strategy

Corporate Marketing 0 0 (6,901) (6,901) 0 (6,901)

Corporate Policy 364,910 362,230 336,548 (25,682) 0 (25,682)

364,910 362,230 329,647 (32,583) 0 (32,583)

Democratic Services

Civic Affairs and Twinning 0 0 (23,183) (23,183) 0 (23,183)

Members Support 0 0 (3,590) (3,590) 0 (3,590)

Electoral Registration 225,260 224,290 204,231 (20,059) 0 (20,059)

Elections 154,620 153,060 135,234 (17,826) 17,820 (6)

Committee Management 0 0 (30,686) (30,686) 0 (30,686)

379,880 377,350 282,006 (95,344) 17,820 (77,524)

Facilities & Other Management

Emergency Planning 0 0 (17,565) (17,565) 0 (17,565)

0 0 (17,565) (17,565) 0 (17,565)

Strategic Director 1

Cambridge Northern Fringe East (CNFE) 0 220,940 125,489 (95,451) 95,450 (1)

0 220,940 125,489 (95,451) 95,450 (1)

Strategic Director 2

Strategic Director #2 0 0 (13,382) (13,382) 0 (13,382)

0 0 (13,382) (13,382) 0 (13,382)

Total Net Budget 4,957,180 15,339,630 5,780,778 (9,558,852) 113,270 (9,445,582)

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report)

 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - virements approved under the Council's constitution  - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted

Strategy and External Partnerships Portfolio  / Strategy & Resources Committee

Revenue Budget - 2020/21 Outturn

Page 120



 Appendix B 
 

Climate Change, Environment and City Centre Portfolio / Environment & Community 

Committee 

 

Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets 

 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

Environmental 
Health 

Environmental Health Salaries - Underspend due to 3 ongoing 
vacancies. Awaiting implementation of out of hours service 
review 

(77,000) 
Yvonne 

O'Donnell 

Environmental 
Health 

Tascomi - Env Health Software - Delay in implementing Digital 
Management System for EH. Carry forward has been requested 

(65,760) 
Yvonne 

O'Donnell 

Garage Services 

Fleet Management - Operational - Overspend on overtime and 
agency cover of £90k was due to extra work on the additional 
vehicles in the Amey contract which came into effect April 2020. 
Replacement workshop doors to allow access for larger 
vehicles resulted in an overspend of £27K. The remainder of 
the variance is spread over all other codes. 

168,126 David Cox 

Garage Services 

Garage- External Work - Taxi testing underachieved due to 
testing date extensions. Income from the Shared Waste Service 
was underachieved and work to address budget shortfall will be 
undertaken in 21-22.  

144,936 David Cox 

Market Square 
Project 

Market Square Project – This overspend is due to additional 
provision for consultancy costs. 

21,453 Joel Carre 

Markets and 
Street Trading 

Markets - The variance is due to £639k underachievement of 
Market Income due to the Covid-19 pandemic & general 
underspends in the cost centre. 

590,662 Tim Jones 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Bill Posting & Distribution - High proportion (80k) of overspend 
relates to the Service not having a client base during pandemic 
lockdown. 

92,446 Anthony French 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Public Toilets - Overspend on maintenance owing to final billing 
cycle of old contract.   Loss of income (25K) from pay per entry 
units owing to the lock down situation and less footfall in city 
centre. 

98,774 Anthony French 

Tourism 

Tourism - Over-spend, due to unbudgeted for pension liability 
costs associated with Visit Cambridge and Beyond (VCB) CEO 
‘pension strain’ payment following their redundancy as a result 
of VCB liquidation in July 2020 

115,533 Joel Carre 

Waste 

For the waste service as a whole more spend has been 
incurred as additional rounds have been put in place to allow a 
reduced number of staff on each collection round to adhere to 
social distancing. Trade waste income has been hit due to the 
reduced demand for collections 

220,305 Trevor Nicoll 

Other Miscellaneous (11,553) - 

    

1,297,922 
 

  

 

Page 121



 Appendix B 
 

Communities Portfolio / Environment & Community Committee 

Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets 

 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

Bereavement 
Services 

City Cambridge Cemeteries - Covid 19 had a significant impact 
on the services over all budgets. Burial and exclusive right of 
internment income increased overall due to the increased 
charges as burial numbers remained on par with 19/20. 
Operational/maintenance spend was low due to the pandemic 
and its impact on the goods and services we use resulted in a 
higher than expected end of year financial outcome. 

(82,288) Glyn Theobald 

Bereavement 
Services 

Cambridge Crematorium - Covid 19 had a significant impact on 
the services over all budgets.  Cremation figures were higher 
than anticipated, memorialisation was impacted as the general 
office was closed and cyclical renewals were held back, 
memorial suppliers were closed so no orders could be fulfilled.    
Operational/maintenance spend was low due to the pandemic 
and only light and essential maintenance was carried out. 

(87,391) Glyn Theobald 

Bereavement 
Services 

Bereavement Services - Burials & Grounds - Covid 19 had a 
significant impact on the services over all budgets.  
Operational/maintenance spend was low due to the pandemic 
and its impact on the goods and services we use. This resulted 
in a higher than expected end of year financial outcome. 

(28,100) Glyn Theobald 

Bereavement 
Services 

Bereavement Services Central Costs - Covid 19 had a 
significant impact on the services over all budgets. Agency staff 
were used to assist in the operation for Q1 initial lockdown, as 
we are operating -1.5 FTE across the team. 
The staff underspend was consistent with the savings projected 
within the service review. Operational/maintenance spend was 
low due to the pandemic and its impact on the goods and 
services we use this resulted in a higher than expected end of 
year financial outcome. 

(31,940) Glyn Theobald 

Bereavement 
Services 

Transfer to Earmarked Reserves – This is the net surplus over 
budget that has been achieved by the whole of the 
bereavement service and has been transferred to the 
earmarked reserve in order to fund improvements to the service 

246,369 Glyn Theobald 

Community 
Centres 

The Meadows Community Centre - Although expenditure has 
been kept to a minimum resulting in an underspend of 
expenditure this has been cancelled out by a major loss of 
income due to the centre being shut for approximately 8 months 
and then only partially open due to C19 restrictions. The 
government grant for furlough costs now shows against this 
cost centre which in turn reduces the previously anticipated 
year end variance. 

22,771 Jackie Hanson 

Community 
Centres 

Brown's Field Youth and Community Centre - There has been a 
major loss of income caused by having to shut during the initial 
lockdown due to Covid19 and then only partially open due to 
restrictions. We have had a government grant for furlough costs 
which in turn has reduced the previously anticipated year end 
variance. 

27,323 Paula Bishop 

Community 
Centres 

Clay Farm Community Centre - The cost centre includes 
provision of £200k income for commercial rent for the non-
community parts of the building, which is not managed by 
community services. Approximately £40k has been received 
resulting in a shortfall of £160k. This shortfall will be reviewed 
as part of the forthcoming budget cycle. Income from hire 
charges not reached due to Covid restrictions and closure of 
centre in line with government guidance. Overspend on 
essential maintenance cost codes as highlighted during the 
year. 

226,712 Sally Roden 

Page 122



 Appendix B 
 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

Community 
Development 

Community Development - Admin - There has been a planned 
underspend within this cost centre to offset the expected 
overspend within other areas of the Service due to the Covid 19 
pandemic 

(25,889) Cathy Heath 

Community 
Development 

Community Resilience - This cost centre contains funding from 
Central Government for Clinically Extremely Vulnerable 
residents - this is offset by various expenditure across the 
service (specific and staff hours). 

(28,363) Cathy Heath 

Culture & 
Community 

Culture and Community - Some project have been unable to 
take place due to the C19 pandemic: Activate: £12,450, 
Celebration of Women: £10k and Romany Heritage: £3k. A 
carry forward has been requested to progress these projects in 
21-22. 

(45,373) Jane Wilson 

Culture & 
Community 

Corn Exchange and Guildhalls - The venues have not been 
able to operate for the whole of this year. The estimated out-
turn variance does not take into account the Income 
Compensation Scheme payments which has been kept in 
central budgets 

766,551 Jane Wilson 

Culture & 
Community 

City Events - As previously reported, it was not possible to run 
the major events under COVID, which resulted in a significant 
reduction in expenditure 

(181,384) Jane Wilson 

Culture & 
Community 

Folk Festival - The 2020 Festival was not able to take place due 
to COVID.  The Council secured a grant from the Culture 
Recovery Fund and received support from the Income 
Compensation Scheme although the latter is held centrally and 
does not show in this cost centre 

194,614 Jane Wilson 

Culture & 
Community 

Cambridge Live - Central - Central services (box office, 
marketing fundraising) ran on a reduced basis throughout the 
year, resulting in less expenditure, particularly on staffing. 

(113,617) Jane Wilson 

Neighbourhood 
Community 

Neighbourhood Community Development - Food Hub project 
Revenue budget of £44k not spent due to Covid 19 and review 
of project needs as a result. Request to carry forward this £44k 
budget to 21-22 has been submitted as this is still a priority 
project for the council 

(51,293) Sally Roden 

Sport & 
Recreation 

Leisure Contract Management Fees - There is a contract fee 

surplus because of how the contract fee is increased by inflation 

and compounded interest accumulates within the budget.  

CPI Inflation was 0.5% in October this year and a 2.25% budget 

increase was applied to the contract sum budget at the start of 

the year, which generates a gap between the actual and budget 

sum. The contract saving was offset by a one-off payment of 

£269k to provide Covid support to GLL during the enforced 

closure of facilities. 

219,128 Ian Ross 

Sport & 
Recreation 

Leisure Contract Client Costs – This variance is due to a 

underspends over a number of cost codes including a £75k 

saving on revenue contribution to a capital project where the 

project was delayed until 2021/22.  This has been requested as 

a carry forward. 

(140,560) Ian Ross 

Voluntary Sector 

Community Development Voluntary Support - Due to Covid19 
some of the voluntary groups have been unable to use the 
approved awards for the purpose intended or for any revised 
projects. There has also been a £15k refund against 
Discretionary Rate Relief due to CCC being able to give 100% 
Expanded Retail Relief to some groups 

(68,230) Jackie Hanson 

Other Miscellaneous (75,923) - 

    743,117   

 

Page 123



 Appendix B 
 

Housing (GF) Portfolio / Housing Committee 

 

Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets 

 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

Contributions 
to/from reserves 

Contributions to/from HRA - The recharge from the HRA to the 
General Fund for shared amenities was lower than anticipated 
based upon actual spending for 2020/21. Some estate-based 
work was not undertaken as a result of the coronavirus 
pandemic. 

(22,532) Julia Hovells 

Environmental 
Health 

Housing Standards – Budget was approved in the February 
2020 BSR and amended in the July Interim MTFS for Selective 
Licensing of private rented accommodation. Only £10k of the 
net budget of £50k was spent. Since then the whole scheme 
has been determined via a feasibility study not to be needed to 
be introduced within the City. 

(29,590) Claire Adelizzi 

Environmental 
Health 

Energy Officer - Underspend this year due to Covid impacts 
limiting engagement activity and ability to install measures into 
properties. Budget is greater than it should be due to legacy of 
sharing prosperity work. A carry forward has been requested for 
the full underspend amount to undertake consultancy work to 
produce a study to understand the scale of investment, activity 
and resources required to bring the private housing stock in 
Cambridge up to net zero standards 

(24,484) Justin Smith 

Homelessness 

Homelessness Costs - The great majority of the variance is due 
to receiving less income from housing benefit than anticipated 
when the budget was set.  The amount of benefit collected will 
always be less than expenditure on hotel accommodation as 
the maximum amount of HB awarded is generally only one-third 
to one-quarter of the actual cost of a room.  In addition we 
occasionally house as an emergency someone who later turns 
out to be ineligible to claim benefit or who disappears from 
accommodation before a claim is made. 

101,098 
James 

McWilliams 

Homelessness 

Grants to Housing Agencies - Generally we retain some money 
in the grant budget to cover making additional grants to any 
worthy projects that emerge in the year or to cover 
unanticipated additional costs in successful projects already 
being funded.  In this year there was no such claim on the 
unallocated amount, this amounting to three-quarters of the 
total under-spend in this budget area. 

(40,247) 
James 

McWilliams 

Homelessness 

COVID-19 Rough Sleepers Services - This cost centre was set 
up exclusively to capture the unanticipated costs of housing 
rough sleepers as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. At 
times, up to 130 individuals have been accommodated in a wide 
variety of temporary accommodation, including B&B's, hotels, 
and university housing. A number of people have now been 
moved on to more permanent accommodation, but there is a 
continued need to house in the region of 15 to 20 rough 
sleepers until accommodation can be identified. Longer-term 
accommodation has been successfully identified for 
approximately 150 people.  The authority has been successful 
in securing some MHCLG grant (£988,200) towards these 
costs. 

1,258,342 Julia Hovells 

Housing Advice 

Housing Advice Service - This under-spend is largely accounted 
for by three items.  Of these, expenditure on conferences is nil 
due to Covid restrictions and fees paid to consultants were 
lower than anticipated.  The biggest under-spend is in respect 
of employee costs, where more staff were able to be funded 
through the Flexible Homeless Support Grant than originally 

(40,581) 
James 

McWilliams 

Page 124



 Appendix B 
 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

anticipated. 

Housing Strategy 
Housing Strategy – The variance relates mainly to vacant posts 
- 7 hours per week Housing Strategy Manager post, plus a part-
time Housing Development Officer post 

(38,078) Helen Reed 

Other Miscellaneous 29,213 - 

    1,193,141   

 

Page 125



 Appendix B 
 

Planning Policy and Open Spaces Portfolio / Planning & Transport Committee 

 

Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets 

 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

Building Control 

Building Control Other - The planned service review was 
delayed in implementation until the new financial year 1 April 
2021, therefore most of the underspend was due to vacant 
positions.  In addition the team have commanded consultancy 
income, this has assisted to reduce the non fee earning 
contribution from each partner council and helped to bridge the 
income gap from Covid-19. 

(48,424) Heather Jones 

Planning 

Greater Cambridge Planning Service - The overspend is 
predominantly due to the impacts of the COVID19 pandemic on 
the service. The main part of this is a large reduction in income 
for the service in the first half of the year. Applications and land 
charges activity reduced significantly during the first quarter and 
didn’t recover to around normal levels until the end of the 
Summer.  In addition, there have been increased operating 
(mainly temporary staffing) costs from delivering services in a 
different way (such as through remote planning committees, 
carrying out land charges searches for agents not able to attend 
the office etc.) whilst maintaining the service’s commitment to 
the Local Plan timetable and the development management ICT 
and process integration. 

752,617 Stephen Kelly 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery 

Refreshments Kiosks - Surplus in rental income owing to re-
marketing of some of assets earlier in the financial year 

(24,840) Alistair Wilson 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Open Space Asset Management - The COVID-19 pandemic 
has had a significant and varied financial impact on streets and 
open spaces services. Specifically the loss of income due to the 
closure of income generating facilities and the impact of 
modifications and changes in relation to COVID risk 
management.  Key sources of loss of external income included 
advertising on roundabouts and car parking charges which 
ceased or were closed during the lockdown period.  Additional 
costs include signage, temporary toilets, and fencing relating to 
COVID regulation changes 

68,866 Alistair Wilson 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Lettings & Events on Open Spaces - Very few events took place 
in 2020 owing to the pandemic (lockdown) resulting in a 
majority of the budgeted income not being realised. 

47,955 Anthony French 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Open Space Asset Maintenance - Overspend due to 
unexpected fuel costs and large costs attached to Covid 19 
operations 

31,491 John Parrott 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Arboriculture – the underspend was mainly on tree works and 
this was because COVID affected the contractors ability to 
deliver works within 20-21 financial year plus the Nature Smart 
Cities 2 Seas workload in administering the planting of ~800 
trees (x3 usual rate) required additional officer and contractor 
capacity. 
A carry forward of budget to 21-22 has been included for the 
£60k. This amount will not cover all committed works and an 
overspend in 21-22 is likely unless COVID continues to cause 
delays to delivery and pushes the catch-up into the following 
financial year or new staff recruitment increase the current 
capacity for turning over works 

(59,974) 
Matthew 
Magrath 

Page 126



 Appendix B 
 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Flood Risk Management - Overachievement of income (£30k) 
from Hobson's Conduit Trust and SCDC Recharges. 

(49,838) Rachel Veysey 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

Open Space Mgt Salaries - There is a £10,278 income payment 
from the 2 Seas project in relation to 15% admin of the total 
salaries.   A further contribution to salary costs of £68517 was 
paid from the 2 Seas cost centre for salary cost.  Underspends 
due to vacancies (Cycling and Walking) £30,000. 

(123,649) Alistair Wilson 

S&OS Project 
Delivery 

Project Delivery (Cost Recovered) and(salaried) - Staffing 
recharges to capital project cost centres have now been 
actioned, where practicable, for 2020/ 21 which has reduced the 
under-recovery of income to this cost centre. However, the 
service is still needing to undertake work where costs are not (in 
some cases yet) able to be recovered. 

42,095 Alistair Wilson 

Other Miscellaneous (26,058) - 

    610,241   

 

Page 127



 Appendix B 
 

Transport and Community Safety Portfolio / Planning & Transport Committee 

 

Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets 

 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

CCTV 
CCTV - This relates to an overachievement of income and 
salary savings, as a result of vacancies being held, pending 
service review outcome 

(120,065) Joel Carre 

Community Safety 

Community Safety - Safer City Fund was underspent due to 
Covid restrictions and the suspension of Operation Carmel 
where normally Environmental Visual Audits would have 
required project input.  Consultancy fees were underspent as 
some court cases were postponed until 2021 and therefore 
legal fees not incurred. A carry forward has been requested for 
the recruitment of the Youth Liaison Officer which did not take 
place due to the Covid restrictions. 

(39,646) Lynda Kilkelly 

Parking Services 

Grand Arcade Car Park - Parking services has seen a year end 
negative in excess of £7.4m across the whole parking portfolio. 
This is as a result of the national lockdowns through the 20/21 
F/Y.  The service has supported the national response and 
immunisation programmes providing free parking and reduced 
rate parking to qualifying customers. 

3,362,936 Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 

Park Street Car Park - The Park Street budget has a 9 month 
budget set against 12 month operation due to the expected 
closure of the car park which, has also affected the variance.  
Parking services has seen a year end negative in excess of 
£7.4m across the whole parking portfolio. This is as a result of 
the national lockdowns through the 20/21 F/Y.  The service has 
supported the national response and immunisation programmes 
providing free parking and reduced rate parking to qualifying 
customers. 

1,081,927 Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 

Grafton Centre West Car Park - Parking services has seen a 
year end negative in excess of £7.4m across the whole parking 
portfolio. This is as a result of the national lockdowns through 
the 20/21 F/Y.  The service has supported the national 
response and immunisation programmes providing free parking 
and reduced rate parking to qualifying customers. 

638,766 Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 

Grafton Centre East Car Park - Parking services has seen a 
year end negative in excess of £7.4m across the whole parking 
portfolio. This is as a result of the national lockdowns through 
the 20/21 F/Y.  The service has supported the national 
response and immunisation programmes providing free parking 
and reduced rate parking to qualifying customers. 

1,246,066 Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 

Queen Anne Terrace Car Park - Parking services has seen a 
year end negative in excess of £7.4m across the whole parking 
portfolio. This is as a result of the national lockdowns through 
the 20/21 F/Y.  The service has supported the national 
response and immunisation programmes providing free parking 
and reduced rate parking to qualifying customers. 

916,324 Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 

Adam & Eve Street Car Park - Parking services has seen a year 
end negative in excess of £7.4m across the whole parking 
portfolio. This is as a result of the national lockdowns through 
the 20/21 F/Y.  The service has supported the national 
response and immunisation programmes providing free parking 
and reduced rate parking to qualifying customers. 

96,436 Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 

Castle Hill Car Park - Parking services has seen a year end 
negative in excess of £7.4m across the whole parking portfolio. 
This is as a result of the national lockdowns through the 20/21 
F/Y.  The service has supported the national response and 

180,882 Sean Cleary 

Page 128



 Appendix B 
 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

immunisation programmes providing free parking and reduced 
rate parking to qualifying customers. 

Parking Services 

Gwydir Street Car Park - Parking services has seen a year end 
negative in excess of £7.4m across the whole parking portfolio. 
This is as a result of the national lockdowns through the 20/21 
F/Y.  The service has supported the national response and 
immunisation programmes providing free parking and reduced 
rate parking to qualifying customers. 

20,907 Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 

Parking Administration - Underspend on cash collection due to 
reduction in cash payments and collection requirements.  
Parking services has seen a year end negative in excess of 
£7.4m across the whole parking portfolio. This is as a result of 
the national lockdowns through the 20/21 F/Y.  The service has 
supported the national response and immunisation programmes 
providing free parking and reduced rate parking to qualifying 
customers. 

(110,234) Sean Cleary 

Parking Services 
Electric Vehicle Charging - Car Parks - EV consultancy budget 
is requested to be carried forward as part of overall EV project 
and tender that was launched May 2021 

(36,244) Sean Cleary 

S&OS Operations 
(excluding 

Markets and 
Street Trading) 

Operations Salaries - Variance is due to vacant posts. Posts are 
being recruited to in 2021/22. 

(43,593) Don Blair 

Transport 
Services 

Taxicard Service - This cost centre has been underspent for a 
number of years with membership numbers reducing year on 
year. A review of the scheme is underway with the aim being to 
increase usage with a more flexible scheme.  Proposals will be 
presented to Committee in June.  Covid-19 has also had an 
impact on taxi travel which has impacted on this budget. 

(92,199) Sharon Line 

Other Miscellaneous (48,790) - 

    7,053,473   

 

Page 129



 Appendix B 
 

Finance & Resources Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Committee 

 

Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets 

 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

Accountancy & 
Support Services 

Accountancy and Support Services - The underspend is due to 
vacant posts that have been held open pending a service 
review, net of agency staff costs to ensure that essential service 
has been maintained. 

(173,022) Caroline Ryba 

Admin Buildings 
Guildhall - There were lower than expected commercial rent 
receipts though this was partially offset by savings in other 
operational areas. 

117,054 Will Barfield 

Admin Buildings 
Mandela House - The underspend is mainly a result of a large 
under spend in gas and electricity costs. 

(69,929) Will Barfield 

Admin Buildings 
130 Cowley Road - The underspend is due to reduced 
electricity and cleaning costs. 

(40,426) Will Barfield 

Admin Buildings 
Cowley Road Compound - There were higher than expected 
maintenance and security costs during the year that account for 
the overspend. 

29,470 Will Barfield 

Corporate 
Business 

Corporate Business Support - Areas of underspend include 
premises, transport, maintenance of equipment, printing, 
conference expenses and postage and courier.  These budgets 
have been impacted by Covid-19 and different ways of working, 
leading to lower levels of requirement this year. The employee 
under spend includes a vacant post, which is being reviewed as 
part of the Business Support review. 

(76,571) Sharon Line 

Customer Service 
Centre 

Customer Access Strategy - Customer Service Centre - The 
underspend is attributed to staff vacancies in the service. 
Temporary staff were recruited to create capacity to facilitate 
activities associated with the service review to be carried out, 
the contracted period temporary staff were recruited from still 
left an underspend in the budget. ICT equipment, training and 
project activities are ongoing so a carry forward request of 
£60,000 is included to enable these to be completed in 21-22. 

(141,491) 
Clarissa 
Norman 

Facilities & Other 
Management 

Commercial Property Additional Maintenance - The variance is 
primarily due to a delay in the commencement of the 69-71 
Lensfield Road planned works project due to COVID-19 and 
staff changes.  A carry forward of budget of £26,400 is 
requested/required in order to finance the completion of the cost 
of the works (commitment is in place). The remaining 
underspend is due to works for the 69-71 Lensfield Road 
project being lower than originally budgeted and the remaining 
Gwydir Street works being included within the budget for 
commercial property Capital works. 

(97,092) Will Barfield 

Facilities & Other 
Management 

Facilities Management - Minor variances over various codes (36,273) Will Barfield 

Finance General 
Finance General Recharges - The overspend is partly due to 
additional audit fees for the 19-20 financial year plus greater 
than expected bank charges 

50,370 Karen Whyatt 

Finance General 

Finance General - £463k increase in bad debt provision - is 
largely Covid related and not budgeted for due to uncertainty. 
Favourable variance of £222k on GF share of investment 
income due to an overly pessimistic budget, coupled with a 
reduction in the risk-free interest rate to be applied in calculating 
the HRA share. Favourable variance of £99k on interest from 
CIP entities due to unwinding of discount on Mill Rd land not 
being budgeted for (£199k), quicker than expected drawdown 
on Cromwell Rd (£54k), less slower than expected drawdown 

146,640 
Jody 

Etherington 

Page 130



 Appendix B 
 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

on Mill Rd (-£153k). Note that amounts received in excess of 
average treasury rate are transferred to an earmarked reserve. 
Adverse variance of £33k on miscellaneous expenditure. These 
accounts are mostly used for miscellaneous transactions 
relating to Council tax, including discretionary boat discounts at 
the Council's cost (£70k debit) and a credit of £32k relating to 
the clearance of miscellaneous 2019/20 transactions. 
Favourable variance of £30k on CCHC loan interest. Adverse 
variance of £17k on final MRP figure - budget was estimated at 
a lower level. £11k received as final payment in respect of 
historic Icelandic investment losses (not budgeted for). 

Head of Finance - 
Holding/Suspense 

Accounts 

Shared Payroll Service – Additional income of £50k plus 
reduced IT costs and salary costs partly offset by increased 
agency costs 

(27,953) Mike Scott 

Head of Finance - 
Holding/Suspense 

Accounts 

Pensions Costs Recharged - Monthly charge to County for past 
early retirements less than expected. This will be reviewed in 
21-22 

(70,906) Karen Whyatt 

Human Resources 

Human Resources - Organisational Development - The under 
spends are across a range of small budget areas and include 
an amount of £15k which has been requested for carry forward 
to support the management development programme in 
2021/22. 

(35,642) 
Deborah 
Simpson 

Internal Audit 

Audit - The underspend is mostly attributable to staff vacancies 
and reflects reduction in demand for audit work at the beginning 
of the pandemic. Substantive employees have been recruited 
into the vacant posts, and they are joining in the first quarter of 
2021/22. Vacancies were not backfilled with Agency Workers in 
the last quarter, to avoid inefficient short-term operational costs 
from onboarding team members in quick succession.  Internal 
Audit costs are expected to normalise for the 2021/22 financial 
year as we reintroduce audit and assurance work with a full 
team. 

(132,915) Jonathan Tully 

IT Contract 
Management 

IT Contract Costs - Underspends have occurred due to changes 
in priorities due to Covid. Usage costs in many areas have 
decreased and continue to decrease as a result of changes to 
working models. Also, a reduction in lease equipment following 
a review and licence consolidation has led to efficiencies. 

(299,732) 
Elissa 

Rospigliosi 

Legal Services 

Legal – The variance is partly due to an underspend in relation 
to staffing budget. In addition other expenses have been tightly 
controlled. Performance in relation to income has been down on 
the year but this has been balanced with the underspend on 
staffing costs. In relation to consumption for the year the City's 
% has shown a fall for the year. 

(28,783) Tom Lewis 

Property Services 

The Lion Yard - The variance is primarily in respect of a prior 
year ground rent balancing charge adjustment.  N.B. We 
receive a percentage of the net income for the Lion Yard 
Centre, but the property is managed by a third party. 

145,750 Philip Doggett 

Property Services 
Lion Yard - South End - The variance is due to a change in 
policy with regard to accounting for quarterly rental income. 

51,367 Philip Doggett 

Property Services 

Other Commercial Properties - The net income shortfall is 
primarily due to the impact of COVID-19 / general economic 
downturn on commercial property rental income e.g. a reduction 
in income from ground rents for which we receive a percentage 
of income, but the properties are managed by others. 

187,940 Philip Doggett 

Property Services 
- Other 

Property Services - The variance is primarily due to a one-off 
increase in asset valuation fees.  The latest 3 year contract with 
the Council's external Valuer ended with the 2020 valuations.  
We have an approved contract deviation for a further year to 
undertake the 2021 valuations and will go out to tender in the 
Autumn for the 2022 valuations onwards.  Asset valuations 
have been difficult this year due to greater market uncertainty 

48,055 Dave Prinsep 

Page 131



 Appendix B 
 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

caused by Covid and the wider effects on the economy 
impacting rents and capital values.  In addition, the valuations 
are further investigated by External Audit with greater scrutiny 
to satisfy sign off for the Statement of Accounts.  This further 
scrutiny requires the external Valuer to respond to significant 
queries to support the values. 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

Rent Allowances & Rent Rebates - The variance is primarily 
due to a reduction in the recovery of benefit overpayments 
(from claimants no longer claiming benefits) due to COVID-19 - 
£103k and net subsidy differences of £53k within overall 
expenditure of £30.5 million. 

155,663 
Naomi 

Armstrong 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

Local Taxation - The variance is primarily due to a reduction in 
fees collected income (court costs income) due to COVID-19 - 
£97k and one-off staffing restructuring costs of £105k (N.B. 
costs incurred in order to deliver future year ongoing savings).  
Costs partly offset by (£59k) business rates pooling fees and 
(£38k) staffing savings primarily resulting from a post that was 
held vacant during the year that has now been obsoleted via the 
restructure for the service. 

114,041 Kevin Jay 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

Housing Benefits - The variance is primarily due to staffing 
savings resulting from posts held vacant during the financial 
year that have now been obsoleted via the restructure for the 
service (£69k), a one off additional admin subsidy grant for the 
2020/21 financial year that was received in March 2021 (£35k) 
and one-off staffing restructuring costs of £57k (NB costs 
incurred in order to deliver future year ongoing savings). 

(71,875) 
Naomi 

Armstrong 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

Revenue Overheads - The variance is primarily due to one-off 
staffing restructuring costs (N.B. costs incurred in order to 
deliver future year ongoing savings). 

96,236 
Naomi 

Armstrong 

S&OS 
Development 

(excluding Project 
Delivery) 

River Frontage Management - Small overachievement on 
licencing owing to increased occupations.  Underspend on 
maintenance during Covid period with specialist contractors not 
available - funds not therefore committed. 

(23,884) Anthony French 

Strategic Director 
1 

Strategic Director 1 - Additional spend for security following XR 
action earlier this year and for an assessment for GH and 
Mandela £29k 

39,577 Fiona Bryant 

Other Miscellaneous 18,942 - 

    (125,389)   

 

Page 132



 Appendix B 
 

Strategy and External Partnerships Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Committee 

 

Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Major Variances from Final Revenue Budgets 

 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

Central Costs 

Central Provisions to be Allocated - The interim MTFS 
forecasted an initial shortfall of £9.8m in additional spend and 
underachieved income in 20-21 due to Covid. This budgeted 
additional cost was held centrally in order to maintain visibility of 
individual service overspends. The underspend here is offset by 
Covid-related overspends on other individual cost centres. 

(9,799,180) Karen Whyatt 

Central Costs 

Support Services Trading Balances - The cost centre variance 
is prior to the transfer of individual support service year-end 
balances, which are reported elsewhere. It also partly relates to 
support service costs which are not fully allocated to services at 
the budget stage. 

222,279 
Richard 

Wesbroom 

Central Costs 
Pensions - Early retirements and Past Deficit - £36k relates to 
the correction of an historic error in the GF/HRA split, and the 
remainder is rephasing due to the impact of discounting. 

166,708 Karen Whyatt 

Chief Executives 

Corporate Management - The overspend is an unavoidable 
revenue pressure and it is in relation to costs incurred in the 
course of recruitment and employment of the interim post of 
chief executive this financial year. 

105,726 Robert Pollock 

Corporate 
Strategy 

Corporate Policy - The underspend results from a number of 
smaller underspends across the cost centre. Some of the 
underspend relates to salary costs for the Strategy and 
Partnerships Manager as a result of reduced working hours 
(£5k), and there has also been an underspend on staff-related 
budgets (£6k) due to Covid-19 restrictions on travel and face-to-
face events (e.g. conferences, training and public transport). 
There were also underspends on budgets for events (£5k) and 
publicity (£6k) where we were not able to organise many face-
to-face events or carry out advertising or publicity activities due 
to Covid-19 restrictions. Based on high demand for interpreting 
and translation services during the first lockdown when the 
Council was seeking to share Covid messages with particular 
community groups, in previous forecasts allowance was made 
for an overspend on the interpreting and translation budget over 
the course of the year. However, spend on this demand-led 
budget during the second half of the year was much lower than 
in the first half of the year. 

(25,682) David Kidston 

Democratic 
Services 

Civic Affairs and Twinning - Underspend relates to expenses for 
official public Events, and public transport for mayoral travel - 
budgets not utilised due to COVID restrictions for most of the 
year. 

(23,183) Gary Clift 

Democratic 
Services 

Electoral Registration - The variance on this cost centre is due 
to the reduced payments made to our registration canvassers 
for 20/21. Due to the pandemic and subsequent lockdown, our 
canvassers were unable to complete their door-to-door visits in 
November and therefore the money they would have earned 
was unused. Some savings were made due to the move to 
online canvassing; however, it is too early to say if this was a 
result of the pandemic or an ongoing change in householder's 
habits. 

(20,059) Vicky Breading 

Democratic 
Services 

Committee Management - The underspend relates to employee 
budget underspend due to one member of staff retiring earlier in 
the year. There is also underspend on printing, hall hire, audio 
equipment hire for committee meetings and also training, all 
expenses not incurred this year due to COVID restrictions in 

(30,686) Gary Clift 

Page 133



 Appendix B 
 

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount                 £ Contact 

place. 

Strategic Director 
1 

Cambridge Northern Fringe East (CNFE) - The pandemic has 
resulted in delays in the project. A carry forward is requested to 
enable this to continue in 21-22 

(95,451) Fiona Bryant 

Other Miscellaneous (59,324) - 

    (9,558,852)   

 

Page 134



Carry Forward 

Budget

£

1
Tascomi - The Tascomi project was due to be completed and paid for by March 21 but due to 

supplier and ICT issues the project has been delayed and  therefore a carry forward is required.
65,760

Yvonne 

O'Donnell

Total Climate Change, Environment and City Centre 65,760

2

Culture and Community - Romany Heritage Project - delayed by the onset of the Covid 

pandemic. Although some activities were progressed on-line this was not. As we have more 

information on the potential for face to face delivery, and more understanding of how to work 

with different groups in a blended way, the intention is to restart the work in 2021-22.

3,000 Jane Wilson

3

Culture and Community - Celebrating Women 2020 - delayed by the onset of the Covid 

pandemic. Although some activities were progressed on-line this was not. As we have more 

information on the potential for face to face delivery, and more understanding of how to work 

with different groups in a blended way, the intention is to restart the work in 2021-22.

10,000 Jane Wilson

4

Culture and Community - Activate - delayed by the onset of the Covid pandemic. Although 

some activities were progressed on-line this was not. As we have more information on the 

potential for face to face delivery, and more understanding of how to work with different 

groups in a blended way, the intention is to restart the work in 2021-22.

12,450 Jane Wilson

5

Neighbourhood Community Development - The Food Hub Project is a priority task for the 

service and councillors. As a result of the COVID emergency, redeployment and increased 

workload of  council officers and the need for Cambridge Sustainable Food to deliver 

emergency food to communities,  work on finding a more permanent site for the food hub has 

not been progressed as we had anticipated this year. However the pandemic has informed 

revised future requirements which are being discussed and the search for a permanent site has 

begun. This budget will be used to underpin revenue costs for the project once a base has been 

found 

44,000 Sally Roden

6
Leisure Contract Client Costs - Request carry forward of £75k earmarked for Refit 3 carbon 

reduction capital projects 
75,000 Ian Ross

7

Community Service (Sport & Recreation) - The money allocated to this subjective account was 

specifically to be able to provide a free exercise referral (ER) service for up to 200 residents in 

the greatest need.  This was the last year of annual grant money (£10k) provided by the Anti-

Poverty Fund, to specifically fund a free ER service.  Since the forced closure of leisure facilities 

(as a result of COVID 19), the service has been unable to re-open fully for new referrals since 

March 2020 and therefore this final year of money remains unspent.  We fully expect that upon 

the easing of this third lockdown and the safe re-opening of leisure facilities, that we will be 

able to open ER services again for the first time to new referrals since Autumn; only one 

referral was able to take up a free place on the ER service upon its brief re-opening in the 

Autumn.  As a result of the pandemic, we expect to see a steady upsurge in the demand for ER 

in 2021-22; particularly with a potential widening of health and economic inequalities in 

Cambridge, caused by COVID.

10,000
Carrie 

Holbrook

Total Communities 154,450

8

Energy Officer- In 20/21 we were given Executive Councillor support to undertake consultancy 

work to produce a study to understand the scale of investment, activity and resources required 

to bring the private housing stock in Cambridge up to net zero standards. This requires support 

from other departments and is something we have not been able to progress this year due to 

procurement activity required and stakeholder engagement required. However this will be 

completed in 2021/22.

24,480 Justin Smith

Total Housing 24,480

GF Carry Forward Requests from 2020/21 into 2021/22 Appendix C

 Contact

Communities/Environment and Community

DescriptionReference

Climate Change, Environment and City Centre/Environment and Community

Housing (GF) Portfolio / Housing

Page 135



Carry Forward 

Budget

£

 ContactDescriptionReference

Climate Change, Environment and City Centre/Environment and Community

9

Arboriculture - Tree work start and end dates generally fall across the financial year end, in 

order to accommodate the volume of work at this time of year. COVID has led to delays in 

contract completion necessitating extensions to works.

59,970
Matthew 

Magrath

10

Local Nature Reserves- Baseline habitat survey, biodiversity net gain calculations complete, 

report and invoice due by March 2021, request carry forward to cover consultation, 

amendments, design and publication.

7,420 Guy Belcher

Total Planning Policy and Open Spaces 67,390

11

Community Safety -  The recruitment to the Youth Liaison Officer post did not take place in 

2020 because of Covid restrictions which also delayed a complimentary project on County Lines 

which has now gone ahead.  We would need the post to be fixed term for 2 years in order to 

deliver the aims of the role. The carry forward when added to the base budget for 21/22 and 

22/23 would allow us to do this. The intention now is to recruit from April 2021 to a fixed term 

post ending in March 2023 if the carry forward is allowed.  

11,250 Debbie Kaye

12
Electric Vehicle Charging - EV consultancy budget is requested to be carried forward to 21-22 

as part of overall EV project and tender that was launched May 2021
36,240 Sean Cleary

Total Transport and Community Safety 47,490

13

Customer Service Centre - It was agreed  by senior officers and the Exec Councillor that the 

underspend in the Customer Service budget would be used to fund project activities associated 

with the progression of the service review. The project activities are estimated to conclude at 

the end of Q1 2021-2022. This budget is needed to fund the implementation resource required 

to deliver the new service model and therefore realise the savings planned in 2021-2022 from 

the service review.

60,000
Clarissa 

Norman

14

Commercial Property Additional Maintenance - We have placed and committed to a purchase 

order placed under our strategic contract with TSG in accordance with the agreed contractual 

process for structural repairs work on 69-71 Lensfield Road. We anticipate a “lead-in” period of 

3 to 4 weeks starting on 1st March 2021, with site activities commencing on15th March 2021. 

This will take the completion date beyond 31st March 2021.The building  is considered to be in 

a dangerous condition and has needed a carefully considered design solution and a preferred 

sequence of work. Failure to engage with these works could result in loss of amenity, serious 

consequences for a Health & Safety Executive perspective and insurance losses arising out of 

injury to the public who use the roads and pavements and occupiers of neighbouring 

properties.

26,400 Clive de Silva

15

HR - Organisational Development - This money was earmarked for strategic priority work 

within the Transformation budget during 2020/21. This has now been allocated to the HR 

budget after approval by the Executive Councillor. However this was a late 20-21 change. The 

strategic work will focus on a new Management Development Framework to develop 

leadership and management skills within the council which has been unable to be completed 

by the end of the year. It is asked that the budget is carried forward so that the strategic work 

can be continued in 21/22.

15,000
Deborah 

Simpson

Total Finance and Resources 101,400

16

Elections - The decision by central Government to postpone the elections due on 7 May 2020, 

resulted in the all-out city council polls being moved to 6 May 2021. It is therefore requested to 

carry-over the outstanding amount in the 1353 elections cost centre in order to facilitate the 

funding of the delayed polls in the next financial year, where otherwise no city polls would have 

taken place.

17,820 Vicky Breading

17

Cambridge Northern Fringe East (CNFE) - The pandemic has resulted in the need to reformat 

consultation timing and occurrence on the AAP and Relocation projects which has, in turn, 

delayed engagement and progress on the core site development into 2021/22. Therefore a 

carry forward is requested for the remaining budget in the current year

95,450 Fiona Bryant

Total Strategy and External Partnerships 113,270

Strategy and External Partnerships/Strategy & Resources

Transport and Community Safety/Planning and Transport

Finance and Resources/Strategy & Resources

Planning Policy and Open Spaces/Planning and Transport

Page 136



Carry Forward 

Budget

£

 ContactDescriptionReference

Climate Change, Environment and City Centre/Environment and Community

18

Project Plan Expenditure Charged to Revenue - Feasibility Study Project Work -  The projects 

which this carry forward relate to are Mill Lane Boathouse (£20,000), Park Street Car Park 

redevelopment (£10,000), Cherry Hinton library (£940), Bus shelters (£2,000), Bishops Mills 

sluice (£20,000), Cambridge Junction (£9,230), Hobson's Brook (10,000), Designer for BMX trail 

(£7,260 )and Trees for Parker's Piece (£5,000)

84,430 Various

Total Central Budgets 84,430

Total All Portfolios 658,670

Central Budgets

Page 137



Overview Capital Budget Outturn

Committee

Original 

Budget Final Budget Outturn Variance Rephase

Over / (Under) 

Spend

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Environment & Community Committee
Climate Change, Environment and City Centre Portfolio 699 1,807 854 (953) 929 (24)

Communities Portfolio 1,338 4,842 238 (4,604) 4,607 3

Environment & Community Committee Total 2,037 6,649 1,092 (5,557) 5,536 (21)

Housing Committee
Housing (GF) Portfolio 2,168 2,594 134 (2,460) 2,460 0

Housing Committee Total 2,168 2,594 134 (2,460) 2,460 0

Planning & Transport Committee
Planning Policy and Open Spaces Portfolio 520 1,731 326 (1,405) 1,390 (15)

Transport and Community Safety Portfolio 130 501 60 (441) 462 21

Planning & Transport Committee Total 650 2,232 386 (1,846) 1,852 6

Strategy & Resources Committee
Finance & Resources Portfolio 30,135 50,706 13,998 (36,708) 39,363 2,655

Strategy & Resources Committee Total 30,135 50,706 13,998 (36,708) 39,363 2,655

Total Committees 34,990 62,181 15,610 (46,571) 49,211 2,640

Housing (GF) Portfolio 877 1,130 281 (849) 0 (849)

Housing (HRA) Portfolio 60,118 53,929 34,170 (19,759) 18,610 (1,149)

Total for Housing Capital Investment Programme 60,995 55,059 34,451 (20,608) 18,610 (1,998)

Total Capital Plan 95,985 117,240 50,061 (67,179) 67,821 642

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - approval of new capital programmes and projects  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report, BSR)

 - via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

P
age 138



Climate Change, Environment and City Centre Portfolio / Environment & Community Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

Capital Ref Description Lead Officer

Original 

Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variance - 

Outturn 

compared to 

Final Budget

Rephase 

Spend

Over / 

(Under) 

Spend Variance Explanation

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's

100023 - 

PR035
Waste & Recycling Bins - New Developments (S106) Trevor Nicoll 0 143 0 (143) 143 0

No spend has been allocated for the cost of bins delivered to new developments in 20-21. 

This budget needs to be reviewed in the 21-22 year to take into account S106 receipts for 

the purchase of waste receptacles received

100171 - 

PR017
Vehicle Replacement Programme David Cox 400 695 637 (58) 24 (34)

All vehicles delivered except for Fleet 256 on order. Rephase of budget to cover this cost is 

requested

400 838 637 (201) 167 (34)

100112 - 

SC645
Electric vehicle charging points - taxis Jo Dicks 50 386 30 (356) 356 0

Significant Connection delays due to UKPN and Covid has meant that the project has been 

delayed by 12 months but significant delivery has been achieved. 12 of 21 proposed charge 

points are installed and operational with the remaining 9 planned for delivery by September 

21. Purchase orders have been issued for further sites

100200 - 

SC654
Redevelopment of Silver Street Toilets Declan O'Halloran 0 0 11 11 (11) 0

A revised planning application was submitted on the 29th March.  The determination period 

indicates a decision around the 10th August.   Technical design can start w/c 24th August.  

Tenders issued January 2022, with construction June 2022. Initial costs were earlier than 

expected . The full budget for the scheme is in 21-22

100220 - 

SC651
Shared ICT waste management software - Alloy/Yotta Joel Carre 0 297 124 (173) 173 0

Whilst the configuration and testing of the Alloy system for Grounds has progressed as per 

plan, the development of fully end to end Digital processes has taken considerably longer 

than originally anticipated.  Project timescales have been reliant on the availability of Digital 

Sprints and the subsequent release process, however this integration is currently in 

development and will soon be released back to the team for testing. The longer delivery 

programme has also meant project programmed spend with full remaining budget will need 

to be carried forward into 2021/22.

100252 - 

SC688
Environmental Health software Joel Carre 0 46 23 (23) 23 0

The delay is due to the supplier not resolving issues in a timely manner and hence 

withholding final payment until such time as we are satisfied with the software

100279 - 

SC712
Automation of Bishops Mill sluice gate Alistair Wilson 90 90 0 (90) 90 0

This project has not yet been developed.  It is now scheduled for 21/22.  It has been 

allocated to the Drainage Team to progress

100281 - 

SC714
Changing Places toilets at Quayside Alistair Wilson 100 100 0 (100) 100 0

This project was delayed due to the impact of COVID and project development time 

available.

100289 - 

SC722
Purchase of link tip bodies Trevor Nicoll 27 18 28 10 0 10

Scheme is complete. The additional spend was due to 2 extra skips being purchased for the 

growth sites at Trumpington to collect cardboard waste. Covered skips has limited 

contamination of the material and journey times to collect the waste has reduced.

100295 - 

SC727
Logan's Meadow vehicular access Joel Carre 32 32 0 (32) 32 0

Design and build tender has been issued. Market test complete and tenderer has been 

selected. Looking to award to the successful contractor.

100346 - 

SC775
Market Square project Joel Carre 0 0 1 1 (1) 0

The minor initial costs were earlier than expected. The full budget for the scheme is in 21-

22.

299 969 217 (752) 762 10

699 1,807 854 (953) 929 (24)

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - approval of new capital programmes and projects  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report, BSR)

Total

Total Programmes

Total Projects

P
age 139



Communities Portfolio / Environment & Community Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

Capital Ref Description Lead Officer

Original 

Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variance - 

Outturn 

compared to 

Final Budget

Rephase 

Spend

Over / 

(Under) 

Spend Variance Explanation

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's

100018 - 

SC548

S106 Southern Connections Public Art 

Commission
Alistair Wilson 0 13 0 (13) 13 0

This project has been reconfigured for delivery in the Autumn of 2021.  The number of trees 

and their locations have been reduced, but the original scope and purpose are retained.

100028 - 

PR034d

S106 Public art 150th and 400th Anniversary 

Cambridge Rules
Nadine Black 0 0 12 12 0 12

Project is complete. The original budget covered the cost of design, build and installation of 

the artwork but the additional costs of the launch and the export of installations were added to 

the scheme later and thus show as an overspend.

100154 - 

SC644

Acquisition of land adjacent to Huntingdon Road 

Crematorium
Glyn Theobald 0 42 5 (37) 37 0

No further work was undertaken in 20/21 because of the pandemic, we are looking to 

undertake some of the project work in 21/22 regarding planning and car park construction and 

enabling works for the cafe.

100203 - 

PR042g
S106 To the River - artist in residence Nadine Black 0 60 11 (49) 49 0

Report to Place Board expected June 2021 which will set out the business case for the next 

phase.

100217 - 

PR040z

S106 Public art: Historyworks: Michael Rosen 

Walking Trail 2
Nadine Black 0 10 0 (10) 10 0

Project is complete however we are awaiting the evaluation report. Without this we cannot 

make the final payment. The full grant may be repayable if the applicant is not able to provide 

this information.

100232 - 

PR042m
S106 Public art grant - Chesterton village sign Nadine Black 0 10 0 (10) 10 0 Due to the pandemic and resources the project has not moved forward.

100233 - 

PR042n

Public art grant - HistoryWorks:  Travellers and 

Outsiders
Nadine Black 0 15 0 (15) 0 (15) De-allocate funding and reallocate to a new project.

100234 - 

PR042l
S106 Public art grant - Faith and Hope Nadine Black 0 14 8 (6) 6 0

Outstanding payment for the proportion of a legacy element of the project which needs further 

discussion with the Executive Councillor.

100236 - 

SC678
Crematorium - additional car park Glyn Theobald 0 339 0 (339) 339 0

All site works were delayed due to the pandemic. Some consultancy work was progressed 

and the planning application completed and submitted.  On the  successful planning 

determination, the procurement process and construction will be developed.

100237 - 

SC679
Crematorium - cafe facilities Glyn Theobald 0 307 3 (304) 304 0

Work has been delayed due to Covid. The planning application has been submitted and 

procurement of the operator and the building structure will be undertaken in 21/22.   

100241 - 

SC646
Redevelopment of Cambridge Junction Jane Wilson 0 31 1 (30) 30 0 Project paused for review of business case in the light of COVID

100247 - 

PR042d
S106 Romsey Mill community facility grant Jackie Hanson 0 21 0 (21) 21 0 Project delayed due to Covid19

100256 - 

SC692

CHUB - community extension to Cherry Hinton 

library
Jackie Hanson 0 766 2 (764) 764 0

Project delayed due to Covid19

Need to secure funding commitment from RBL and underwriting by the Council. Going to S&R 

July 2021. When budget finalised building work can be progressed.

100264 - 

SC699
Corn Exchange fire doors Jane Wilson 0 0 6 6 0 6

Work complete- unbudgeted additional costs, work had to be completed for health and safety 

compliance

100265 - 

SC700
S106 Nightingale community garden hut Guy Belcher 0 11 11 0 0 0 Project complete

100273 - 

SC708

Replacement plantroom at Jesus Green outdoor 

pool
Ian Ross 140 140 0 (140) 140 0 Project on Hold - Pending Staff resources back from COVID Duties

100277 - 

SC710
Guildhall Small Hall wooden floor Jane Wilson 45 0 0 0 0 0 Project delayed due to COVID

100278 - 

SC711
Guildhall PA system Jane Wilson 25 0 0 0 0 0 Project paused due to COVID

P
age 140



Communities Portfolio / Environment & Community Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

100299 - 

SC731
Cambridge Food Hub Vicky Haywood 100 100 0 (100) 100 0

Food Hub currently has a temporary base at Buchan St NC and is secure for the short to 

medium term at this venue. The council continues to support the project with staff hours. We 

have worked with the FPA / CSF  to update the specification for the project's requirements 

and are researching possible venues .

100302 - 

SC734
Grant for Arbury Court meeting room - voluntary Jackie Hanson 0 3 3 0 0 0 Project complete

100303 - 

SC735
S106 Grant for Chesterton Methodist Church Jackie Hanson 0 15 15 0 0 0 Project complete

100304 - 

SC736
S106 Grant for St George's Church improvements Jackie Hanson 0 15 2 (13) 13 0

Project delayed due to Covid19

Reviewing project with St George's as there have been impacts that may affect project 

progress.

100306 - 

SC738
Wilberforce Road artificial pitches (S106) Ian Ross 0 250 0 (250) 250 0 Awaiting Uni Sign off

100307 - 

SC739
S106 Abbey Pool improvements Ian Ross 425 230 86 (144) 144 0 Works ongoing - awaiting delivery programme from Ustigate

100308 - 

SC740
S106 Chesterton Rec pavilion Ian Ross 178 238 71 (167) 167 0 Works under construction by Ermine Construction Ltd

100309 - 

SC741
S106 Nightingale Rec Ground pavilion Ian Ross 425 505 2 (503) 503 0

Site to be demolished in May 2021

Foundation works scoped and new build commissioned at modular build plant

100325 - 

SC755

BEIS grant for Parkside pools decarbonisation 

works
Ian Ross 0 989 0 (989) 989 0 Works ongoing - Planning Application to be submitted

100326 - SC 

756
BEIS grant for Abbey pool decarbonisation works Ian Ross 0 718 0 (718) 718 0 Works ongoing. Budget requested to be rephased.

1,338 4,842 238 (4,604) 4,607 3

1,338 4,842 238 (4,604) 4,607 3

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - approval of new capital programmes and projects  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report, BSR)

Total

Total ProjectsP
age 141



Housing (GF) Portfolio / Housing Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

Capital Ref Description Lead Officer

Original 

Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variance - 

Outturn 

compared to 

Final Budget

Rephase 

Spend

Over / 

(Under) 

Spend Variance Explanation

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's

100258 - 

SC694

Meadows Community Hub and Buchan 

St retail outlet
Claire Flowers 2,168 2,594 134 (2,460) 2,460 0 Project delayed in planning stage- now in contract (March 2021)

2,168 2,594 134 (2,460) 2,460 0

200000 Repairs Assistance (Owner Occupiers) Jo Wilson 195 195 84 (111) 0 (111)
Due to the pandemic of Covid 19, it has been a difficult year and we were unable to go into 

some of the homes to complete the works as some of our vulnerable clients were shielding.

200001
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 

(Tenants)
Jo Wilson 341 467 124 (343) 0 (343)

Due to the pandemic of Covid 19, it has been a difficult year and we were unable to go into 

a lot of our clients homes to complete the adaptations as some of our vulnerable clients 

were shielding.

200002
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 

(Owner Occupiers)
Jo Wilson 341 468 64 (404) 0 (404)

Due to the pandemic of Covid 19, it has been a difficult year and we were unable to go into 

a lot of our clients home to complete the adaptations as some of our vulnerable clients 

were shielding.

200003 Top Up Assistance (Owner Occupiers) Jo Wilson 0 0 (1) (1) 0 (1)

Due to the pandemic of Covid 19, it has been a difficult year and we were unable to go into 

people's home to complete the adaptations as some of our vulnerable clients were 

shielding.

200004 Relocation Grant (Tenants) Jo Wilson 0 0 8 8 0 8

Due to the pandemic of Covid 19, it has been a difficult year and we were unable to go into 

people's home to complete the adaptations as some of our vulnerable clients were 

shielding.

200007 Top Up Assistance (Tenants) Jo Wilson 0 0 2 2 0 2 This was required as the DFG was over £30,000 and it was all necessary work.

877 1,130 281 (849) 0 (849)

3,045 3,724 415 (3,309) 2,460 (849)

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - approval of new capital programmes and projects  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report, BSR)

Total

Total Projects

Total Other GF Housing

P
age 142



Planning Policy and Open Spaces Portfolio / Planning & Transport Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

Capital Ref Description Lead Officer

Original 

Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variance - 

Outturn 

compared to 

Final Budget

Rephase 

Spend

Over / 

(Under) 

Spend Variance Explanation

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's

100291 - 

SC723

[Withdrawn] Upgrade Kings Hedges 

recreation areas
Alistair Wilson 150 0 0 0 0 0 This item was withdrawn in the Interim MTFS. (COVID response)

150 0 0 0 0 0

100001 - 

PR010a

Environmental Improvements 

Programme - North Area
John Richards 0 25 21 (4) 4 0

Rolling programme of annual schemes reduced in scope in 2020/ 21 to help meet Covid-19 

resource pressures. Small underspend against budget. New budget available for 2021/ 22.

100002 - 

PR010b

Environmental Improvements 

Programme - South Area
John Richards 0 58 2 (56) 56 0

Programme delivery in 2020/ 21 paused to help meet in year Covid-19 financial pressures, 

with significant underspend against budget available. Additional funding available for 2021/ 22.

100003 - 

PR010c

Environmental Improvements 

Programme - West/Central Area
John Richards 0 66 5 (61) 61 0

Programme delivery in 2020/ 21 paused to help meet in year Covid-19 financial pressures, 

with significant underspend against budget available. Additional funding available for 2021/ 22.

100004 - 

PR010d

Environmental Improvements 

Programme - East Area
John Richards 0 58 11 (47) 47 0

Programme delivery in 2020/ 21 paused to help meet in year Covid-19 financial pressures, 

with significant underspend against budget available. Additional funding available for 20201 

22.

100259 - 

PR010

Environmental Improvements 

Programme
Alistair Wilson 170 140 3 (137) 137 0

This programme was scaled back in early summer 2020 in order to meet the Covid-19 driven 

emergency budget pressures. Furthermore, staffing resource within Streets & Open Spaces 

has been required to be re-allocated towards supporting the safe recovery of the city centre 

and local centres through 2020 and 2021.  Projects are, however, being progressed as 

resources allow.

170 347 42 (305) 305 0

100025 - 

SC571

Procurement of IT System to Manage 

Community Infrastructure
Stephen Kelly 0 20 0 (20) 20 0 Procurement for this has not yet commenced, but is expected to be completed in 21/22.

100035 - 

PR030h

S106 Romsey 'town square' public 

realm improvements
John Richards 0 7 2 (5) 0 (5) Project completed with slight saving against total budget.

100088 - 

SC615

S106 Cherry Hinton Grounds 

improvements Phase 2
Alistair Wilson 0 0 8 8 0 8 This project is now complete

100105 - 

SC633

S106 Reinforcing grass edges along 

paths
Alistair Wilson 0 77 72 (5) 0 (5) This project is now complete

100122 - 

PR032s

S106 Footbridge across Hobson's 

Brook (Accordia development)
John Richards 0 0 1 1 0 1

Project now completed. Minor costs incurred within project tolerance incurred during 2020/ 21 

year to complete and close-down project.

100197 - 

SC662

Shared Planning Service software 

implementation
Stephen Kelly 0 32 0 (32) 32 0

Costs likely to be incurred in 21/22 with further implementation activity being driven by the 

emerging service review.

100216 - 

PR032w

S106 Accordia open space 

improvements
Alistair Wilson 0 5 0 (5) 5 0 Work has been completed on the swales and further works are anticipated in 2021

100218 - 

PR031q

S106 Bramblefields nature reserve: to 

improve biodiversity
Alistair Wilson 0 2 0 (2) 0 (2) This project is complete.  No further planting is recommended

100224 - 

PR032z

S106 Trumpington Rec Ground trim 

trail and climbing frame
Alistair Wilson 0 7 0 (7) 0 (7) This project is now complete

100226 - 

PR032y

S106 Trumpington Rec Ground skate 

park
John Richards 0 3 2 (1) 0 (1) Scheme completed

Total Completed

Total Programmes

P
age 143



Planning Policy and Open Spaces Portfolio / Planning & Transport Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

100227 - 

PR031r

S106 Chesterton Rec Ground skate 

and scooter park
John Richards 0 50 3 (47) 47 0

Scheme development and delivery delayed by consultation responses that gave no clear 

mandate. Project scope revisited with a new proposal brought forward, assisted by additional 

£20k S106 funding allocated Autumn 2020. new proposal consulted on in early 2021 has 

majority support, with target finalised design, delivery and completion by end 2021.

100280 - 

SC713

Replacement air quality monitoring 

equipment
Justin Smith 200 200 0 (200) 200 0

Project was delayed due to the impacts of Covid on staff time with other priorities being met. 

The replacement of the air quality monitoring equipment is still a priority with the equipment 

coming to the end of their reasonable life expectancy.

100314 - 

SC744
S106 Cherry Hinton Hall play area John Parrott 0 150 150 0 0 0 Scheme complete

100315 - SC 

745

S106 Chestnut Grove play area: 

benches and bins
John Parrott 0 8 3 (5) 5 0 Benches now in stock, delay due to delivery issues

100316 - SC 

746

S106 Nightingale Avenue rec ground 

footpath improvements
John Parrott 0 10 10 0 0 0 Project complete

100317 - SC 

747

S106 Nightingale Avenue rec ground: 

new all-weather footpath
John Parrott 0 15 0 (15) 15 0 Order raised for further works. Current under spend will be used up by September 2021

100318 - SC 

748

S106 Consort Way play area 

(Trumpington Meadows): fencing
Kelli Munn 0 10 6 (4) 0 (4) Scheme complete

100324 - 

SC754

City centre recovery - Combined 

Authority grant funding
John Richards 0 710 20 (690) 690 0

Costs incurred thus far relate primarily to officer recharges for 2020/ 21. Project delivery plan 

well advanced with procurement of most outputs now underway. Spend expected to increase 

significantly in coming months. The programme is running behind target however and is not 

expected to complete until late 2021.

100327 - SC 

757

S106 Jesus Green ditch biodiversity 

improvements
Alistair Wilson 0 60 7 (53) 53 0 Outline design in progress to support stakeholder and public engagement and consultation.

100349 - 

SC778
Parker's Piece tree planting Matthew Magrath 0 18 0 (18) 18 0 Project yet to commence in earnest. Rephase of budget requested

200 1,384 284 (1,100) 1,085 (15)

520 1,731 326 (1,405) 1,390 (15)

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - approval of new capital programmes and projects  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report, BSR)

Total

Total Projects

P
age 144



Transport and Community Safety Portfolio / Planning & Transport Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

Capital Ref Description Lead Officer

Original 

Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variance - 

Outturn 

compared to 

Final Budget

Rephase 

Spend

Over / 

(Under) 

Spend Variance Explanation

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's

100050 - 

PR039

Minor Highway Improvement 

Programme
John Richards 30 48 14 (34) 34 0

Rolling programme of contributions towards largely County Council led Local Highways 

Improvements (LHIs). Some further costs (approx. £5k) for year 2020/21 still to be invoiced 

by County Council. Remaining budget underspend is a programme saving and is requested 

to be carried forward to year 2021/22 to help meet commitments.

30 48 14 (34) 34 0

100032 - 

SC590

Structural Holding Repairs & Lift 

Refurbishment - Car Parks
Sean Cleary 0 200 1 (199) 199 0

Multi year structural refurbishment project for all car parks with the balance being requested 

to be rephased to 21-22

100156 - 

PV007
Cycleways John Richards 0 0 5 5 (5) 0

Budget for year 2020/ 21 was withdrawn to help meet in year Covid-19 financial pressures. 

The programme had resources committed to two major schemes, both with dependencies 

on other agency's projects. Work was paused where practicable, but some needed to 

continue to meet commitments made - hence staffing cost recharges. Full budget reinstated 

for 2021/ 22.

100193 - 

SC658

Cambridge City CCTV 

infrastructure
Joel Carre 0 12 12 0 0 0 Project complete

100238 - 

SC680
CCTV equipment upgrade Joel Carre 0 3 3 0 0 0 Project complete 

100240 - 

SC682

Pay and display equipment 

upgrade
Sean Cleary 0 0 1 1 0 1 Replacement of P&D machines. Project complete

100268 - 

SC703 

REFCUS

King's Parade - temporary 

barriers
John Richards 0 0 19 19 0 19

Temporary interim scheme now introduced but there were significant costs this year related 

to payments to County for highways works and TROs.

100292 - 

SC724

Residential electric charging 

points
Jo Dicks 100 50 0 (50) 50 0 Funding to support the roll out of EV solutions for Cambridge City

100319 - 

SC749

S106 Holbrook Road play area 

improvements
John Parrott 0 47 3 (44) 44 0 Work delayed due to Covid - construction works started 6th May 21

100320 - 

SC750

S106 Arbury Court play area 

improvements
John Parrott 0 30 0 (30) 30 0 Work delayed due to Covid - construction to begin Monday 17th May

100321 - 

SC751

S106 Robert May Close play 

area improvements
John Parrott 0 40 0 (40) 40 0 Work delayed due to Covid - construction due to begin 31st May

100322 - 

SC752

S106 Byron's Pool ecological 

mitigations
Guy Belcher 0 30 0 (30) 30 0 There has been no spend in this financial year due to work load and Covid restrictions. 

100323 - 

SC753

S106 Nine Wells ecological 

mitigations
Guy Belcher 0 40 0 (40) 40 0 There has been no spend in this financial year due to work load and Covid restrictions.

100 452 44 (408) 428 20

100158 - 

PV018
Bus Shelters John Richards 0 1 2 1 0 1 Project completed with slight variance within tolerance.

0 1 2 1 0 1

130 501 60 (441) 462 21

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - approval of new capital programmes and projects  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report, BSR)

Total

Total Programmes

Total Projects

Total Provisions

P
age 145



Finance & Resources Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

Capital Ref Description Lead Officer

Original 

Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variance - 

Outturn 

compared to 

Final Budget

Rephase 

Spend

Over / 

(Under) 

Spend Variance Explanation

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's £'000's

100142
Relocation of services to 130 Cowley Road 

(OAS)
Will Barfield 0 0 (33) (33) 0 (33) Scheme completed.

100251 Customer Service Centre improvements Clarissa Norman 0 0 12 12 0 12
All essential activities associated with this project have been completed. Project is to be 

closed.

100284 3C ICT resource planning tool Fiona Bryant 7 0 0 0 0 0 Project withdrawn

100287 Improving and consolidating corporate data Fiona Bryant 20 0 0 0 0 0 Project withdrawn

27 0 (21) (21) 0 (21)

100139 Office Accommodation Strategy Phase 2 (OAS) Dave Prinsep 0 70 58 (12) 12 0

Most OAS works have been completed but further requirements have been needed in some 

locations.  Covid-19 delayed some decisions in this respect. Any remaining works will be 

reviewed and implemented over the summer.

100155
Building works at the Guildhall to reduce carbon 

emissions
Will Barfield 0 58 35 (23) 15 (8)

Project was signed off as complete in March 21.  the measurement and verification stage 

has been paid for an is now underway. There is a retention of £14,833 that will be due in 

March 2022

100275 Commercial property repair and maintenance Will Barfield 300 225 153 (72) 72 0

Under spend is result of works at Dales Brewery being less extensive than  estimated.  

Roofing works and window replacement were completed, some windows were repairable 

and   structural works were  not required.

100276 Administrative buildings maintenance Will Barfield 188 94 25 (69) 69 0
Works to replace the goods lift at the Guildhall are planned but this is a specialist item and 

E+F is seeking additional quotes. Work planned for 21/22.

488 447 271 (176) 168 (8)

100146 Mobile working (OAS) Dave Prinsep 0 15 0 (15) 15 0

Most OAS works were completed with some decisions to be made around AV and meeting 

room fit out.  Decisions were delayed due to Covid-19 and possible changes that may be 

required. Plans being made for new ways of working and office/equipment requirements to 

enable this.

100170
Replacement Telecommunications & Local Area 

Network
Fiona Bryant 0 14 0 (14) 14 0

Planned procurement is at the end of the 2020-2021. Rephase of the budget to 21-22 is 

requested.

100190 Resealing the roof at Robert Davies Court Will Barfield 0 177 39 (138) 0 (138) The major re-roofing work that was planned is no longer required

100194 My Cambridge City online customer portal Elissa Rospigliosi 0 46 64 18 (18) 0

Ongoing technical development of the customer portal has been undertaken to enable 

implementation of the council’s new customer service model.  These costs have been 

offset against underspends elsewhere in the transformation budget.

100195 Council Anywhere - desktop transformation Fiona Bryant 18 204 224 20 (20) 0

The overspend was due to purchasing more equipment to complete the roll out of Council 

Anywhere than originally estimated. The budget will be rephased from 21/22 to cover the 

overspend in 20/21.

100202 Office optimisation (OAS) Dave Prinsep 0 50 0 (50) 50 0

Most of the OAS was implemented but decisions on further works were deferred to review 

how early stages worked and if further work may be required. Further work may be required 

to ensure staff can be accommodated as part of the OAS and also in light of Covid-19.

100205
Mill Road Redevelopment - Development Loan 

to CIP
Caroline Ryba 2,554 7,100 1,800 (5,300) 5,300 0

Construction delays due to Covid pandemic and lower CIP borrowing requirements due to 

the cash flow effects of the Affordable Housing payment schedule have delayed 

drawdowns. Rephasing of £5.3m is required to ensure that the full amount of the agreed 

loan, £12m is available to CIP.

100206 Mill Road Redevelopment - Equity Loan to CIP Caroline Ryba 0 4,265 0 (4,265) 4,265 0

Equity contributions from the Council and its development partner have not yet been 

required, due to close management of cash. However equity drawdowns are expected in 

2021/22, therefore the budget of £4.265m requires rephasing into that year.

100225 Cromwell Road Redevelopment (GF) Claire Flowers 0 0 2,820 2,820 0 2,820

This variance relates to a change in how the Cromwell Road project is funded within the 

Council between the General fund and HRA. Project overall is on progress for delivery. 

Resources to fund this spend are held  in the Capital Receipts Reserve.

100243 Property Management software Philip Doggett 0 96 8 (88) 88 0

Contract with the chosen supplier was completed on 25 March 2021.  

Implementation/software installation to take place during the 2021/22 financial year.  

Remaining budget to be carried forward to the 2021/22 financial year for completion of the 

project.

Total Completed

Total Programmes

P
age 146



Finance & Resources Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Committee Appendix D

Capital Budget 2020/21 - Outturn

100253 Income management software Clarissa Norman 0 15 0 (15) 15 0

The income management replacement project has been paused by 3C's ICT in agreement 

with the Head of Transformation and the IT's from SCDC & HDC. When the project 

commences the whole budget will be required to fund the replacement system. 

100254 Secure phone payments Clarissa Norman 0 24 0 (24) 24 0

Clarification is required to confirm the timing of this project. The procurement of corporate 

and contact centre telephony is in train, with implementation planned by 

November/December 21 therefore this project maybe aligned to this implementation. The 

funds will be required to complete the project once a decision has been made in 

consultation with 3C ICT.

100255 HRIS new system Deborah Simpson 150 149 162 13 0 13

Project is now live, continued implementation of modules for recruitment and learning and 

development taking place.  Additional costs have arisen during implementation across three 

councils with data management and phased implementation.

100257 Lion Yard shopping centre investment Dave Prinsep 1,800 6,000 0 (6,000) 6,000 0

Changing market conditions and Covid-19 have impacted original proposals which are 

being reassessed by the Council's long leaseholder.  The project is that of the long 

leaseholder and timings are managed by them.

100260
Cromwell Road Redevelopment - equity loan to 

CIP
Caroline Ryba 3,037 5,000 0 (5,000) 5,000 0

Equity contributions from the Council and its development partner have not yet been 

required, due to close management of cash. However equity drawdowns are expected in 

2021/22, therefore the budget of £5m requires rephasing into that year.

100261
Cromwell Road Redevelopment - development 

loan to CIP
Caroline Ryba 11,300 13,500 7,900 (5,600) 5,600 0

Construction delays due to Covid pandemic and lower CIP borrowing requirements due to 

the cash flow effects of the Affordable Housing payment schedule have delayed 

drawdowns. Rephasing of £5.6m  is required to ensure that the full total of the loan, £16m 

is available to CIP.

100266 Dales Brewery fire alarm system Clare Mitchell 0 2 1 (1) 0 (1) Scheme completed.

100283 - 

SC716
Replacement telephony system with call centre Elissa Rospigliosi 150 150 0 (150) 150 0

This is a 3 Council programme now run by a contractor (previously 3C ICT led). City 

requirements are being worked through with key stakeholders, including the needs of the 

Contact Centre. Baselined programme docs are being updated as key decisions have been 

made. ITT to be issued Mar’21.

100285 Data centre capacity growth 2020-2024 Fiona Bryant 34 34 23 (11) 0 (11)

Scheme completed.The reason for the underspend is a combination of 3CICT procuring the 

hardware at a competitive price, and the work to install and configure the hardware was 

completed during working hours avoiding the payment of overtime, keeping costs down.

100286 Cyber security improvements Fiona Bryant 10 10 11 1 0 1 Scheme completed.

100288 Call management for 3C ICT service desk Fiona Bryant 7 7 0 (7) 7 0 Planned procurement is at the end of the 2020-2021 FY.

100300 Park Street car park development Fiona Bryant 9,744 9,744 565 (9,179) 9,179 0
Need to retender for main contractor which is underway and expected to complete by 

August 2021. Project on track to start on site in early 2022

100313 L2 equity loan to CIP Caroline Ryba 0 500 0 (500) 500 0

Equity contributions from the Council and its development partner have not yet been 

required, as this development is not yet on site. The 2020/21 budget of £500k therefore 

requires rephasing into 2021/22 year.

28,804 47,102 13,617 (33,485) 36,169 2,684

100020 Development Of land at Clay Farm Dave Prinsep 816 357 131 (226) 226 0

A contractual agreement is in place whereby we contribute 7% of the net costs incurred in 

respect of the Collaboration Agreement with Countryside Properties.  Rate of invoices from 

Countryside Properties relate directly to rate of house-building which is variable and beyond 

our control.  Forecast end date for the scheme is currently December 2024.  Budget of 

£226k to be carried forward to the 2021/22 financial year.

100290 Local investment bond Caroline Ryba 0 2,800 0 (2,800) 2,800 0

The borrower's plans have been delayed due to Covid-19, however drawdown of the 

remaining £2.8m is expected in 2021/22, and therefore rephasing of that amount is 

required.

816 3,157 131 (3,026) 3,026 0

30,135 50,706 13,998 (36,708) 39,363 2,655

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect: and are detailed and approved:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year  - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)

 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods  - in September (as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, MTFS)

 - approval of new capital programmes and projects  - in the January committee cycle (as part of the Budget-Setting Report, BSR)

Total

Total Projects

Total Provisions

P
age 147



APPENDIX D

 Budget

Original 

Budget

Current           

Budget  Outturn Variance

Re-phase 

Spend Notes 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Post 

2023/24 2021/22
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

General Fund Housing Capital Spend

Investment in Non-HRA Affordable Housing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other General Fund Housing 877 1,130 281 (849) 0 1 0 0 0 0 902

Total General Fund Housing Capital Spend 877 1,130 281 (849) 0 0 0 0 0 902

HRA Capital Spend

Decent Homes Programme 14,138 13,140 6,660 (6,480) 5,864 2 4,386 1,310 0 168 22,217

Other Spend on HRA Stock 3,762 4,743 2,003 (2,740) 2,503 3 2,503 0 0 0 5,683

HRA New Build 40,122 30,630 23,267 (7,363) 7,170 4 7,170 0 0 0 52,935

HRA Acquisition 1,500 4,383 1,834 (2,549) 2,549 5 2,549 0 0 0 2,549

Sheltered Housing Capital Investment 0 15 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other HRA Capital Spend 330 752 391 (361) 258 6 238 20 0 0 568

Inflation Allowance 266 266 0 (266) 266 7 266 0 0 0 1,005

Total HRA Capital Spend 60,118 53,929 34,170 (19,759) 18,610 17,112 1,330 0 168 84,957

Total Housing Capital Spend 60,995 55,059 34,451 (20,608) 18,610 17,112 1,330 0 168 85,859

Housing Capital Resources

Right to Buy Receipts (General Use) (478) (405) (468) (63) 0 8 0 0 0 0 (478)

Right to Buy Receipts (Retained for New Build / Acquisition) (10,217) (6,702) (2,446) 4,256 0 8 0 0 0 0 (6,131)

Right to Buy Receipts (Debt Set-Aside) 0 0 (266) (266) 0 8 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital Receipts (Shared Ownership) (300) (300) (68) 232 0 9 0 0 0 0 (300)

Other Capital Receipts (Land and Dwellings) 0 0 (301) (301) 0 9 0 0 0 0 0

MRA / MRR (5,878) (7,860) (7,103) 757 (757) 10 (589) 0 0 (168) (23,220)

Client Contributions 0 0 (271) (271) 0 11 0 0 0 0 0

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital (Including R&R) (14,182) (15,079) (4,794) 10,285 (10,284) 12 (10,284) 0 0 0 (29,417)

Other Capital Resources (Grants / Loan Repayments) (23,468) (17,288) (31,520) (14,232) 16,597 13 16,378 219 0 0 (1,932)

Prudential Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Housing Capital Resources (54,523) (47,634) (47,237) 397 5,556 5,505 219 0 (168) (61,478)

Net (Surplus) / Deficit of Resources 6,472 7,425 (12,786) (20,211) 22,617 1,549 0 0 24,381

Capital Balances b/f (42,323) (42,323) (42,323) (38,080)

Use of / (Contribution to) Balances in Year 6,472 7,425 (12,786) 22,617 1,549 0 0 24,381

Set-aside for future Debt Redemption 9,856 9,856 10,121

Ear-marked for specific Retained Right to Buy Receipts 1-4-1 Investment 10,635 10,635 6,908

Residual capital resources remaining to fund future Housing Investment 

Programme
(15,360) (14,407) (38,080) (13,699)

2020/21 Housing Capital Investment Plan - HRA & General Fund Housing

Re-Phasing Year

P
age 148



Appendix D Notes

Note

1

2

3

4

Notes to the Housing Capital Investment Plan

Reason for Variance

A net underspend of £2,740,000 was evident in 2020/21. Fire prevention works were underspent 

(£629,000), with the need to carry this forward into 2021/22, electrical works to communal areas was 

underspent by £146,000, with the need to carry this resource forward.  Underspending in Disabled 

Adaptations (£420,000) with £200,000 re-phased, lifts (£115,000) all re-phased, communal areas uplift 

(£82,000), all re-phased, asbestos removal (£31,000) all re-phased, hard-surfacing works (£57,000) all re-

phased, fire works (£629,000), all re-phased, communal electrical works (£146,000), all re-phased and 

communal doors (£329,000), all re-phased into 2021/22. Underspending in capitalised officers fees 

(£17,000) does not require re-phasing. Overspending in garage improvements (£14,000) and communal 

area floor coverings (£11,000) are also reported at year end. The capital funding for Estate Investment 

works, was underspent by £783,000 with all of the resource requested as a carry forward to complete the 

5 year programme. Underspending of £156,000 in respect of contractor overheads combines some 

slippage with the impact of underspending in other areas and £131,000 is requested to be re-phased. 

A net underspend of £6,480,000 in decent homes expenditure during 2020/21 is a combination of under 

and overspending against the specific decent homes elements. Overspending in roof structure (£144,000) 

and external doors (£86,000) is more than offset by underspending in bathrooms (£722,000), kitchens 

(£392,000), re-wiring (£147,000), energy and insulation works (£1,542,000), central heating (£506,000), 

sulphate (£102,000), other health and safety (£53,000), roof coverings (£199,000), HHSRS (£196,000), 

capitalised officer fees (£26,000), contractor overheads (£711,000), wall structure (£1,857,000), windows 

(£182,000), other external works (£73,000) and chimneys (£2,000). These variances are before 

accounting for leaseholder income, which is reported separately. Re-phasing of underspending in 2020/21 

into 2021/22 is requested in respect of energy improvements (£1,542,000), roof covering (£54,000), re-

wiring (£81,000), kitchens (£392,000), bathrooms (£279,000), wall structure (£1,050,000), windows 

(£182,000), HHSRS (£196,000), other health and safety works (£53,000), other external works (£73,000) 

and contractor overheads (£484,000). Some re-phasing of budgets is requested into later years in the 

programme, including central heating and boilers (£506,000), re-wiring (£66,000), bathrooms (£443,000), 

wall structure (£200,000), sulphate works (£102,000) and contractor overheads (£161,000) when the 

budget is now expected to be required. 

The net underspend of £7,363,000 in the new build programme in 2020/21 relates predominantly to delays 

in 4 schemes. Securing vacant possession of the sites at both Colville Road and Campkin Road took 

longer than anticipated, with the coronavirus pandemic making this more complex inn 2020/21, causing 

underspending of £1,692,000 and £1,682,000 respectively. Delays have also been experienced in the 

projects at the Meadows and Buchan Street and Clerk Maxwell, where delays in the planning process 

resulted in underspending of £1,072,000 and £586,000 respectively. Net re-phasing of £7,170,000 is 

required. Re-phasing of budget for Colville Road II (£1,692,000), Campkin Road (£1,682,000), Meadows 

and Buchan (£1,072,000), Clerk Maxwell (£586,000), Colville Road III (£539,000), L2 (£398,000), Anstey 

Way (£93,000), Akeman Street (£27,000), Ventress Close (£50,000), Kingsway (£58,000), Mill Road 

(£36,000), Cromwell Road (£57,000), Histon Road (£17,000), Ditton Walk (£60,000), Aragon Close 

(£98,000), Sackville Close (£99,000), Borrowdale (£98,000), POD Homes (£10,000), Queensmeadow 

(£1,000), Colville Road Garages (£1,000), Wulfstan Way (£1,000), Kendal Way (£1,000), Gunhild Way 

(£1,000) and Teddar Way (£1,000), is partially offset by negative re-phasing where spend is ahead of 

profile for Fen Road (£8,000). £500,000 of funding for early costs associated with the new 1,000 home 

programme is also requested as a carry forward into 2021/22 to supplement any land acquisitions. The 

profile of spending on all of these schemes will be reviewed again as part of the HRA Medium Term 

Financial Strategy. 

Disabled Facilities Grants were underspent by £747,000 predominantly due to reduced demand and 

limited access to the homes of potentially vulnerable clients in 2020/21 as a direct result of the coronavirus 

pandemic. No re-phasing has been requested as the funding through the Better Care Fund in 2021/22 is 

anticipated to be sufficient to meet demand. The authority will explore potential uses for the balance of 

funds held, but must ensure these comply with the grant conditions under which the funding was received. 

Private Sector Grants and Loans also reported an underspent (£102,000), where demand has reduced in 

recent years.                             

Page 149



5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

Budget of £2,482,000 was incorporated into the programme for land or property acquisitions to facilitate 

development. Of this £1,834,000 was spent and £648,000 is requested to be re-phased to allow one 

acquisition to complete when combined with the new homes programme funding of £500,000 

above.£1,901,000 of resource was included to allow the authority to acquire homes for rough sleeper 

accommodation, but this was not utilised at 31 March 2021. A number of purchases are now progressing, 

with  a request to carry forward the funds into 2021/22, when a new grant bid has been made to MHCLG 

for supplementary funding.

Devolution Grant received in 2020/21 was significantly greater than anticipated as a direct result of 

MHCLG making the final payment of £15,000,000 to the Council directly, as opposed to paying via the 

Combined Authority and the Combined Authority paying across all unclaimed sums at 31 March 2021 

(£7,785,000). The  grant received in advance of incurring expenditure in 2020/21 (£16,597,000) will be 

used in 2021/22. 

The use of revenue funding for capital purposes was less than anticipated, due to underspending across 

the capital programme. This resource will instead be required in 2021/22 to meet the cost of the re-phased 

capital  expenditure.

Income was recovered from leaseholders in 2020/21 in relation to their share of the cost of major 

improvements undertaken as part of the decent homes programme (£230,000) and was also received 

from private residents in relation to contributions towards DFG's or private sector housing repair grants 

(£41,000). 

16 properties were sold in total during 2020/21. £468,000 of the capital receipt is available for general use 

(after all costs have been deducted from each receipt), while £266,000 of the overall capital receipt is 

identified as set-aside to be offset against the debt associated with the unit no longer owned. A further 

£2,446,000 of right to buy receipts have been retained by the local authority in 2020/21, but must be re-

invested now in financing up to 40% of additional social housing units, provided this is done within a 5 year 

time frame. 

The inflation allowance of £266,000 was not allocated to schemes in 2020/21 due to the level of 

underspending. By re-phasing this into 2021/22 the allowance can be allocated where required once final 

scheme / contract values are known.

The major repairs reserve was used to finance capital expenditure in the housing stock in 2020/21, 

including investment in decent homes work and other investment in the housing stock. Where less of this 

funding was utilised in 2020/21 than anticipated, it will instead be utilised in 2021/22 and beyond.   

With little activity in respect of shared ownership housing in 2020/21, a net sum of £68,000 was retained 

once any sums due to MHCLG had been paid. A net capital receipt was recognised in 2020/21 in relation 

to the sale of an HRA dwelling as part of an agreement to secure vacant possession of a development 

site.

A net underspend of £361,000 in this area of the programme comprises reduced activity in respect of 

shared ownership re-purchase in 2020/21, giving rise to a £103,000 underspend, and underspending due 

to the need to recognise the revised timeframe required to implement the new Housing Management 

Information System (£238,000), with the latter requiring re-phasing into 2021/22. The underspend against 

funding for works to HRA commercial premises (£21,000) results in a request to re-phase £20,000 of 

resource into future years.

Page 150



Variance Explanations - Decent Homes and Other Investment in HRA Stock Appendix D Notes (2)

(£6,889,000)

(£1,478,000)

(£1,108,000)

£255,000 

(£9,220,000)

Decent Homes expenditure

 Value Rephasing  to 

20/21

Rephasing to 

future years

Explanation

Overspending

External doors £86,000 Additional doors were ordered to partially offset forecast  underspends in other parts 

of the programme

Roof structure £144,000 The  extent of structural  roofing repair work at Books Road cost more than the 

allocated budget. This was offset by the  underspend on  roof coverings

Underspending

Bathrooms (£722,000) £279,000 £443,000 Delivery of internal Decent Homes work was severely affected by national lockdowns 

and work did not start until September 2020 . In addition there was a large amount of 

"no access" (119 properties) partly due to Covid 19. There-phasing  is split over this 

year and future years as we do not expect to gain access to all these properties this 

year.

Kitchens (£392,000) £392,000 Delivery of internal Decent Homes work was severely affected by national lockdowns 

and work did not start until September 2020 . In addition there was a large amount of 

"no access" (61 properties) partly due to Covid 19. 

Re-wiring (£147,000) £81,000 £66,000 Delivery of internal Decent Homes work was severely affected by national lockdowns 

and work did not start until September 2020 . In addition there was a large amount of 

"no access" (89 properties) partly due to Covid 19. The slippage is split over this year 

and future years as we do not expect to gain access to all these properties this year.

Energy and insulation works (£1,542,000) £1,542,000 The contract for external wall insulation and PV panels to 80 properties was approved 

by Committee in September 2020 and  started on site in February 2021.  Work is   

due to be completed in July  2021. in addition, of 600 loft insulation jobs issued only 

150 were completed due to surveying delays and access issues as a result of Covid 

19.  

Central heating (£506,000) £506,000 The  underspend is a result  of access issues  to 237 properties.  This partly a result 

of Covid 19

Sulphate attack (£102,000) £102,000 This work is undertaken when a property becomes void - no affected property became 

void in 2020/21 so the budget is requested to be moved to later in the capital 

programme. 

Balconies (Other health and safety) (£53,000) £53,000 This underspend relates to unfinished structural work and associated repairs at 

Sackville Close flats. This work is on site but was delayed starting  due to Covid 19 

Roof coverings (£199,000) £54,000 The underspend is off set by the overspend on roof structure works.

HHSRS (£196,000) £196,000 A large part of the HHRSR programme was completed. External staircase works at 

Shelly Row had to be postponed for access reasons due to Covid 19.  Internal works 

were not programmed to start until  September 2020 due to national lockdowns. There 

was also  large amount of "no access" for internal works  - this work is carried forward 

to 20/21. 

Capitalised officer fees (£26,000) The value of officer time that can be capitalised each year depends upon the nature of 

work that is carried out by each member of the team. Underspends in a range of 

budgets account for this underspend in fees.

Contractor overheads (£711,000) £484,000 £161,000 Underspending in specific decent homes elements results in a corresponding 

underspend in contractor overheads.

Wall Structure (£1,857,000) £1,050,000 £200,000 There was a large underspend on this programme of work. Around £600,000 of this is 

savings as a result of competitive tenders  for work being less that the estimate cost. 

In addition some properties were omitted from works programmes as a result of them 

being added to the Council's redevelopment programme. Works at Hawkins Road and 

Ekin Road had delayed starts due to  national lockdowns.

Windows (£182,000) £182,000 A large part of the window programme was successful completed but Covid 19 

caused delays to the design / surveying process early in the year.  Later in the year 

after work had resumed there were national shortages in materials. 

Other external works (masonry painting) (£73,000) £73,000 2021/21 was the first year of the new masonry painting cycle. The property cycle 

follows the external  repair  and paint programme. So it is possible  this programme 

may have overspends in some years and underspends in others for the first 7-year 

cycle.

Chimneys (£2,000) There was a small budget for this work  and no work was required in 20/21

Total (£6,480,000) £4,386,000 £1,478,000 

Other Investment in the Housing Stock

Value Rephasing  to 

20/21

Rephasing to 

future years

Explanation

Overspending

Garage improvements £14,000 The overspend is  result  of additional works been ordered to compete both blocks of 

garages at Welstead Road at the same time 

Communal area floor coverings £11,000 Additional works were ordered at 38-82 Maitland Avenue so that flooring could be 

done at the same time as other works in this block.

Underspending

Fire prevention works were underspent, with 

the need to carry this forward into 2020/21

(£629,000) £629,000 The fire safety / prevention works programme contained a number of different 

elements in 2020/21.  Some of these were delayed and this is why the request is 

made to carry the budget forward to 2021/22.

Emergency lighting at Maitland Avenue and Albemarle Way  - the survey / design of 

work was delayed by Covid 19 .  Works are now priced and will be on site in summer 

2021. 

Fire escape from maisonettes 4.5m above ground level.  Pilot installations  were  

halted by coronavirus. Work did not resume until September 2020. Works are now 

progressing on site. The money needs to be carried forward to complete the 

programme. 

A net underspend of £6,480,000 in decent homes expenditure during 20/21 is a combination of under and overspending against the specific decent homes elements. 

A net underspend of £2,739,000 in other capital expenditure was evident in 2020/21. 

The capital underspend in respect of decent homes and other investment in the housing stock for 2020/21 can be summarised as follows, with more in depth explanations provided in the 

tables below:

Slippage – works ordered to be delivered in 2021/22

Slippage – works ordered to be delivered in future years 

Savings (from disability adaptations, structural works, contractor overheads, officer fees, roof covering, 

Overspending in doors, roof structure, garages and floor coverings

Page 151



Value Rephasing  to 

20/21

Rephasing to 

future years

Explanation

Fire compartment improvements  in five houses that have been converted into flats. 

There have been delays caused by access and lease issues. The money needs to be 

carried forward to address this risk in  21/22.

Fire alarm installation at Kingsway flats  - this work is in the design/ pricing  stage so 

the budget needs to be carried  forward to 21/22

Electrical works to communal areas (£146,000) £146,000 Work was originally planned at Edgecombe flats. Detailed surveys and design 

suggested the work was not as urgent as first thought. Work was not ordered.  Work 

is now planned for Kingway flats and this project is in the design stage. 

Disability Adaptations (£420,000) £200,000 Internal Decent Homes work was affected by national lockdowns and work did not 

start until September 2020 . In addition there were  access  and shielding issues in 

this client group due to Covid 19.  This work is based on   Occupational Therapist 

referrals - these did not take place in the national lockdowns.

Lifts (£115,000) £115,000 Work on lifts at three sheltered housing schemes could not take place as a result  of 

Covid 19 and the emergency work-only policy  in our sheltered housing schemes. 

Work has now resumed and these will be completed in 21/22

Communal area uplift (£82,000) £82,000 Work has been ordered at Edgecombe flats but the work was not completed by end 

March. This is being carried out in 21/22.

Asbestos removal (£31,000) £31,000 This work to communal areas was postponed until 21/22 due to Covid 19.

Hard-surfacing works (£57,000) £57,000 Most of the hard-surfacing works budget was spent.  A number of smaller trip hazards 

were ordered with our contractor and these had to be individually  surveyed and 

priced before work could start. The work was all ordered but not completed by 

Communal doors (£329,000) £329,000 £107,000 or work was ordered in 20/21 but was not completed by 31/3/21.  The 

remainder of the programme has been issued to our contractor but has not been 

priced. The work is still required and re-phasing  is requested to 21/22.

Capitalised officer fees (£17,000) £0 The value of officer time that can be capitalised each year depends upon the nature of 

work that is carried out by each member of the team. In 2019/20 there was an 

increase in the level of officer time spent on revenue activity, resulting in an 

underspend against the capital allocation.

Estate investment programme (£783,000) £783,000 The slippage relates to a street lamp column replacement  contract. There were delay 

completing survey work due to Covid 19. In addition there have been delays 

completing the procurement of this work.  The work is expected to start in summer 

2021.  

Contractor overheads  - combines some 

slippage with the impact of underspending 

in other areas and £109,000 is requested to 

be re-phased.

(£156,000) £131,000 Underspending in specific investment elements results in a corresponding 

underspend in contractor overheads.

Total (£2,740,000) £2,503,000 £0 

Page 152



Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee-12 July 2021 

Supplemental recommendation to Agenda Item 10 

 

2020/21 General Fund Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry 

Forwards and Significant Variances 

Livestream/hybrid meetings - Council Chamber and 

Committee Rooms (£85,000 capital budget) 

Following the last year where the council’s decision making meetings 

were virtual and had been live-streamed, work is being brought forward 

to enable live-streaming to continue and for remote 

attendance/participation. 

The project will install screens and cameras in the Council Chamber and 

cameras in Committee Room 1.  Most of the equipment will be re-

deployable (the same applies to the microphones purchased in 2019). 

Subject to no requirement for listed building consent, work could be 

completed by the end of September, otherwise it will by the end of the 

calendar year. 

Rather than take an Urgent Decision out of cycle after the Council 

meeting, it was felt more appropriate to present the proposal to 

Members at Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee for 

recommendation to the Council.  Additionally, as the rooms are regularly 

used, there are limited time periods for the work to be undertaken hence 

the proposal coming for decision now.  The Head of Finance has been 

consulted and it will be funded by capital receipts/borrowing in line with 

current policy. 

Additional recommendation (c): 

The Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources is requested to 

recommend to Council the addition of £85,000 capital funding in 2021/22 

to undertaken works to the Council Chamber/Committee Rooms to 

stream meetings/enable hybrid meetings. 

 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	4a 2020/21 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant Variances – Housing Revenue Account (Executive Councillor for Strategy and External Partnerships)
	Housing (HRA) - Committee Outturn Report 2020-21 and Appendices
	Housing (HRA) - Committee Outturn Report 2020-21
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix D Notes
	Appendix D Notes (2)
	Appendix E


	4b Annual Treasury Management (Outturn) Report 2020/21 (Executive Councillor for Finance & Resources)
	Treasury Management Outturn Report

	4c 2020/21 General Fund Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant Variances (Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources)
	GF Outturn Report
	01 Committee Report 20-21 Overview FINAL
	02 Overview Committee Outturn Appendix A Final
	03 Appendix A CCECC
	04 Appendix A COM
	05 Appendix A HSG GF
	06 Appendix A P&T
	07 Appendix A PPOS
	08 Appendix A F & R
	09 Appendix A S &EP
	10 Appendix B CCECC
	11 Appendix B COM
	12 Appendix B HSG GF
	13 Appendix B PPOS
	14 Appendix B TCS
	15 Appendix B F & R
	16 Appendix B S&EP
	17 Appendix C Carry Forwards
	18 Appendix D Overview Committee Outturn
	19 Appendix D CCECC
	20 Appendix D COM
	21 Appendix D HSG GF
	22 Appendix D PPOS
	23 Appendix D TCS
	24 Appendix D F & R
	25 Housing (HRA) - Committee Outturn 2020-21 Appendix D Capital
	26 Housing (HRA) - Committee Outturn 2020-21 Appendix D Notes
	27 Housing (HRA) - Committee Outturn 2020-21 Appendix D Variance explanations

	Budget Amendment for SandR July 2021


